Placement Document

Subject to completion

Not for circulation and strictly confidential
Serial number: [o]

o

&
&

Y'Y

Indian Overseas Bank
INDIAN OVERSEAS BANK

Indian Overseas Bank (the “Bank”, “Indian Overseas Bank” or “Issuer”) was incorporated on November 20, 1936, under the Indian Companies Act, 1913. Our Bank was
constituted as ‘Indian Overseas Bank’ under the Banking Companies (Acquisition and Transfer of Undertakings) Act, 1970, as amended (“Banking Companies Act”) on [July 19,
1969]. For further details, please see the section entitled “General Information” beginning on page 280.

Head Office: 763, Anna Salai, Chennai — 600 002, Tamil Nadu, India
Telephone: +91 44 2851 8800 | Fax: +91 44 2852 3935 | Email: investor@iobnet.co.in/ investorcomp@iobnet.co.in
Website: www.iob.in

Our Bank is issuing up to 354,177,539 equity shares of face value X 10 each (the “Equity Shares”) at a price of X 40.57 per Equity Share, including a premium of X 30.57 per Equity
Share (the “Issue Price”), aggregating up to X 14,368.98 million (the “Issue”). For further details, see “Summary of the Issue” beginning on page 31.

THIS ISSUE IS IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER VI OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (ISSUE OF CAPITAL AND
DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2018, AS AMENDED (THE “SEBI ICDR REGULATIONS”), THE BANKING COMPANIES ACT, THE
BANKING REGULATION ACT, 1949, AS AMENDED (THE “BANKING REGULATION ACT”) THE INDIAN OVERSEAS BANK (SHARES AND MEETINGS)
REGULATIONS, 2003, AS AMENDED (THE “INDIAN OVERSEAS BANK REGULATIONS”) AND THE NATIONALISED BANKS (MANAGEMENT AND
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) SCHEME, 1970 (THE “NATIONALISED BANKS SCHEME”)

OUR BANK HAS PREPARED THIS PLACEMENT DOCUMENT SOLELY FOR PROVIDING INFORMATION IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROPOSED ISSUE.
THE ISSUE AND THE DISTRIBUTION OF THE PRELIMINARY PLACEMENT DOCUMENT AND THIS PLACEMENT DOCUMENT IS BEING MADE TO
ELIGIBLE QIBs (AS DEFINED HEREINAFTER) IN RELIANCE UPON CHAPTER VI OF THE SEBI ICDR REGULATIONS. THIS PLACEMENT DOCUMENT
IS PERSONAL TO EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR. THE ISSUE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER OR INVITATION OR SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER
TO THE PUBLIC OR TO ANY OTHER PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR OR CLASS OR CATEGORY OF INVESTORS WITHIN OR OUTSIDE INDIA OTHER THAN
ELIGIBLE QIBs. THIS PLACEMENT DOCUMENT SHALL BE CIRCULATED ONLY TO SUCH ELIGIBLE QIBs WHOSE NAMES ARE RECORDED BY OUR
BANK PRIOR TO MAKING AN INVITATION TO SUBSCRIBE TO THE EQUITY SHARES.

YOU MAY NOT AND ARE NOT AUTHORISED TO (1) DELIVER THIS PLACEMENT DOCUMENT TO ANY OTHER PERSON; OR (2) REPRODUCE THIS
PLACEMENT DOCUMENT IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER; OR (3) RELEASE ANY PUBLIC ADVERTISEMENTS OR UTILISE ANY MEDIA, MARKETING
OR DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS OR AGENTS TO INFORM THE PUBLIC AT LARGE ABOUT THE ISSUE. ANY DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF
THIS PLACEMENT DOCUMENT IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS INSTRUCTION MAY RESULT IN A
VIOLATION OF THE SEBI ICDR REGULATIONS OR OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS OF INDIA AND OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

INVESTMENT IN EQUITY SHARES INVOLVE A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK AND PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD NOT INVEST ANY AMOUNT IN THIS
ISSUE UNLESS THEY ARE PREPARED TO TAKE THE RISK OF LOSING ALL OR PART OF THEIR INVESTMENT. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS ARE
ADVISED TO CAREFULLY READ THE SECTION “RISK FACTORS” BEGINNING ON PAGE 38 BEFORE MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION RELATING
TO THIS ISSUE, EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR IS ADVISED CONDUCT ITS OWN DUE DILIGENCE ON US AND THE EQUITY SHARES AND ALSO TO
CONSULT ITS OWN ADVISORS ABOUT THE PARTICULAR CONSEQUENCES OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE EQUITY SHARES TO BE ISSUED PURSUANT
TO THIS ISSUE. IF YOU DO NOT UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS OF THE PRELIMINARY PLACEMENT DOCUMENT AND/OR THIS PLACEMENT
DOCUMENT, YOU SHOULD CONSULT AN AUTHORISED FINANCIAL ADVISOR AND/OR LEGAL ADVISOR.

The Equity Shares are listed on BSE Limited (“BSE”) and National Stock Exchange of India Limited (“NSE”, and together with BSE, the “Stock Exchanges”). The closing price
of the Equity Shares on BSE and NSE as on March 21, 2025 was % 43.53 and % 43.56 per Equity Share, respectively. Our Bank has received in-principle approvals pursuant to
Regulation 28(1)(a) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended (“SEBI Listing Regulations”),
for listing of the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue, from BSE and NSE each dated March 19, 2025. Our Bank shall make applications to the Stock Exchanges for
obtaining the final listing and trading approvals for the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to this Issue. The Stock Exchanges assume no responsibility for the correctness of any
statements made, opinions expressed, or reports contained herein. Admission of the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to this Issue for trading on the Stock Exchanges should not
be taken as an indication of the merits of the business of our Bank or of the Equity Shares.

A copy of the Preliminary Placement Document has been delivered to the Stock Exchanges and a copy of this Placement Document will also be delivered to the Stock Exchanges.
The Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document has not been reviewed by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”), the Reserve Bank of India
(“RBI”), the Stock Exchanges, in India, or any other regulatory or listing authority and is intended only for use by Eligible QIBs. The Preliminary Placement Document and this
Placement Document has not been and will not be filed as a prospectus with the Registrar of Companies (“RoC”) and will not be circulated or distributed to the public in India or
any other jurisdiction, and the Issue will not constitute a public offer in India or any other jurisdiction. The placement of Equity Shares proposed to be made pursuant to this Placement
Document is meant solely for Eligible QIBs on a private placement basis and is not an offer to the public or to any other class of investors.

Invitations for subscriptions, offers and sales of Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to this Issue shall only be made pursuant to the Preliminary Placement Document together with
the Application Form, this Placement Document and the Confirmation of Allocation Note (each as defined hereinafter). For further details, see “Issue Procedure” beginning on
page 224. The distribution of this Placement Document or the disclosure of its contents, without our Bank’s prior consent, to any person, other than Eligible QIBs and persons
retained by Eligible QIBs to advise them with respect to their purchase of Equity Shares, is unauthorised and prohibited. Each prospective investor, by accepting delivery of this
Placement Document, agrees to observe the foregoing restrictions and to make no copies of this Placement Document or any documents referred to in this Placement Document.

The Equity Shares offered in the Issue have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”), or the securities laws
of any state of the United States and may not be offered or sold in the United States, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and any applicable U.S. state securities laws. The Equity Shares offered in the Issue are being offered and sold only outside the United States
in “offshore transactions”, as defined in and in reliance on Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act (“Regulation S”) and in accordance with the applicable laws of the jurisdictions
where those offers and sales are made. For the selling restrictions in certain other jurisdictions, see “Selling Restrictions” beginning on page 239. See “Transfer Restrictions”
beginning on page 246 for information about transfer restrictions that apply to the Equity Shares sold in the Issue.

The information on the websites of our Bank or our Associate or our Joint Venture (as defined hereinafter), as applicable or any website directly or indirectly linked to such websites
or the websites of the Lead Managers or their affiliates does not constitute nor should form part of this Placement Document and Bidders should not rely on such information
contained in, or available through, any such websites for investment in this Issue.

This Placement Document is dated March 24, 2025
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NOTICE TO INVESTORS

Our Bank has furnished, and accepts full responsibility for, all of the information contained in this Placement
Document and confirms that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, this
Placement Document contains all information with respect to our Bank, its Associate and Joint Venture
(collectively, the “Group”) and the Equity Shares which is material in the context of this Issue. The statements
contained in this Placement Document relating to our Group and the Equity Shares are, in all material respects,
true, correct, accurate and not misleading, and the opinions and intentions expressed in this Placement Document
with regard to our Group and the Equity Shares are honestly held, have been reached after considering all relevant
circumstances and are based on reasonable assumptions and information presently available to our Bank. There
are no other facts in relation to our Group and the Equity Shares, the omission of which would, in the context of
this Issue, make any statement in this Placement Document misleading in any material respect. Further, our Bank
has made all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and
statements. The information contained in this Placement Document has been provided by our Bank and other
sources identified herein. Unless otherwise stated, all information in this Placement Document is provided as of
the date of this Placement Document and neither our Bank nor the Lead Managers have any obligation to update
such information to a later date.

IDBI Capital Markets & Securities Limited, Systematix Corporate Services Limited, Elara Capital (India) Private
Limited and Emkay Global Financial Services Limited (collectively, the “Lead Managers” or the “L.Ms”) have
not separately verified the information contained in the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement
Document (financial, legal or otherwise). Accordingly, neither the Lead Managers nor any of their respective
shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsels, representatives, agents, associates or affiliates make any
express or implied representation, warranty or undertaking, and no responsibility or liability is accepted by any of
the Lead Managers or any of their respective sharcholders, directors, officers, employees, counsels,
representatives, agents, associates or affiliates as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in
the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document or any other information supplied in
connection with this Issue or the distribution of the Equity Shares.

Each person receiving this Placement Document acknowledges that such person has not relied on the Lead
Managers, our Group or any of their respective shareholders, employees, counsel, officers, directors,
representatives, agents, associates or affiliates in connection with such person’s investigation of the accuracy of
such information or such person’s investment decision, and each such person must rely on its own examination
of our Group and the merits and risks involved in investing in the Equity Shares issued pursuant to this Issue.

This Placement Document is being furnished on a confidential basis solely for the purpose of enabling a
prospective investor to consider subscribing for the Equity Shares in this Issue. No person is authorised to give
any information or to make any representation not contained in the Preliminary Placement Document and this
Placement Document and any information or representation not so contained must not be relied upon as having
been authorised by or on behalf of our Bank or by or on behalf of the Lead Managers. The delivery of this
Placement Document at any time does not imply that the information contained in it is correct as of any time
subsequent to its date.

The Equity Shares offered in this Issue have not been approved, disapproved or recommended by the
securities authority or any other regulatory authority in any jurisdiction, including the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission, any other federal or state authorities in the United States, the
securities authorities of any non-United States jurisdiction or any other United States or non-United States
regulatory authority. No authority has passed on or endorsed the merits of this Issue or the accuracy or
adequacy of this Placement Document. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the
United States and may be a criminal offence in certain jurisdictions.

The information contained in the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document has been
provided by our Group and from other sources identified herein. Each prospective investor, by accepting delivery
of this Placement Document, agrees to observe the foregoing restrictions and not to further distribute or make any
copies of this Placement Document or any offering material in connection with the Issue. Any reproduction or
distribution of the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document, in whole or in part, and any
disclosure of its contents to any other person is prohibited.

The distribution of the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document and the issuance of Equity
Shares pursuant to the Issue may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. As such, this Placement Document



does not constitute, and may not be used for or in connection with, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any
jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make
such offer or solicitation. No action has been taken by the Bank and the Lead Managers which would permit an
issue of the Equity Shares offered in this Issue or the distribution of this Placement Document in any jurisdiction,
other than India, where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, the Equity Shares may not be offered or
sold, directly or indirectly, and neither the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document, nor
any other offering material in connection with the Issue may be distributed or published in or from any country or
jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable rules and regulations
of any such country or jurisdiction. For further details, see “Selling Restrictions” beginning on page 239. The
Equity Shares purchased in the Issue are transferable only in accordance with the restrictions described under the
sections “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” beginning on pages 239 and 246, respectively and
each purchaser of Equity Shares in the Issue will be deemed to have made the representations, warranties,
acknowledgements and agreements set forth in “Representations by Investors”, “Transfer Restrictions” and
“Selling Restrictions” beginning on pages 6, 246 and 239, respectively.

The distribution of this Placement Document or the disclosure of its contents without the prior consent of our
Bank to any person, other than Eligible QIBs specified by the Lead Managers or their representatives, and those
retained by such QIBs to advise them with respect to their purchase of the Equity Shares, is unauthorized and
prohibited.

The Equity Shares offered in the Issue have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities
Act, or the securities laws of any state of the United States and may not be offered or sold within the United
States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and any applicable U.S. state securities laws. Accordingly, the
Equity Shares offered in the Issue are being offered and sold only outside the United States in “offshore
transactions”, as defined in and in reliance on Regulation S and the applicable laws of the jurisdiction
where those offers and sales are made.

In making an investment decision, the prospective investors must rely on their own examination of our Group and
the Equity Shares and the terms of the Issue, including the merits and risks involved. The prospective investor
should not construe the contents of the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document as legal,
business, tax, accounting or investment advice. The prospective investors should consult their own counsel and
advisors as to the business, investment, legal, tax, accounting and related matters concerning the Issue. In addition,
neither our Bank nor the Lead Managers or any of their respective shareholders, employees, counsel, officers,
directors, representatives, agents, associates or affiliates are making any representation to any prospective
investor, purchaser, offeree or subscriber to the Equity Shares in relation to this Issue regarding the legality of an
investment in the Equity Shares by such prospective investor, purchaser, offeree or subscriber under applicable
legal, investment or similar laws or regulations. The prospective investors of the Equity Shares should conduct
their own due diligence on the Equity Shares and our Group.

Each Bidder of the Equity Shares is deemed to have acknowledged, represented and agreed that it is an Eligible
QIB and it is eligible to invest in India and in our Bank under Indian law, including under Chapter VI of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations, and that it is not prohibited by the SEBI or any other statutory, regulatory or judicial authority
in India or any other jurisdiction from buying, selling or dealing in securities, including the Equity Shares, or
otherwise accessing the capital markets in India.

This Placement Document contains summaries of certain terms of documents, which summaries are qualified in
their entirety by the terms and conditions of such documents. The Preliminary Placement Document and this
Placement Document does not purport to contain all the information that any Eligible QIB may require. Further,
the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document have been prepared for information purposes
only and upon the express understanding that it will be used for the purposes set forth herein.

Neither our Bank nor our Lead Managers undertake to update this Placement Document to reflect subsequent
events after the date of this Placement Document and thus it should not be relied upon with respect to such
subsequent events without first confirming the accuracy or completeness with our Bank. Neither the delivery of
the Preliminary Placement Document, this Placement Document nor any issue of Equity Shares made hereunder
shall, under any circumstances, constitute a representation or create any implication that there has been no change
in the affairs of our Group since the date hereof.



Our Bank and the Lead Managers are not liable for any amendment or modification or change to applicable laws
or regulations that occurs after the date of this Placement Document. Eligible QIBs are advised to make their
independent investigations and satisfy themselves that they are eligible to apply to purchase Equity Shares in the
Issue. Eligible QIBs are advised to ensure that any single application from them does not exceed the investment
limits or maximum number of Equity Shares that can be held by them under applicable law or regulation or as
specified in this Placement Document. Further, Eligible QIBs are required to satisfy themselves that their Bids
would not eventually result in triggering a tender offer under the SEBI Takeover Regulations (as defined
hereinafter) and the Eligible QIB shall be solely responsible for compliance with the provisions of the SEBI
Takeover Regulations, SEBI Insider Trading Regulations (as defined hereinafter) and other applicable laws, rules,
regulations, guidelines and circulars.

The information about us available on any website of the Stock Exchanges or on our Bank’s website, www.iob.in,
any website directly and indirectly linked to the website of our Bank or our Associate or our Joint Venture, as
applicable or on the respective website of the Lead Managers and their affiliates, other than this Placement
Document, does not constitute nor forms a part of this Placement Document. The prospective investors should not
rely on any such information contained in, or available through, any such websites, for their investment decision.

Our Bank agrees to comply with any undertakings given by it from time to time in connection with the Equity
Shares to the Stock Exchanges and without prejudice to the generality of foregoing, shall furnish to the Stock
Exchanges all such information as the rules of the Stock Exchanges may require in connection with the listing of
the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges.

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN CERTAIN OTHER JURISDICTIONS

This Placement Document is not an offer to sell securities and is not soliciting an offer to subscribe to or buy
securities in any jurisdiction where such offer, solicitation, sale or subscription is not permitted. For information
in relation to prospective investors in certain other jurisdictions, see “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer
Restrictions” beginning on pages 239 and 246, respectively.
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REPRESENTATIONS BY INVESTORS
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References herein to “you”, “your” is to the prospective investors to the Issue. By Bidding for and/or subscribing
to any Equity Shares in this Issue, you are deemed to have represented, warranted, acknowledged undertaken, and
agreed to the contents set forth in the sections titled “Nofice to Investors”, “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer
Restrictions” beginning on pages 2, 239 and 246, respectively, and to have represented, warranted, acknowledged
and agreed with our Bank and the Lead Managers, as follows:

a.

your decision to subscribe to the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue has not been made based
on any information relating to our Bank or Associates or Joint Venture that is not set forth in the
Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document;

you are a “Qualified Institutional Buyer” as defined in Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations
and not excluded pursuant to Regulation 179(2)(b) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, having a valid and
existing registration under the applicable laws and regulations of India and undertake to acquire, hold,
manage or dispose of any Equity Shares that are Allocated (as defined hereinafter) to you in accordance
with Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, and undertake to comply with the SEBI ICDR Regulations
and all other applicable laws, including in respect of reporting requirements in India, and to make necessary
filings, including with the RBI, if any, in connection with the Issue;

if you are not a resident of India, but a QIB, you are an Eligible FPI (and are not an individual, corporate
body or a family office) having a valid and existing registration with SEBI under the applicable laws in
India and not an FVCI or a multilateral or bilateral development financial institution and that you are not
an AIF or VCF whose sponsor and manager is not Indian owned and controlled in terms of the FEMA
Rules. You also confirm that you are eligible to invest in India under applicable laws, including those
issued by the RBI, and the FEMA Rules, and any notifications, circulars or clarifications issued thereunder,
and have not been prohibited by SEBI or any other regulatory or statutory authority or otherwise, from
buying, selling or dealing in securities or otherwise accessing capital markets in India;

if you are an Eligible FPI as defined in the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document,
you confirm that you will participate in the Issue only under and in conformity with Schedule I of FEMA
Rules and you confirm that you are not an FVCI or a multilateral or bilateral development financial
institution and that you are not an AIF or VCF whose sponsor and manager is not Indian owned and
controlled in terms of the FEMA Rules. Further, you acknowledge that Eligible FPIs may invest in such
number of Equity Shares such that the individual investment of the Eligible FPI or its investor group
(multiple entities registered as FPIs and directly or indirectly, having common ownership of more than
50% or common control) in our Bank does not exceed 10% of the post-Issue paid-up capital of our Bank
on a fully diluted basis, and further with effect from April 1, 2020, the aggregate limit for FPI investments
is the sectoral cap applicable to our Bank;

if you are Allotted Equity Shares pursuant to this Issue, you shall not, for a period of one year from the
date of Allotment, sell the Equity Shares so acquired except on the floor of the recognised Stock Exchanges
(additional restrictions apply if you are within the United States and certain other jurisdictions), and in
accordance with any other resale restrictions applicable for you. For further details,see “Selling
Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” beginning on pages 239 and 246, respectively;

you are aware that the Equity Shares issued pursuant to this Issue have not been and will not be filed
through a prospectus under the Companies Act, SEBI ICDR Regulations or under any other law in force
in India, and no Equity Shares will be offered in India or overseas to the public or any members of the
public in India or any other class of investors, other than Eligible QIBs. The Preliminary Placement
Document and this Placement Document has not been reviewed, verified or affirmed by RBI, SEBI, the
Stock Exchanges or any other regulatory or listing authority and will not be filed with the RoC, and is
intended only for use by Eligible QIBs. The Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement
Document has been filed with the Stock Exchanges for record purposes only and the Preliminary Placement
Document and this Placement Document is required to be displayed on the websites of our Bank and the
Stock Exchanges;

you are entitled to subscribe for and acquire the Equity Shares under the laws of all relevant jurisdiction(s)
which apply to you and that you have the necessary capacity and fully observed such laws and obtained all
such governmental and other consents in each case which may be required thereunder and complied with



all necessary formalities to enable you to participate in this Issue and to perform your obligations in relation
thereto (including, in the case of any person on whose behalf you are acting, all necessary consents and
authorisations to agree to the terms set out or referred to in the Preliminary Placement Document and this
Placement Document), and will honour such obligations;

you are aware of the additional requirements that are applicable, as set forth under “Selling Restrictions”
and “Transfer Restrictions” beginning on pages 239 and 246 respectively and you are permitted and have
necessary capacity to acquire/ subscribe to the Equity Shares under the laws of all relevant jurisdictions
which apply to you and that you have fully observed such laws and obtained all such governmental and
other consents in each case which may be required thereunder and complied with all necessary formalities
and have obtained all necessary consents and approvals to enable you to commit to participation in this
Issue and to perform your obligations in relation thereto (including, in the case of any person on whose
behalf you are acting, all necessary consents and authorisations to agree to the terms set out or referred to
in the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document), and will honour such obligations;

you are aware that neither our Bank nor the Lead Managers nor any of their respective shareholders,
directors, officers, employees, counsel, representatives, agents, associates or affiliates is making any
recommendation to you, advising you regarding the suitability of any transactions it may enter into in
connection with the Issue and that participation in the Issue is on the basis that you are not and will not, up
to the Allotment, be a client of any of the Lead Managers and that the Lead Managers or any of their
respective shareholders, employees, counsel, officers, directors, representatives, agents, associates or
affiliates have no duties or responsibilities to you for providing the protection afforded to their clients or
customers or for providing advice in relation to the Issue and are in no way acting in a fiduciary capacity
to you,

you confirm that, either: (i) you have not participated in or attended any investor meetings or presentations
by our Bank or its agents (“Bank’s Presentations”) with regard to our Bank, the Equity Shares or the
Issue; or (ii) if you have participated in or attended any Bank’s Presentations: (a) you understand and
acknowledge that the Lead Managers may not have knowledge of the statements that our Bank or its agents
may have made at such Bank’s Presentations and are therefore unable to determine whether the information
provided to you at such Bank’s Presentations may have included any material misstatements or omissions,
and, accordingly you acknowledge that the Lead Managers have advised you not to rely in any way on any
information that was provided to you at such Bank’s Presentations, and (b) confirm that, you have not been
provided any material information relating to our Bank, the Equity Shares or the Issue that was not publicly
available;

you are aware that if you are Allotted more than 5.00% of the Equity Shares in the Issue, our Bank shall
be required to disclose your name and the number of Equity Shares Allotted to you to the Stock Exchanges,
and the Stock Exchanges will make the same available on their website and you consent to such disclosures
being made by us;

you understand that the Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Issue shall be subject to the provisions of the
Banking Companies (Acquisition And Transfer of Undertakings) Act, 1970 read with the Banking
Regulation Act, 1949, the Nationalised Banks (Management And Miscellaneous Provisions) Scheme, 1970
and the Indian Overseas Bank (Shares and Meetings) Regulations, 2003 as amended in 2008 and will be
credited as fully paid and will rank pari passu in all respects with the existing Equity Shares including the
right to receive dividend and other distributions declared;

you are subscribing to the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue in accordance with applicable
laws and by participating in this Issue, you are not in violation of any applicable law including but not
limited to the SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015, the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Prohibition of Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices relating to Securities Market) Regulations,
2003, each as amended;

all statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Placement Document, including,
without limitation, those regarding our Bank’s financial position, business strategy, plans and objectives
of management for future operations (including development plans and objectives relating to our Bank’s
business), are forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause actual results to be materially different
from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking



statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding our Bank’s
present and future business strategies and environment in which our Bank will operate in the future. You
should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this
Placement Document. Our Bank assumes no responsibility to update any of the forward-looking statements
contained in this Placement Document;

you have been provided a serially numbered copy of the Preliminary Placement Document and this
Placement Document and have read the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document
in its entirety, including, in particular, “Risk Factors” beginning on page 38;

you are aware and understand that the Equity Shares are being offered only to Eligible QIBs and are not
being offered to the general public and the Allotment of the same shall be made by our Bank on a
discretionary basis, in consultation with the Lead Managers;

you have made, or been deemed to have made, as applicable, the representations, warranties,
acknowledgements and undertakings as set forth under “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions”
beginning on pages 239 and 246, respectively;

you understand that the Equity Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities
Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state of the United States and, accordingly, may not
be offered or sold within the United States, except in reliance on an exemption from the registration
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act;

if you are outside the United States, you are subscribing for the Equity Shares in an “offshore transaction”
as defined in and in reliace on Regulation S and the applicable laws of the jurisdiction where those offers
and sales are made;

you are not acquiring or subscribing for the Equity Shares as a result of any “directed selling efforts” (as
defined in Regulation S) and you understand and agree that offers and sales are being made in reliance on
an exemption to the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act.

you understand and agree that the Equity Shares are transferable only in accordance with the restrictions
described in “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” beginning on pages 239 and 246,
respectively, and you warrant that you will comply with such representations, warranties,
acknowledgments and undertakings;

that in making your investment decision, (i) you have relied on your own examination of our Bank and the
terms of the Issue, including the merits and risks involved; (ii) you have made and will continue to make
your own assessment of our Bank, the Equity Shares and the terms of the Issue based on such information
as is publicly available; (iii) you have consulted your own independent counsel and advisors (including tax
advisors) or otherwise have satisfied yourself concerning, without limitation, the effects of local laws and
taxation matters; (iv) you have relied solely on the information contained in the Preliminary Placement
Document and this Placement Document and no other disclosure or representation by our Bank or the Lead
Managers or any other party; (v) you have received all information that you believe is necessary or
appropriate in order to make an investment decision in respect of our Group and the Equity Shares and,;
(vi) relied upon your investigation and resources in deciding to invest in the Issue. You are seeking to
subscribe to / acquire the Equity Shares in this Issue for your own investment and not with a view to resale
or distribution;

you are a sophisticated investor and have such knowledge and experience in financial, business and
investment matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the investment in the Equity
Shares. You are experienced in investing in private placement transactions of securities of entities in a
similar nature of the business, similar stage of development, and in similar jurisdictions. You and any
accounts for which you are subscribing the Equity Shares (i) are each able to bear the economic risk of the
investment in the Equity Shares; (ii) will not look to our Bank and/or the Lead Managers or any of their
respective shareholders, employees, counsel, officers, directors, representatives, agents, associates or
affiliates for all or part of any such loss or losses that may be suffered including losses arising out of non-
performance by our Bank of any of its respective obligations or any breach of any representations and
warranties by our Bank, whether to you or otherwise; (iii) are able to sustain a complete loss on the
investment in the Equity Shares; (iv) have no need for liquidity with respect to the investment in the Equity
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Shares; (v) have no reason to anticipate any change in your or their circumstances, financial or otherwise,
which may cause or require any sale or distribution by you or them of all or any part of the Equity Shares;
and (vi) are seeking to subscribe to the Equity Shares in the Issue for your own investment and not with a
view to resell or distribute. You acknowledge that an investment in the Equity Shares involves a high
degree of risk and that the Equity Shares are, therefore, a speculative investment;

our Bank or the Lead Managers or any of their respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees,
counsel, representatives, agents, associates or affiliates have not provided you with any tax advice or
otherwise made any representations regarding the tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and
disposal of the Equity Shares (including but not limited to the Issue and the use of the proceeds from the
Equity Shares). You will obtain your own independent tax advice and will not rely on the Lead Managers
or any of their respective sharecholders, employees, counsel, officers, directors, representatives, agents,
associates or affiliates or our Bank when evaluating the tax consequences in relation to the Equity Shares
(including but not limited to the Issue and the use of the proceeds from the Equity Shares). You waive and
agree not to assert any claim against the Lead Managers or our Bank or any other respective shareholders,
directors, officers, employees, counsels, advisors, representatives, agents, associates or affiliates with
respect to the tax aspects of the Equity Shares or the Issue or as a result of any tax audits by tax authorities,
wherever situated;

you are aware that in terms of sub-section (1) of Section 12B of Banking Regulation Act, 1949 and the
Master Direction — Reserve Bank of India (Acquisition and Holding of Shares or Voting Rights in Banking
Companies) Directions, 2023 issued by the RBI on January 16, 2023 read together with the Guidelines on
Acquisition and Holding of Shares or Voting Rights in Banking Companies issued by the Reserve Bank of
India on January 16, 2023, no person (along with his relatives, associate enterprises or persons acting in
concert with) can acquire or hold 5% or more of the total paid-up share capital of our Bank, or be entitled
to exercise 5% or more of the total voting rights of our Bank, without prior approval of the RBI.
Accordingly, you hereby represent that your (direct or indirect) aggregate holding in the paid-up share
capital of our Bank, whether beneficial or otherwise:

. after subscription to the Equity Shares in the Issue by you, your relatives, your associate enterprises
or persons acting in concert with you, aggregated with any pre-Issue shareholding in the Bank of
you, your relatives, your associate enterprises or persons acting in concert; or

. after subscription to the Equity Shares in the Issue by you aggregated with any pre-Issue
shareholding in our Bank of you, your relatives, your associate enterprises or persons acting in
concert with you shall not amount to 5% or more of the total paid-up share capital of our Bank or
would not entitle you to exercise 5% or more of the total voting rights of our Bank, except with the
prior approval of the RBI;

you acknowledge that the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document does not confer
upon or provide you with any right of renunciation of the Equity Shares offered through the Issue in favour
of any person;

where you are acquiring the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to this Issue for one or more managed
accounts, you represent and warrant that you are authorised in writing, by each such managed account to
acquire the Equity Shares for each managed account; and to make (and you hereby make) the
representations, warranties, acknowledgements and agreements herein for and on behalf of each such
account, reading the reference to “you” to include such accounts;

you are not a ‘promoter’ of our Bank (as defined under the SEBI ICDR Regulations) and are not a person
related to the Promoter (as defined hereinafter), either directly or indirectly and your Application does not
directly or indirectly represent the promoter or promoter group (as defined under the SEBI ICDR
Regulations) of our Bank or a person related to the Promoter;

you have no rights under a shareholders agreement or voting agreement with the Promoter or promoter
group, no veto rights or right to appoint any nominee director on the Board of our Bank other than the
rights acquired if any in the capacity of a lender not holding any Equity Shares of our Bank shall not deem
you to be a Promoter or a person related to the Promoter;
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you have no right to withdraw or revise downwards your Application after the Bid/ Issue Closing Date (as
defined hereinafter);

you are eligible to apply and hold Equity Shares so Allotted and together with any Equity Shares of our
Bank held by you prior to the Issue. You further confirm that your holding upon the issue and allotment of
the Equity Shares shall not exceed the level permissible as per any regulation applicable to you including,
but not limited to, the Banking Regulation Act, 1949, Banking Companies (Acquisition and Transfer of
Undertakings) Act, 1970, and in the event of your holding of the Equity Shares reaches any applicable
limits as may be prescribed you will make the appropriate disclosures and obtain the necessary permissions
in this regard from the relevant authorities/RBI;

the Bid submitted by you would not eventually result in triggering an open offer under the SEBI Takeover
Regulations (as defined hereinafter), and you shall be solely responsible for compliance with all other
applicable provisions of the SEBI Takeover Regulations;

your aggregate holding together with other prospective Investors participating in the Issue that belong to
the same group or are under common control as you, pursuant to the Allotment under the Issue shall not
exceed 50% of the Issue Size. For the purposes of this representation:

. Eligible QIBs belonging to the “same group” shall mean entities where (a) any of them controls,
directly or indirectly, through its subsidiary or holding company, not less than 15% of the voting
rights in the other; or (b) any of them, directly or indirectly, by itself, or in combination with other
persons, exercise control over the others; or (c) there is a common director, excluding nominee and
independent directors, amongst a Eligible QIB, its subsidiary or holding company and any other
Eligible QIB; and

. ‘control’ shall have the same meaning as is assigned to it by clause 1 (e) of Regulation 2 of the
SEBI Takeover Regulations (as defined hereinafter).

you shall not undertake any trade in the Equity Shares credited to your beneficiary account until such time
that the final listing and trading approval for the Equity Shares is issued by the Stock Exchanges and if you
are Allotted Equity Shares pursuant to this Issue, you shall not, for a period of one year from the date of
Allotment, sell the Equity Shares so acquired except on the floor of the recognised Stock Exchanges;

you are aware and understand that the Lead Managers have entered into a Placement Agreement (as defined
hereinafter) with our Bank whereby the Lead Managers have, subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions set out therein agreed to manage the Issue and, undertaken to use its reasonable endeavours to
seek to procure subscription for the Equity Shares on the terms and conditions set forth therein;

you understand and confirm that neither are you an entity of a country which shares land border with India
nor is the beneficial owner of your investment situated in or a citizen of such country (in which case,
investment can only be through the Government approval route), and that your investment is in accordance
with press note no. 3 (2020 Series), dated April 17, 2020, issued by the DPIIT and Rule 6 of the FEMA
Rules;

that the contents of the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document are exclusively
the responsibility of our Bank and that neither the Lead Managers nor any person acting on their behalf
has or shall have any liability for any information, representation or statement contained in the Preliminary
Placement Document and this Placement Document or any information previously published by or on
behalf of our Bank and will not be liable for your decision to participate in the Issue based on any
information, representation or statement contained in the Preliminary Placement Document and this
Placement Document or otherwise. By participating in the Issue, you agree to the same and confirm that
you have neither received nor relied on any other information, representation, warranty or statement made
by or on behalf of the Lead Managers or our Bank or any of their respective shareholders, directors,
officers, employees, counsel, advisors, representatives, agents, associates or affiliates or any other person
and neither the Lead Managers nor our Bank or any of their respective shareholders, directors, officers,
employees, counsels, advisors, representatives, agents, associates or affiliates nor any other person will be
liable for your decision to participate in the Issue based on any other information, representation, warranty
or statement that you may have obtained or received;
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you understand that the only information you are entitled to rely on, and on which you have relied in
committing yourself to acquire the Equity Shares is contained in the Preliminary Placement Document and
this Placement Document, such information being all that you deem necessary to make an investment
decision in respect of the Equity Shares issued in pursuance of the Issue and that you have neither received
nor relied on any other information given or representations, warranties or statements made by or on behalf
of the Lead Managers or our Bank or any of their respective affiliates or any other person, and neither the
Lead Managers nor our Bank nor any other person will be liable for your decision to accept an invitation
to participate in the Issue based on any other information, representation, warranty or statement that you
may have obtained or received;

that each of the representations, warranties, acknowledgements and agreements set forth above shall
continue to be true and accurate at all times up to and including the Allotment, listing and trading of the
Equity Shares in the Issue;

you are a sophisticated investor who is seeking to purchase the Equity Shares for your own investment and
not with a view to distribution. In particular, you acknowledge that (i) an investment in the Equity Shares
involves a high degree of risk and that the Equity Shares are, therefore, a speculative investment, (ii) you
have sufficient knowledge, sophistication and experience in financial and business matters so as to be
capable of evaluating the merits and risk of the purchase of the Equity Shares, and (iii) you are experienced
in investing in private placement transactions of securities of companies in a similar stage of development
and in similar jurisdictions and have such knowledge and experience in financial, business and investments
matters that you are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of your investment in the Equity Shares;

you agree to indemnify and hold our Bank, its Directors, its senior managerial personnel and the Lead
Managers and their respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsel, affiliates, associates,
controlling persons and representatives harmless from any and all costs, claims, liabilities and expenses
(including legal fees and expenses) arising out of or in connection with any breach of the representations,
warranties, acknowledgments and agreements made by you in the Preliminary Placement Document and
this Placement Document. You agree that the indemnity set forth in this section shall survive the resale of
the Equity Shares Allotted under the Issue by or on behalf of the managed accounts;

that our Bank, the Lead Managers, their respective affiliates and others will rely on the truth and accuracy
of the foregoing representations, warranties, acknowledgements and undertakings which are given to the
Lead Managers on their own behalf and on behalf of our Bank and are irrevocable and it is agreed that if
any of such representations, warranties, acknowledgements, undertakings and agreements are no longer
accurate, you will promptly notify the Lead Managers;

that you understand that none of the Lead Managers nor its respective affiliates has any obligation to
purchase or acquire all or any part of the Equity Shares purchased by you in the Issue or to support any
losses directly or indirectly sustained or incurred by you for any reason whatsoever in connection with the
Issue, including non-performance by us of any of our respective obligations or any breach of any
representations or warranties by us, whether to you or otherwise;

that you are aware that (i) applications for in-principle approval, in terms of Regulation 28(1)(a) of the
SEBI Listing Regulations, for listing and admission of the Equity Shares and for trading on the Stock
Exchanges, were made and such approval has been received from the Stock Exchanges; and (ii) the
application for the final listing and trading approval will be made only after Allotment. There can be no
assurance that the final approvals for listing of the Equity Shares will be obtained in time or at all. Neither
our Bank nor the Lead Managers nor any of their respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees,
counsel, affiliates, associates, controlling persons and representatives shall be responsible for any delay or
non-receipt of such final approvals or any loss arising from such delay or non-receipt;

any dispute arising in connection with the Issue will be governed by and construed in accordance with the
laws of the Republic of India and the courts at Mumbai, Mahashtra, India shall have exclusive jurisdiction
to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Preliminary Placement Document
and this Placement Document;

You are aware and understand that you are allowed to place a Bid for Equity Shares. Please note that
submitting a Bid for Equity Shares should not be taken to be indicative of the number of Equity Shares that
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will be Allotted to a Successful Bidder. Allotment of Equity Shares will be undertaken by our Bank, in its
discretion, in consultation with the Lead Managers.
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OFFSHORE DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Subject to compliance with all applicable Indian laws, rules, regulations, guidelines and approvals in terms of
Regulation 21 of the SEBI FPI Regulations, an Eligible FPI may issue, subscribe to or otherwise deal in offshore
derivative instruments (as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations as any instrument, by whatever name called,
which is issued overseas by a FPI against securities held by it in India, as its underlying, and all such offshore
derivative instruments are referred to herein as “P-Notes”), for which they may receive compensation from the
purchasers of such instruments. In terms of Regulation 21 of SEBI FPI Regulations, P-Notes may be issued only
by such persons who are registered as Category I FPIs and they may be issued only to persons eligible for
registration as Category I FPIs subject to exceptions provided in the SEBI FPI Regulations and compliance with
‘know your client’ requirements, as specified by SEBI and subject to compliance with such other conditions as
may be specified by SEBI from time to time. An Eligible FPI shall also ensure that no transfer of any instrument
referred to above is made to any person unless such FPIs are registered as Category I FPIs, and such instrument
is being transferred only to person eligible for registration as Category I FPIs subject to requisite consents being
obtained in terms of Regulation 21 of SEBI FPI Regulations. P-Notes have not been and are not being offered or
sold pursuant to the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document. This Placement Document
does not contain any information concerning P-Notes or the issuer(s) of any P-Notes, without limitation, including
any information regarding any risk factors relating thereto.

Persons outside the United States purchasing Equity Shares in the Issue may only issue P-Notes in accordance
with the conditions set forth in “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” beginning on pages 239 and
246, respectively.

Subject to certain relaxations provided under Regulation 22(4) of the SEBI FPI Regulations, investment by a
single FPI including its investor group (multiple entities registered as FPIs and directly or indirectly, having
common ownership of more than 50% or common control) is not permitted to be 10% or above of our post-Issue
Equity Share capital on a fully diluted basis. As per the SEBI circular dated November 24, 2014, these investment
restrictions shall also apply to subscribers of offshore derivative instruments. Two or more subscribers of offshore
derivative instruments having a common beneficial owner shall be considered together as a single subscriber of
the offshore derivative instruments. In the event a prospective investor has investments as a FPI and as a subscriber
of offshore derivative instruments, these investment restrictions shall apply on the aggregate of the FPI and
offshore derivative instruments investments held in the underlying company. SEBI has, vide a circular dated
November 5, 2019, issued the operational guidelines for FPIs, designated depository participants and eligible
foreign investors (“FPI Operational Guidelines”), to facilitate implementation of the SEBI FPI Regulations. In
terms of such FPI Operational Guidelines, the above-mentioned restrictions shall also apply to subscribers of P-
Notes and two or more subscribers of P-Notes having common ownership, directly or indirectly, of more than
50% or common control shall be considered together as a single subscriber of the P-Notes. Further, in the event a
prospective investor has investments as an FPI and as a subscriber of P-Notes, these investment restrictions shall
apply on the aggregate of the FPI investments and P-Note positions held in the underlying company.

Further, in accordance with the Consolidated FDI Policy, read along with the Press Note No. 3 (2020 Series),
dated April 17, 2020, issued by the DPIIT, and the related amendments to the FEMA Rules, investments made by
an entity of a country, which shares land border with India, or investments where the beneficial owner of the
Equity Shares is situated in or is a citizen of a country which shares land border with India, can only be made
through the Government approval route, as prescribed in the Consolidated FDI Policy. Further, in the event of
transfer of ownership of any existing or future foreign direct investment in an entity in India, directly or indirectly,
resulting in the beneficial ownership falling within the aforesaid restriction/ purview, such subsequent change in
the beneficial ownership will also require approval of the Government of India. These investment restrictions shall
also apply to subscribers of P-Notes.

Affiliates of the Lead Manager which are Eligible FPIs may purchase, to the extent permissible under law, the
Equity Shares in the Issue, and may issue P-Notes in respect thereof. Any P-Notes that may be issued are not
securities of our Bank and do not constitute any obligation of, claims on or interests in our Bank. Our Bank has
not participated in any offer of any P-Notes, or in the establishment of the terms of any P-Notes, or in the
preparation of any disclosure related to any P-Notes. Any P-Notes that may be offered are issued by, and are the
sole obligations of, third parties that are unrelated to our Bank. Our Bank and the Lead Manager do not make any
recommendation as to any investment in P-Notes and do not accept any responsibility whatsoever in connection
with any P-Notes. Any P-Notes that may be issued are not securities of the Lead Manager and does not constitute
any obligations of or claims on the Lead Manager.
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Prospective investors interested in purchasing any P-Notes have the responsibility to obtain adequate
disclosures from the issuer(s) of such P-Notes and the terms and conditions of any such P-Notes from the
issuer(s) of such P-Notes. Neither SEBI nor any other regulatory authority has reviewed or approved any
P-Notes or any disclosure related thereto. Prospective investors are urged to consult their own financial,
legal, accounting and tax advisors regarding any contemplated investment in P-Notes, including whether
P-Notes are issued in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Please also see the “Selling
Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” beginning on the pages 239 and 246, respectively.
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DISCLAIMER CLAUSE OF THE STOCK EXCHANGES

As required, a copy of the Preliminary Placement Document and this Placement Document has been submitted to
the Stock Exchanges. The Stock Exchanges do not in any manner:

1. warrant, certify or endorse the correctness or completeness of any of the contents of the Preliminary
Placement Document and this Placement Document; or

2. warrant that the Equity Shares pursuant to this Issue will be listed or will continue to be listed on the
Stock Exchanges; or

3. take any responsibility for the financial or other soundness of our Bank, its Promoter, its management or
any scheme or business activity of our Bank;

It should not for any reason be deemed or construed to mean that the Preliminary Placement Document and this
Placement Document has been cleared or approved by the Stock Exchanges. Every person who desires to apply
for or otherwise acquire any Equity Shares may do so pursuant to an independent inquiry, investigation and
analysis and shall not have any claim against the Stock Exchanges whatsoever, by reason of any loss which may
be suffered by such person consequent to or in connection with such subscription/acquisition, whether by reason
of anything stated or omitted to be stated herein or for any other reason whatsoever.
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION
Certain Conventions

In this Placement Document, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise indicates or implies, references
to “you”, “your”, “offeree”, “purchaser”, “Bidder”, “subscriber”, “recipient”, “investors”, “prospective investors”
and “potential investor” are to the Eligible QIBs who are the prospective investors of the Equity Shares in the
Issue and references to the “Issuer”, “Bank” or “our Bank” are to the Indian Overseas Bank, on a standalone basis.

29 13

All references to the “we”, “us” or “our” are to the Indian Overseas Bank, its Associate and Joint Venture on a
consolidated basis, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise indicates or implies.

In this Placement Document,
(1) references to ‘X’, ‘INR’, ‘Rs.’, ‘Indian Rupees’ and ‘Rupees’ are to official currency of Republic of India;

(i1) references herein to “India” are to the Republic of India and its territories and possessions and all
references herein to the ‘Government’ or ‘Gol’ or the ‘Central Government’ or the ‘State Government’
are to the Government of India, central or state, as applicable;

(iii) references to ‘US$’, ‘$* ‘USD’ and ‘U.S. dollars’ are to the official currency of the United States of
America;

(iv) references herein to the ‘US’ or ‘U.S.’ or the ‘United States’ are to the United States of America and its
territories and possessions.

References to the singular also refer to the plural and one gender also refers to any other gender, wherever
applicable. Figures in this Placement Document have been presented in millions or in whole numbers where the
numbers have been too small to present in millions unless stated otherwise. Further, certain figures in the
“Industry Overview” section of this Placement Document have been presented in millions and billions.

In this Placement Document, references to “Lakh” or “Lacs” represents “100,000”, “million” represents “10 lakh”
or “1,000,000”, “crore” represents “10,000,000” or "10 million" or "100 lakhs”, and “billion” represents
“1,000,000,000” or "1,000 million" or "100 crore".

Unless otherwise specified, all financial numbers in parentheses represent negative figures.
Page numbers

Unless otherwise stated, all references to page numbers in this Placement Document are to page numbers of this
Placement Document.

Financial data and other information

The financial year of our Bank commences on April 1 of each calendar year and ends on March 31 of the following
calendar year, and, unless otherwise specified or if the context requires otherwise, all references to the terms
“Fiscal”, “Fiscals” or “Fiscal year”, “FY”, refer to the 12-month period ending March 31 of that particular year.

Our Bank has published its Financial Statements, in compliance with the SEBI Listing Regulations. As required
under the applicable regulations, and for the convenience of prospective investors, our Bank has included the
following in this Placement Document:

1) the statement of unaudited standalone limited review financial results of our Bank, as at and for the nine
months period ended December 31, 2024, which was prepared in accordance with the recognition and
measurement principles laid down in Accounting Standard 25 “Interim Financial Reporting” prescribed by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the relevant provisions of the Banking Regulation Act,
1949, the circulars, guidelines and directions issued by the RBI from time to time and other accounting
principles generally accepted in India (the “Unaudited Standalone Limited Review Financial Results™);

(il)  for the nine months period ended December 31, 2023 is derived from the comparatives presented in the
Unaudited Standalone Limited Review Financial Results;
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(iii)  the statement of unaudited consolidated limited review financial results of our Group, as at and for the nine
months period ended December 31, 2024, which was prepared in accordance with the recognition and
measurement principles laid down in Accounting Standard 25 “Interim Financial Reporting” prescribed by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the relevant provisions of the Banking Regulation Act,
1949, the circulars, guidelines and directions issued by the RBI from time to time and other accounting
principles generally accepted in India (the “Unaudited Consolidated Limited Review Financial
Results™);

(iv)  for the nine months period ended December 31, 2023 is derived from the comparatives presented in the
Unaudited Consolidated Limited Review Financial Results;

(v)  audited standalone financial statements of our Bank as at and for Fiscal 2024, Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022,
prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP and the provisions of Banking Regulation Act, 1949 read with
relevant guidelines and directions issued by the RBI (collectively, the “Audited Standalone Financial
Statements”).

(vi) audited consolidated financial statements of our Group as at and for Fiscal 2024, Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal
2022, prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP and the provisions of Banking Regulation Act, 1949 read
with relevant guidelines and directions issued by the RBI (collectively, the “Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements”).

For further details see, “Qur Statutory Central Auditors” beginning on page 270.

The Financial Statements should be read along with the respective reports issued thereon. For further information,
see “Financial Statements” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” beginning on page 281 and 80, respectively.

The Audited Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP as applicable to banks,
guidelines issued by the RBI from time to time, practices generally prevailing in the banking industry in India and
the applicable standards on auditing. Our Bank prepares its financial statements in Rupees in accordance with
Indian GAAP which differ in certain important aspects from U.S. GAAP and other accounting principles and
standards on auditing with which prospective investors may be familiar in other countries. We have not attempted
to quantify the impact of U.S. GAAP on the financial data included in this Placement Document, nor do we
provide a reconciliation of our financial statements to those of U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, the degree to which the
financial statements prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP included in this Placement Document will provide
meaningful information is entirely dependent on the reader’s level of familiarity with the respective accounting
practices. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Indian accounting practices on the financial disclosures
presented in this Placement Document should accordingly be limited.

In addition, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (the “MCA”), in its press release dated January 18, 2016, issued a
roadmap for implementation of Ind-AS converged with IFRS for scheduled commercial banks, insurers, insurance
companies and non-banking financial companies, which was subsequently confirmed by the RBI through its
circular dated February 11, 2016. These regulations required our Bank to prepare Ind-AS based financial
statements for accounting period commencing April 1, 2018 with comparative financial statements for the
accounting period ending March 31, 2018. On June 23, 2016, RBI directed all scheduled commercial banks
(excluding regional rural banks) to submit proforma Ind-AS financial statements, for the half year ended
September 30, 2016 to Reserve Bank of India, Mumbai. RBI vide notification dated March 22, 2019, decided to
defer the implementation of IndAS on scheduled commercial banks (excluding regional rural banks) till further
notice. The nature and extent of the possible impact of Ind-AS on our financial reporting and accounting practices
is currently uncertain, and there can be no assurance that such impact will not be significant. Our Bank cannot
assure you that it has completed a comprehensive analysis of the effect of Ind AS on future financial information
or that the application of Ind AS will not result in a materially adverse effect on our Bank’s future financial
information. For further information on the transition to Ind AS, see “Risk Factors — Risks in relation to doing
business in India — Significant differences exist between Indian GAAP, Ind AS and other accounting principles,
such as U.S. GAAP and IFRS, which may be material to the financial statements prepared and presented in
accordance with Ind AS contained in this Placement Document” on page 69.
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Further, RBI advised banks to submit Proforma Ind AS Financial Statements (PIFS) on half yearly basis w.e.f.
September 30, 2021 (earlier on quarterly basis starting from quarter ended June 30, 2018) as per the format /
template provided in the mail.

All figures appearing in this Placement Document have been rounded off to two decimal places. Accordingly, the
figure shown as totals herein may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which precede them.

Non-GAAP financial measures

The Bank uses a variety of financial and operational performance indicators to measure and analyse its operational
performance from period to period, and to manage its business. The Bank’s management also uses other
information that may not be entirely financial in nature, including statistical and other comparative information
commonly used within the Indian banking industry to evaluate our financial and operating performance. Some
non-GAAP measures (“Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) are presented in this Placement Document. These
Non-GAAP Financial Measures are defined along with a brief explanation in the sections, see “Definitions and
Abbreviations”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and “Select Statistical Information” beginning on pages 23, 80 and 107, respectively.

These Non-GAAP Financial Measures are not defined under Indian GAAP and have limitations as analytical
tools. As a result, they should not be considered in isolation from, or as substitutes for, an analysis of the Bank’s
historical financial performance, as reported and presented in its financial statements in accordance with Indian
GAAP. These Non-GAAP Financial Measures are supplemental measure of our performance and liquidity that is
not required by, or presented in accordance with, Indian GAAP or U.S. GAAP. Further, these Non-GAAP
Financial Measures are not a measurement of our financial performance or liquidity under Indian GAAP or U.S.
GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or construed as an alternative to cash flows, profit/ (loss) for the
years/ period or any other measure of financial performance or as an indicator of our operating performance,
liquidity, profitability or cash flows generated by operating, investing or financing activities derived in accordance
with Indian GAAP or U.S. GAAP. In addition, these Non-GAAP Financial Measures are not standardized terms,
hence a direct comparison of these Non-GAAP Financial Measures between companies may not be possible.
Other banks may calculate these Non-GAAP Financial Measures differently from us, limiting their usefulness as
a comparative measure. The presentation of these Non-GAAP Financial Measures is not intended to be considered
in isolation or as a substitute for the financial statements included in this Placement Document. For a reconciliation
of the Bank’s non-GAAP financial measures to Indian GAAP, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” beginning on page 80.

Prospective investors should read this information in conjunction with the financial statements included in
“Financial Statements” beginning on page 281 and “Risk Factors — Risks in relation to doing business in India
— Certain non-GAAP measures and certain other statistical information relating to our operations and
financial performance have been included in this Placement Document. These non-GAAP measures are not
measures of operating performance or liquidity defined by Indian GAAP and may not be comparable.” on page
69.
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INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA

Information regarding market position, market size, growth rates, other industry data and certain industry forecasts
pertaining to the businesses of our Bank contained in this Placement Document consists of estimates, forecasts
based on data reports compiled by government bodies, data from other external sources and knowledge of the
markets in which our Bank competes. Unless stated otherwise, the statistical information included in this
Placement Document relating to the industry in which our Bank operates has been reproduced from various trade,
industry and government publications and websites.

Industry sources and publications generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from
sources generally believed to be reliable, but that their accuracy, completeness and underlying assumptions are
not guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured. Industry sources and publications are also prepared based
on information as of specific dates and may no longer be current or reflect current trends. Industry sources and
publications may also base their information on estimates, projections, forecasts and assumptions that may prove
to be incorrect. Accordingly, investors should not place undue reliance on or base their investment decision on
this information. In certain cases, there is no readily available external information (whether from trade
associations, government bodies or other organisations) to validate market-related analyses and estimates,
requiring us to rely on internally developed estimates.

All such data is subject to change and cannot be verified with certainty due to limits on the availability and
reliability of the raw data and other limitations and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey. Neither our
Bank nor any of the Book Running Lead Managers have independently verified this data and do not make any
representation regarding accuracy or completeness of such data. Our Bank takes responsibility for accurately
reproducing such information but accept no further responsibility in respect of such information, data, projections,
forecasts, conclusions or any other information contained in this section. In many cases, there is no readily
available external information (whether from trade or industry associations, government bodies or other
organizations) to validate market-related analysis and estimates, so our Bank has relied on internally developed
estimates. Similarly, while our Bank believes its internal estimates to be reasonable, such estimates have not been
verified by any independent sources and neither our Bank nor any of the Book Running Lead Managers can assure
potential investors as to their accuracy. Certain information contained herein pertaining to prior years is presented
in the form of estimates as they appear in the respective reports/source documents. The actual data for those years
may vary significantly and materially from the estimates so contained.

The extent to which the market and industry data used in this Placement Document is meaningful depends on the
reader’s familiarity with and understanding of the methodologies used in compiling such data.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Placement Document that are not statements of historical fact constitute
“forward-looking statements”. Prospective Investors can generally identify forward-looking statements by
terminology such as “aim”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “continue”, “could”, “estimate”, “intend”, “can”, “may”,
“objective”, “plan”, “potential”, “project”, “pursue”, “shall”, “should”, “will”, “would”, “will likely result”, “is
likely”, “are likely”, “expect”, “expected to”, “will continue”, “will pursue”, “will achieve”, or other words or
phrases of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe our strategies, objectives, plans or goals are also
forward-looking statements. However, these are not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking
statements. All statements regarding our expected financial conditions, results of operations and business plans
and prospects are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include statements as to our
business strategy, planned projects, revenue and profitability (including, without limitation, any financial or
operating projections or forecasts), new business and other matters discussed in this Placement Document that are
not historical facts.

ER T3 CEINT3 LERNNT3 EEINNT3

These forward-looking statements and any other projections contained in this Placement Document (whether
made by us or any third party) are predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions
and other factors that they may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different
from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements
or other projections. All forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about the
Bank that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the relevant forward-looking
statement.

The forward-looking statements appear in a number of places throughout this Placement Document and include
statements regarding the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of our Bank concerning, amongst other things,
the expected results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and dividend policy
of our Bank and the industry in which we operate.

Important factors that could cause our actual results, performances and achievements to be materially different
from any of the forward-looking statements include, among others:

e  Material weakness or failures of our internal control system may cause significant operational errors and
could prevent timely and accurate reporting of our Bank’s financial results, which may in turn materially and
adversely affect our profitability and reputation;

e If we are not able to control or reduce the level of non-performing assets in our portfolio or any increase in
our NPA portfolio, RBI mandated provisioning requirements could adversely affect our business, financial
conditions and results of operations;

e Our Bank’s business is vulnerable to interest rate risk, and volatility in interest rates could have an adverse
effect on our interest earned and, in turn, our results of operations and cash flows;

e  Weare exposed to various categories of borrowers, depositors and industry sectors, and a default by any large
borrower, premature withdrawal of deposits or a deterioration in the performance of any of these industry
sectors in which we have significant exposure would adversely affect our results of operations, the quality of
our portfolio and financial condition; and

e The level of restructured loans in our portfolio may increase and the failure of our restructured loans to
perform as expected could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Additional factors that could cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ include but are not
limited to, those discussed in “Risk Factors”, “Our Business”, “Industry Overview” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” beginning on pages 38, 176, 156
and 80, respectively.

By their nature, certain of the market risk disclosures are only estimates and could be materially different from
what occurs in the future. As a result, actual future gains, losses or impact on revenue or income could materially
differ from those that have been estimated, expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or other
projections. All forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the relevant forward-looking statement.
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The forward-looking statements contained in this Placement Document are based on the beliefs of the
management, as well as the assumptions made by and information currently available to the management.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable at this time,
we cannot assure investors that such expectations will prove to be correct. Given these uncertainties, investors are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

In any event, these statements speak only as of the date of this Placement Document or the respective dates
indicated in this Placement Document, and neither we, the Lead Managers nor any of their respective affiliates
undertake any obligation to update or revise any of them, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise. If any of these risks and uncertainties materialize, or if any of our underlying assumptions prove to be
incorrect, our actual results of operations or cash flows or financial condition could differ materially from that
described herein as anticipated, believed, estimated or expected. All subsequent forward-looking statements
attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by reference to these cautionary statements.
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ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

Our Bank is a nationalised bank under The Banking Companies (Acquisition and Transfer of undertakings) Act,
1970. All of our Bank’s Directors, key managerial personnel and members of senior management are residents of
India and a substantial portion of the assets of our Bank are located in India. As a result, it may not be possible
for investors outside India to effect service of process upon our Bank or such persons outside India, or to enforce
judgments obtained against such parties in courts outside of India.

Recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments are provided for under Section 13 and Section 44A of the Civil
Procedure Code on a statutory basis. Section 13 of the Civil Procedure Code provides that foreign judgments shall
be conclusive as to any matter thereby directly adjudicated upon between the same parties or between parties
under whom they or any of them claim litigating under the same title, except:

e where the judgment has not been pronounced by a court of competent jurisdiction;
e where the judgment has not been given on the merits of the case;

e where it appears on the face of the proceedings to be founded on an incorrect view of international law or a
refusal to recognize the law of India in cases in which such law is applicable;

e  where the proceedings in which the judgment was obtained are opposed to natural justice;
e where the judgment has been obtained by fraud; and
e where the judgment sustains a claim founded on a breach of any law in force in India.

Section 44 A of the Civil Procedure Code provides that a foreign judgment rendered by a superior court (within
the meaning of that section) in any jurisdiction outside India which the Government has by notification declared
to be a reciprocating territory, may be enforced in India by proceedings in execution as if the judgment had been
rendered by a district court in India. Under Section 14 of the Civil Procedure Code, a court in India will, upon the
production of any document purporting to be a certified copy of a foreign judgment, presume that the foreign
judgment was pronounced by a court of competent jurisdiction, unless the contrary appears on record, but such
presumption may be displaced by proving want of jurisdiction. However, Section 44A of the Civil Procedure
Code is applicable only to monetary decrees not being in the nature of any amounts payable in respect of taxes or
other charges of a like nature or in respect of a fine or other penalties and does not include arbitration awards.

Each of the United Kingdom, United Arab Emirates, Singapore and Hong Kong, amongst others has been declared
by the Government to be a reciprocating territory for the purposes of Section 44A of the Civil Procedure Code,
but the United States of America has not been so declared. A judgment of a court in a jurisdiction which is not a
reciprocating territory may be enforced only by a fresh suit upon the judgment and not by proceedings in
execution. The suit must be filed in India within three years from the date of the foreign judgment in the same
manner as any other suit filed to enforce a civil liability in India. Accordingly, a judgment of a court in the United
States may be enforced only by a fresh suit upon the foreign judgment and not by proceedings in execution.

It is unlikely that a court in India would award damages on the same basis as a foreign court if an action were
brought in India. Furthermore, it is unlikely that an Indian court will enforce foreign judgments if it views the
amount of damages awarded as excessive or inconsistent with public policy of India and it is uncertain whether
an Indian court would enforce foreign judgments that would contravene or violate Indian law. Further, any
judgment or award denominated in a foreign currency would be converted into Rupees on the date of such
judgment or award and not on the date of payment. A party seeking to enforce a foreign judgment in India is
required to obtain approval from the RBI to repatriate outside India any amount recovered, and any such amount
may be subject to income tax pursuant to execution of such a judgment in accordance with applicable laws.
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EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION

Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Rupee and foreign currencies will affect the foreign currency
equivalent of the Rupee price of the Equity Shares traded on the Stock Exchanges. These fluctuations will also
affect the conversion into foreign currencies of any cash dividends paid in Rupees on the Equity Shares.

The following table sets forth information, for the period indicated with respect to the exchange rates between the
Rupee and other foreign currencies, for the periods indicated. The exchange rates are based on the reference rates
released by the RBI and Financial Benchmark India Private Limited (“FBIL”), which are available on the website
of the RBI and FBIL. No representation is made that any Rupee amounts could have been, or could be, converted
into U.S. dollars at any particular rate, the rates stated below, or at all.

U.S. Dollars ($)

(X per US$)
Period end) Average® High® Low™

Fiscal ended:

March 31, 2024 83.37 82.79 83.40 81.65
March 31, 2023 82.22 80.38 83.20 75.39
March 31, 2022 75.81 74.53 76.92 72.48
Month ended

February 28, 2025 87.40 87.05 87.59 86.65
January 31, 2025 86.64 86.27 86.64 85.71
December 31, 2024 85.62 84.99 85.62 84.66
November 30, 2024 84.50 84.36 84.50 84.11
October 31, 2024 84.08 84.03 84.08 83.81
September 30, 2024 83.79 83.81 83.98 83.49
August 31, 2024 83.87 83.90 83.97 83.73

(Source: www.rbi.org.in and www.fbil.org.in)
) The price for the period end refers to the price as on the last trading day of the respective fiscal year or monthly periods.
) Average of the official rate for each Working Day of the relevant period.
() Maximum of the official rate for each Working Day of the relevant period.
@ Minimum of the official rate for each Working Day of the relevant period.
Note: If the RBI reference rate is not available on a particular date due to a public holiday, exchange rates of the previous working
day has been disclosed. The reference rates are rounded off to two decimal places.

The exchange rates set out above were not the exchange rates used in, and may have differed at all relevant times
from, the exchange rates used in the preparation of our financial information.
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DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Placement Document uses the definitions and abbreviations set forth below, which you should consider when
reading the information contained herein. The following list of certain capitalized terms used in this Placement
Document is intended for the convenience of the reader/ prospective investor only and is not exhaustive.

Unless otherwise specified, the capitalized terms used in this Placement Document shall have the meaning as
defined hereunder. Further, any references to any statute or regulations or policies shall include amendments
thereto, from time to time.

The words and expressions used in this Placement Document but not defined herein, shall have, to the extent
applicable, the meaning ascribed to such terms under the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the SCRA, the Depositories
Act, or the rules and regulations made thereunder.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, terms used in “Selected Financial Information of our Bank”, “Taxation”,
“Industry Overview”, “Legal Proceedings” and “Financial Statements” beginning on pages 36, 256, 156, 271

and 281, respectively, shall have the meaning given to such terms in such sections.

General Terms

Term Description
Our Bank/ the Bank/ the Issuer/ | Indian Overseas Bank, was incorporated on November 20, 1936, under the Indian
10B Companies Act, 1913. Our Bank was constituted as ‘Indian Overseas Bank’ under the

Banking Companies Act on July 19, 1969, and having its head office at 763, Anna Salai,
Chennai — 600 002, Tamil Nadu, India.

We/ us/ our Unless the context requires otherwise, the Bank and its Associate and Joint Venture
Bank Related Terms
Term Description
Associate The associate of our Bank, namely, Odisha Gramya Bank
Audited Consolidated Financial | The audited consolidated financial statements of our Group as at and for each of the
Statements financial years ended March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, prepared in

accordance with Indian GAAP and the provisions of Banking Regulation Act, 1949 read
with relevant guidelines and directions issued by the RBI, which comprises the
consolidated statement of assets and liabilities, each of the consolidated statement of
profit and loss, including other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
cash flows and the statement of changes in equity, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information

Audited Financial Statements Collectively, the Audited Standalone Financial Statements and the Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements

Audited Standalone Financial | The audited standalone financial statements of our Bank as at and for each of the financial
Statements years ended March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, prepared in
accordance with Indian GAAP and the provisions of Banking Regulation Act, 1949 read
with relevant guidelines and directions issued by the RBI, which comprises the
standalone statement of assets and liabilities, each of the standalone statement of profit
and loss, including other standalone income, the standalone statement of cash flows and
the statement of changes in equity, and notes to the standalone financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information
Board Committee for | The board committee for performance evaluation constituted by the Board of our Bank
Performance Evaluation and as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees of our
Board” on page 194

Board Level Committee for|The board level committee for compromise settlements constituted by the Board of our
Compromise Settlements Bank and as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees
of our Board” on page 194

Board Level Committee for|The board level committee for review of disciplinary cases and departmental enquiries
Review of Disciplinary Cases and | constituted by the Board of our Bank and as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior

Departmental Enquiries Management — Committees of our Board” on page 194
Board Level Committee to|The board level committee to monitor recovery in NPA constituted by the Board of our
Monitor Recovery in NPA Bank and as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees

of our Board” on page 194
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Term

Description

Board Level Steering Committee
on Human Resources

The board level steering committee on human resources constituted by the Board of our
Bank and as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees
of our Board” on page 194

Board/ Board of Directors

Board of directors of our Bank or duly constituted committee thereof

Chief Financial Officer/ CFO

Chief financial officer of our Bank, being, Madhaw Chandra Jha

Committee  of Board for

Consideration of Appeals

The committee of board for consideration of appeals constituted by the Board of our Bank
and as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees of our
Board” on page 194

Credit Approval Committee

The credit approval committee constituted by the Board of our Bank and as disclosed in
“Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees of our Board” on page 194

Customer Service Committee

The customer service committee constituted by the Board of our Bank and as disclosed
in “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees of our Board” on page
194

Directors

Directors on the Board of our Bank

Equity Shares

Equity shares of face value % 10 each of our Bank

Executive Directors

The executive directors of our Bank, namely, Joydeep Dutta Roy and Dhanaraj T

Financial Statements

Collectively, Unaudited Financial Results and Audited Financial Statements

Government Nominee Director

The Government nominee director of our Bank, namely, Neelam Agrawal

Head Office

763, Anna Salai, Chennai — 600 002, Tamil Nadu, India

Information Technology Strategy
Committee

The information technology strategy committee constituted by the Board of our Bank and
as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees of our
Board” on page 194

Joint Venture

The joint venture of our Bank namely India International Bank (Malaysia) Berhad Ltd.

Key Managerial Personnel

Key managerial personnel of our Bank as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior
Management — Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management” on page 198

Management Committee

The management committee constituted by the Board of our Bank and as disclosed in
“Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees of our Board” on page 194

Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer

The managing director and chief executive officer of our Bank, namely, Ajay Kumar
Srivastava

Part time Non—Official Director
and Non—Executive Chairman

The part time non—official director and non—executive chairman of our Bank, namely,
Srinivasan Sridhar

Promoter

The promoter of our Bank namely, the President of India, acting through the Ministry of
Finance, Government of India

RBI Nominee Director

The RBI nominee director of our Bank, namely, Sonali Sengupta

Review Committee on Wilful
Defaulters and Non-Co-Operative
Borrowers

The review committee on wilful defaulters and non-co-operative borrowers constituted
by the Board of our Bank and as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior
Management — Commiittees of our Board” on page 194

Senior Management

Members of the senior management of our Bank as determined in accordance with the
Regulation 2(1)(bbbb) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, and as disclosed in “Board of
Directors and Senior Management — Key Managerial Personnel and Senior
Management” on page 198

Shareholder Director

The shareholder director of our Bank, namely, Sanjaya Rastogi

Special Committee of the Board
for Monitoring and Follow up of
Cases of Fraud

The special committee of the board for monitoring and follow up of cases of fraud
constituted by the Board of our Bank and as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior
Management — Commiittees of our Board” on page 194

Stakeholder
Committee

Relationship

The stakeholder relationship committee constituted by the Board of our Bank and as
disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees of our Board”
on page 194

Statutory Central Auditors

The statutory central auditors of our Bank being, M/s. R. Devendra Kumar & Associates,
Chartered Accountants, M/s. Tej Raj & Pal, Chartered Accountants, M/s. Laxmi Tripti
& Associates, Chartered Accountants and M/s. Sanjeev Omprakash Garg & Co.,
Chartered Accountants

Unaudited
Financial Results

Consolidated

The statement of unaudited consolidated limited review financial results of our Group, as
at and for the nine months period ended December 31, 2024, which was prepared in
accordance with the recognition and measurement principles laid down in Accounting
Standard 25 “Interim Financial Reporting” prescribed by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India, the relevant provisions of the Banking Regulation Act, 1949, the
circulars, guidelines and directions issued by the RBI from time to time and other
accounting principles generally accepted in India

Unaudited Financial Results

Collectively, Unaudited Standalone Financial Results and Unaudited Consolidated
Financial Results

Unaudited Standalone Financial
Results

The statement of unaudited standalone limited review financial results of our Bank, as at
and for the nine months period ended December 31, 2024, which was prepared in

accordance with the recognition and measurement principles laid down in Accounting
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Term

Description

Standard 25 “Interim Financial Reporting” prescribed by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India, the relevant provisions of the Banking Regulation Act, 1949, the
circulars, guidelines and directions issued by the RBI from time to time and other
accounting principles generally accepted in India

Issue Related Terms

Term

Description

Allocated/ Allocation

The allocation of Equity Shares, by our Bank in consultation with the Lead Managers,
following the determination of the Issue Price to successful Bidders on the basis of the
Application Form submitted by them, and in compliance with Chapter VI of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations and other applicable laws

Allotted/ Allotment/ Allot

Unless the context otherwise requires, Issue and allotment of Equity Shares to successful
Bidders pursuant to this Issue

Allottee

Bidders to whom the Equity Shares are Allotted pursuant to the Issue

Application Form

The form (including any revisions thereof) which was submitted by an Eligible QIB for
registering a Bid in the Issue during the Bid/ Issue Period

Bid(s) An indication of interest of a Bidder to subscribe for the Equity Shares in the Issue as
provided in the Application Form (including all revisions and modifications thereto). The
term “Bidding” shall be construed accordingly.

Bid Amount With respect to each Bidder, the amount determined by multiplying the price per Equity
Share indicated in the Bid by the number of Equity Shares Bid for by such Bidder

Bid/ Issue Closing Date March 24, 2025, the date after which our Bank (or Lead Managers on behalf of our Bank)
shall cease acceptance of Application Forms and the Bid Amount.

Bid/ Issue Opening Date March 19, 2025, the date on which our Bank (or the Lead Managers on behalf of our
Bank) commenced acceptance of the Application Forms and the Bid Amount

Bid/ Issue Period Period between the Bid/ Issue Opening Date and the Bid/ Issue Closing Date, inclusive
of both days, during which prospective Bidders could have submitted their Bids including
any revision and/or modification thereof along with the Bid Amount.

Bidder Any prospective investor, being an Eligible QIB, who made a Bid pursuant to the terms
of the Preliminary Placement Document and the Application Form

Lead Managers/ LMs The Lead Managers to the Issue, in this case being IDBI Capital Markets & Securities

Limited, Systematix Corporate Services Limited, Elara Capital (India) Private Limited
and Emkay Global Financial Services Limited.

CAN/ Confirmation of Allocation
Notice

Note or advice or intimation to Successful Bidders confirming Allocation of Equity
Shares to such Successful Bidders after determination of the Issue Price and requesting
payment for the entire applicable Issue Price for all Equity Shares Allocated to such
Successful Bidders.

Closing Date The date on which Allotment of the Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue shall be expected
to be made, i.e., on or about March 24, 2025.

Designated Date The date of credit of Equity Shares to the Allottees’ demat account, pursuant to the Issue,
as applicable to the relevant Allottees

Eligible FPIs FPIs that are eligible to participate in this Issue in terms of applicable law, other than
individuals, corporate bodies and family offices

Eligible QIB(s) A qualified institutional buyer, as defined in Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI Regulations

which (i) is not restricted from participating in the Issue under the applicable laws, and
(i1) is a resident of India or is an Eligible FPI participating through Schedule II of the
FEMA Rules

Escrow Account

Special non-interest bearing, no-lien, current bank account without any cheques or
overdraft facilities, to be opened in the name and style “IOB ESCROW ACCOUNT
2025” with the Escrow Bank, subject to the terms of the Escrow Agreement into which
the Application Amount payable by the Bidders in connection with the subscription to
the Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue has been deposited

Escrow Agreement

The escrow agreement dated March 19, 2025 entered amongst our Bank, the Escrow
Bank and the Lead Managers.

Escrow Bank

Indian Overseas Bank

Floor Price

The floor price of ¥ 42.70 per Equity Share which has been calculated in accordance with
Regulation 176 of Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Our Bank had offered a discount of 5% on the Floor Price in terms of Regulation 176 of
the SEBI ICDR Regulations and in accordance with the approval of the shareholders of
our Bank accorded through their resolution passed on July 2, 2024
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Term

Description

Issue

Issue of up to 354,177,539 Equity Shares of face value X 10 each at a price of X 40.57 per
Equity Share, including a premium of X 30.57 per Equity Share, pursuant to this
Placement Document aggregating up to % 14,368.98 million.

Issue Price

240.57 per Equity Share

Issue Proceeds

The gross proceeds of the Issue. For details, see “Use of Proceeds” beginning on page
77.

Mutual Fund A mutual fund registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996.
Mutual Fund Portion 10% of the Equity Shares proposed to be Allotted in the Issue, which is available for

Allocation to Mutual Funds

Placement Agreement

The placement agreement dated March 19, 2025 entered into amongst our Bank and the
Lead Managers

Placement Document

This placement document dated March 24, 2025 issued by our Bank in accordance with
Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Preliminary Placement Document

The preliminary placement document dated March 19, 2025 issued by our Bank in
accordance with Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, pursuant to which a QIB
shall submit a Bid in the Issue

Qualified Institutional Buyers or
QIBs

Qualified institutional buyers, as defined under Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations

QIP

Qualified institutions placement under chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Refund Amount

The aggregate amount to be returned to the Bidders, who have not been Allocated Equity
Shares for all or a part of the Bid Amount submitted by such Bidder pursuant to the Issue

Refund Intimation Letter

Letters from our Bank intimating the Bidders on the amount to be refunded, if any, either
in part or whole, to their respective bank accounts.

Relevant Date

March 19, 2025, being the date of the meeting in which a committee of Directors (duly
authorised by the Board), decides to open the Issue

Stock Exchanges

BSE and NSE

Successful Bidders

The Bidders who have Bid at or above the Issue Price, duly paid the Bid Amount (along
with the Application Form) and who will be Allocated Equity Shares in the Issue

Wilful Defaulter or Fraudulent
Borrower

An entity or person categorised as a wilful defaulter or fraudulent borrower by any bank
or financial institution or consortium thereof, in terms of Regulation 2(1)(111) of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations

Working Day

Any day other than second and fourth Saturday of the relevant month or a Sunday or a
public holiday or a day on which scheduled commercial banks are authorised or obligated
by law to remain closed in Mumbai, India

Conventional and General Terms/ Abbreviations

Term Description

AGM Annual general meeting

AIF(s) Alternative investment funds, as defined and registered with SEBI under the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012

App Mobile application

AS Accounting Standards issued by ICAI

AY Assessment year

Banking Companies Act Banking Companies (Acquisition and Transfer of Undertakings) Act, 1970

Banking Regulation Act The Banking Regulation Act, 1949

Banking Ombudsman | Banking Ombudsman Scheme, 2006

Scheme

Basel 111 A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems published by
the Bank for International Settlements. RBI issued guidelines on the implementation of Basel
III capital regulations in India on May 2, 2012, and revised as per notification issued by the
RBI on March 27, 2014

Billion 1,000 million

BSE BSE Limited

Calendar Year Year ending on December 31

CBI Central Bureau of Investigation

CCI Competition Commission of India

CDR Corporate debt restructuring

CDR System A joint forum of banks and financial institutions in India established in 2001 as an
institutional mechanism for corporate debt restructuring

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited

ClI Confederation of Indian Industry

CIN Corporate identity number
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Term Description
CMP Cash Management Product
Civil Code The Code of Civil Procedure, 1908
Cr.P.C. The Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973

Competition Act

The Competition Act, 2002

Consolidated FDI Policy

The Consolidated FDI Policy notified by the DPIIT under DPIIT File Number 5(2)/2020-
FDI Policy dated the October 15, 2020, effective from October 15, 2020

Depositories Act

The Depositories Act, 1996

Depository A depository registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Depositories and Participant) Regulations, 1996

Depository Participant A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act

DIIPT Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade (Formerly known as Department
of Industrial Policy & Promotion)

ECB External commercial borrowing

EGM Extraordinary general meeting

Eligible FPIs FPIs that are eligible to participate in this Issue

FDI Foreign direct investment

FEMA The Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the regulations issued thereunder

FEMA Rules/ FEMA Non-
Debt Rules

The Foreign Exchange Management (Non-debt Instruments) Rules, 2019

Fiscal/ Fiscal Year/ Financial
Year/ FY

Period of 12 months ended 31 March of that particular year, unless otherwise stated

FPI Foreign portfolio investors as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations and includes a person
who has been registered under the SEBI FPI Regulations.

FVCI Foreign venture capital investors as defined and registered with SEBI under the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Venture Capital Investors) Regulations, 2000

GAAP Generally accepted accounting principles

GDP Gross domestic product

GIR General index registrar

Gol/ Government Government of India, unless otherwise specified

GST Goods and services tax; a reform to Indian tax laws relating to indirect taxes on goods and
services

HNIs High net worth individuals

HUF Hindu undivided family

IBA Indian Bank’s Association

IBC Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code 2016

ICA The Institute of Cost Accountants of India

ICAI The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards of the International Accounting Standards Board

IMF International Monetary Fund

IND AS Indian Accounting Standards converged with IFRS, which has been proposed for
implementation by the ICAI

India The Republic of India

Indian GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles of India as applicable to banks

Indian Overseas Bank | Indian Overseas Bank (Shares and Meetings) Regulations, 2003

Regulations

IT Information technology

IT Act The Income Tax Act, 1961

ITES Information technology enabled services

MCA The Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India

MoF Ministry of Finance

MoU Memorandum of understanding

MSEs Micro and small enterprises

Nationalised Bank Scheme | The Nationalised Banks (Management and Miscellaneous Provisions) Scheme, 1970

NEAT National Exchange for Automated Trading

NEFT National electronic fund transfer

NGOs Non-government organizations

NPCI National Payments Corporation of India

NRE Non-resident (external)

NRI Non-resident Indian

NRO Ordinary non-resident

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited

NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited

p.a. Per annum
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Term Description
PAN Permanent account number
PDAI Primary Dealers Association of India
PFRDA Pension Fund Regulatory and Development Authority
PMLA The Prevention of Money Laundering Act, 2002

Prudential Framework

The Reserve Bank of India (Prudential Framework for Resolution of Stressed Assets)
Directions 2019.

Prudential Norms

Master Circular of RBI on Prudential norms on Income Recognition, Asset Classification and
Provisioning pertaining to Advances dated April 02, 2024

PTC Pass through certificate

RBI Reserve Bank of India

RBI Act The Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934

Recovery of Debts Act The Recovery of Debts Due To Banks and Financial Institutions Act, 1993

Regulation S Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act

RFID Radio frequency identification

Rs./ Rupees/ INR/X Indian Rupees

SARFAESI Act The Securitisation and Reconstruction of Financial Assets and Enforcement of Security
Interest Act, 2002

SCBs Scheduled commercial banks

SCR (SECC) Rules The Securities Contracts (Regulation) (Stock Exchanges and Clearing Corporations)
Regulations, 2018

SCRA The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956

SCRR The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957

SEBI The Securities and Exchange Board of India

SEBI Act The Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992

SEBI FPI Regulations The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations, 2019

SEBI Insider Trading | The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations,

Regulations 2015

SEBI Listing Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015

SEBI ICDR Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2018

SEBI Takeover Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and
Takeover) Regulations, 2011

SEC United States Securities and Exchange Commission

SFIO Serious Fraud Investigation Office, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India
SIDBI Small Industries Development Bank of India

STT Securities transaction tax

U.S. GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States

U.S. Securities Act

United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended

USA/ U.S. / United States

The United States of America

USD/U.S.$/U.S. dollar

United States Dollar, the legal currency of the United States of America

VCF

Venture capital fund (as defined and registered with SEBI under the erstwhile Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Venture Capital Funds) Regulations, 1996) or the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012, as the case may
be

Industry Related Terms
Term Description
ATM Automated Teller Machine
BCBS Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
CAR Capital Adequacy Ratio
CASA Current Account Savings Account
CBDC Central Bank Digital Currency
CCB Capital Conservation Buffer
CDs Corporate Debtors
CETI Common Equity Tier 1
CIRP Corporate Insolvency Resolution Process
CPI Consumer Price Index
CRAR Capital to Risk Weighted Assets Ratio
CRR Cash Reserve Ratio
DLG Default Loss Guarantee
DPIT Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade
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Term Description
D-SIBs Domestic Systematically Important Banks
eX Digital Rupee
ECL Estimated Credit Loss
ECLGS Emergency Credit Line Guarantee Scheme
EMDE Emerging Market and Developing Economy
EOM Expenses of Management
EXIM Export-Import Bank of India
FBs Foreign Banks
FDI Foreign Direct Investment
FRRR Fixed Rate Reverse Repo
FSR Financial Stability Report
GDP Gross Domestic Product
GNPA Gross Non Performing Assets
Gol Government of India
GSL Government securities Lending
GVA Gross Value Added
HFCs Housing Finance Companies
HTM Held to Maturity
IBC Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code
ICRR Incremental Cash Reserve Ratio
IMF International Monetary Fund
IMPS Immediate Payment Service
IRDAI Insurance Regulatory Development Authority of India
IRRBB Interest Rate in Banking Book
LABs Local Area Banks
LAF Liquid Adjustment Facility
LCR Liquidity Cover Ratio
LSP Lending Service Providers
MFI Micro Finance Institutions
MPC Monetary Policy Committee
MPS Minimum Public Shareholding
MSF Marginal Standing Facility
MSME Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises
NABARD National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development
NaBFID National Bank for Financing Infrastructure and Development
NBFCs Non-Banking Financial Companies
NHB National Housing Bank
NDTL Net demand and Time Liabilities
NEFT National Electronic Funds Transfer
NII Net Interest Income
NIM Net Interest Income
NIM Net Interest Margins
NNPA Net Non Performing Assets
NPA Non Performing Assets
NSFR Net Stable Funding Ratio
00l Other Operating Income
PCR Provisioning Coverage Ratio
PPIRP Pre-Packaged Resolution Process
PSBs Public Sector Banks
PSL Priority Sector Lending
PVB Private Sector Banks
RBI Reserve Bank of India
RBIH Reserve Bank Innovation Hub
REs Regulated Entities
RIDF Rural Infrastructure Development Fund
RoA Return on Assets
RoE Return on Equity
RRB Regional Rural Banks
RTGS Real Time Gross Settlement
RWA Risk Weighted Assets
SBI State Bank of India
SCBs Scheduled Commercial Banks
SDF Standing Deposit facility
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Term Description

SFB Small Finance Banks

SFCs State Financial Corporations

SIDBI Small Industries Development Bank of India

SLR Statutory Liquid Ratio

SMA Special Mention Account

SPARC Supervisory Programme for Assessment of Risk

Tier I Capital Tier I capital instruments as defined under the guidelines on capital adequacy issued
by RBI

Tier II Capital Tier II capital instruments as defined under the guidelines on capital adequacy
issued by RBI

UCBs Urban Cooperative Banks

UPI United Payment Interface

VARX Vector Autoregression with Exogenous variables

WEO World Economic Outlook
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SUMMARY OF THE ISSUE

The following is a general summary of the terms of this Issue. This summary should be read in conjunction with,
and is qualified in its entirety by, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Placement Document,
including under “Risk Factors”, “Use of Proceeds”, “Issue Procedure”, “Description of the Equity Shares”
and “Placement” beginning on pages 38, 77, 224, 253 and 237 respectively. The information contained in
“Description of the Equity Shares” beginning on page 253 shall prevail in the event of any inconsistency with
the terms set out in this section.

Issuer Indian Overseas Bank
Issue Size Issue of up to 354,177,539 Equity Shares of face value X 10 each at a price of X 40.57
per Equity Share, including a premium of X 30.57 per Equity Share, aggregating up
to X 14,368.98 million.

A minimum of 10% of the Issue Size i.e. at least 35,417,753 Equity Shares shall
be available for Allocation to Mutual Funds only, and the balance of 318,759,786
Equity Shares shall be available for Allocation to all Eligible QIBs, including
Mutual Funds.

In case of under-subscription or no subscription in the portion available for Allocation
only to Mutual Funds, such portion or part thereof may be Allotted to other Eligible

QIBs
Face Value % 10 per Equity Share
Issue Price % 40.57 per Equity Share
Floor Price The Floor Price for the Issue calculated in terms of Regulation 176 under Chapter VI

of the SEBI ICDR Regulations is % 42.70 per Equity Share.

Our Bank had offered a discount of 5% on the Floor Price in terms of Regulation
176(1) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and in accordance with the approval of the
shareholders of our Bank accorded through their resolution passed on July 2, 2024.
Date of Board resolution | April 22,2024

authorizing the Issue
Date of Shareholders resolution |July 2,2024
authorizing the Issue
Eligible Investors Eligible QIBs, to whom the Preliminary Placement Document and the Application
Form have been delivered and to whom this Placement Document will be delivered
and who are eligible to make a Bid and participate in the Issue. See “Issue
Procedure”, “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” beginning on pages
224,239, and 246, respectively.

The list of Eligible QIBs to whom the Preliminary Placement Document and
Application Form were delivered and this Placement Document will be delivered has
been determined by the Lead Managers, in consultation with our Bank, at their sole
discretion

Equity Shares subcribed, issued,|18,902,412,256 Equity Shares

paid-up and outstanding
immediately prior to the Issue
Equity Shares subscribed, issued, | 19,256,589,795 Equity Shares
paid-up and outstanding
immediately after the Issue

Dividend For more information, see “Description of the Equity Shares” and “Dividend Policy”
beginning on pages 253 and 79, respectively.

Indian Taxation For more information, see “Taxation” beginning on page 256.

Issue Procedure The Issue is being made only to Eligible QIBs in reliance upon Chapter VI of the
SEBI ICDR Regulations. For further details, sece “Issue Procedure” beginning on
page 224.

Listing and trading Our Bank has obtained in-principle approvals from the BSE and the NSE each dated

March 19, 2025, under Regulation 28(1)(a) of the SEBI Listing Regulations for listing
of the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue.

The trading of the Equity Shares would be in dematerialized form and only in the cash
segment of each of the Stock Exchanges.

Our Bank will make applications to each of the Stock Exchanges after Allotment and
credit of Equity Shares to the beneficiary account of the successful Bidders
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maintained with the Depository Participant to obtain final listing and trading approval
for the Equity Shares, to be issued pursuant to this Issue.

Transfer Restriction

The Equity Shares being Allotted pursuant to the Issue shall not be sold for a period
of one year from the date of Allotment, except on the floor of a stock exchange.

The Equity Shares are subject to certain selling and transfer restrictions. For details,
see “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” beginning on pages 239 and
246, respectively.

Closing Date

The date on which Allotment of the Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue shall be
expected to be made, i.e., on or about March 24, 2025.

Ranking

The Equity Shares being issued shall rank pari passu in all respects with the existing
Equity Shares including rights in respect of dividends. The shareholders will be
entitled to participate in dividends and other corporate benefits, if any, declared by
our Bank after the date of Allotment, in compliance with the Banking Companies Act,
the Listing Regulations and other applicable laws and regulations. Shareholders may
attend and vote in shareholders’ meetings in accordance with applicable laws. For
details, see “Description of the Equity Shares” beginning on page 253.

Lock-up

For further details, see “Placement” beginning on page 237 for a description of
restrictions on our Bank in relation to Equity Shares.

Use of Proceeds

The gross proceeds from the Issue aggregate to X 14,368.98 million. The Net Proceeds
ofthe Issue, after deduction of fees, commissions and expenses in relation to the Issue,
are expected to total approximately % 14,294.30 million. For further details, see “Use
of Proceeds” beginning on page 77.

Risk Factors

Prior to making an investment decision, Eligible Investors should consider carefully
the matters discussed under “Risk Factors” beginning on page 38.

Security Codes for the Equity Shares:

ISIN INE565A01014
BSE Code 532388
NSE Code 10B
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SUMMARY OF BUSINESS

Our Bank was founded on February 10, 1937 by Shri. M. Ct. M. Chidambaram Chettyar and has since served 88
years in the Indian banking system. Our Bank was one of the 13 major banks that was nationalized in 1969. As of
December 31, 2024, the President of India, acting through the Ministry of Finance, Government of India, owned
96.38% of our Bank and, accordingly, exercises control over our management and operations.

With over 88 years of operational experience, our Bank offers a wide range of banking products and services to
meet the needs of our customers, including both resident and non-resident Indians. We offer banking products in
the agricultural; corporate banking; retail banking; micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (“MSME”) and
overseas sectors spread across the metro, urban, sub-urban and rural geographies. In line with our vision “to
emerge as the preferred bank connecting generations with high standards of ethics and governance”, we are
committed to our mission of providing best banking solutions through digital and physical experience for customer
delight.

As on date of this Placement Document, our business operations are broadly categorised into four verticals: (i)
corporate/ wholesale banking; (ii) retail banking; (iii) treasury; and (iv) other banking operations. We offer a range
of products and services offered by the Bank under these vertices includes loans and advances, deposits, foreign
exchange products, retail lending and services, including:

o Corporate/ wholesale banking. We offer banking services such as project and corporate finance, working
capital, short term credit, forex loan products such as export import credit, LC, LG, buyers’ credit.

o Retail banking. We offer a wide range of consumer credit products, including personal loans, home loans,
vehicle loans, education loans, mortgage loans, and credit card services. Our deposit products include savings
accounts, time deposits and tailored deposit products for customers in various sectors, such as accounts for
high net worth individuals, non-resident Rupee accounts and tax-saving deposit products.

e  Treasury. Our Bank also handles treasury functions of State and Central Governments.

e  Other banking operations. Our other businesses include bancassurance (marketing of life and non-life
insurance products), international banking, sale of mutual fund products, agricultural lending and depository
services.

As on the date of this Placement Document, our Bank has operations both domestically and globally, with presence
in four countries, being, Singapore, Hong Kong, Thailand and Sri Lanka.

We deliver a wide range of banking products and services to our customers through a variety of channels,
including bank branches, asset servicing offices, ATMs, call centres, internet and mobile phones. As at December
31,2024, our Bank has an established network of 3,324 branches, 9,041 business correspondents and 3,503 ATMs,
with 58.12% catering to the rural and semi-urban areas. Our Bank’s branch network is further complemented by
its digital banking solutions that enable it to provide its customers with access to on-demand banking services.
We are focused on continuing investment in our digital innovations and have in place a clear strategy co-developed
with one of the recognised consultancy firms.

Our Bank also has sustained growth in low-cost CASA deposits within its deposit mix contributing toward 72.59%
of the domestic advances as on December 31, 2024. The table below sets forth certain details about our Bank’s
CASA, for the periods indicated:

As at and for the nine month period As at and for the Fiscal ended
ended
Dece;‘(‘)g:r ok De“’;‘(‘);’gr &l March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Particul % of % of % of % of % of
ars the the the the the
Amount total Amount total Amount total Amount total Amount total
R in domes ®in domes R in domes R in domes ®in domes
million) tic million) tic million) tic million) tic million) tic
deposi deposi deposi deposi deposi
ts ts ts ts ts
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CASA 132337 | 4337 | 1209,14 | 4349 | 125508 | 4390 | 1,141,12 | 43.74 | 1,138,76 | 43.44

5.34 5.12 2.90 8.04 6.70
Domesti | 1,298,009 | 42.54 | 1,184,65 | 43.75 | 1,23434 | 4425 | 1,120,92 | 44.07 | 1,120,07 | 43.60
c CASA 8.81 2.93 5.30 9.99 2.64

The table below sets forth summaries of certain of the Bank’s key operating and financial performance parameters,
as of and for the periods indicated below:

Asatand f(?r the nine month As at and for the Fiscal ended
Particulars Units period ended
December 31, | December 31, March 31, March 31, March 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Average % in million 3,321,569.24 2,947,847.84 2,995,055.86 2,813,599.31 2,618,402.68
interest-
earning
assets)
Net interest % in million 77,672.60 70,663.33 98,290.00 82,550.00 63,110.00
income
Average total % in million 3,692,106.10 3,252,042.71 3,298,040.00 3,104,006.40 2,905,269.40
assets!)
Average % 8.23 7.88 8.03 6.90 6.39
yield®
Average cost % 5.22 4.78 4.87 4.18 4.19
of funds®
Spread® % 2.10 2.17 2.98 2.66 2.17
Net interest % 3.13 3.20 3.28 2.93 241
margin®
Return on % 15.93 2345 16.24 15.55 17.89
average
equity®
Return on % 0.82 0.76 0.81 0.68 0.59
average
assets(®
Earning  per T in million 1.21 0.98 1.40 1.11 0.92
share
Book  wvalue T in million 10.66 8.93 9.56 7.75 7.04
per share
Tier 1 capital % 14.33 13.95 14.47 12.88 10.71
adequacy ratio
Tier 1II capital % 2.64 2.85 2.81 3.22 3.12
adequacy ratio
Total capital % 16.97 16.80 17.28 16.10 13.83
adequacy ratio
Net NPAs(?  in million 9,759.10 13,025.80 12,168.60 32,660.10 38,246.20
Net NPAs % 0.42 0.62 0.57 1.83 2.65
ratio®
Credit to % 77.88 77.74 76.61 72.45 59.43
deposit ratio®
Cost to income % 48.26 51.35 62.5 49.23 48.15
ratio!?
Staff cost to % 26.16 34.68 39.65 33.15 31.08
income ratio
Other cost to % 18.39 16.67 16.65 18.78 17.53
income ratio
Interest 1.20 1.20 1.21 1.21 1.19
coverage
ratio!V
Provisioning % 97.07 96.85 96.85 92.63 91.66
coverage ratio
(including
technical
write-off)(1?)
Credit cost % 0.37 1.55 1.34 1.70 -
CASA ratio'® % 43.37 43.49 43.90 43.74 40.73
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Slippage % 0.13 0.17 0.16 0.33 -
ratio!¥

Total business % in million 5,427,532.86 4,942,090.72 5,049,238.72 4,498,918.04 4,179,596.34
Gross total  in million 2,376,319.89 2,161,633.20 2,190,184.94 1,890,085.14 1,558,007.10
advances

Gross % in million 3,051,212.97 2,780,457.52 2,859,053.78 2,608,832.90 2,621,589.24
Deposits

Notes:

(1) Average balances are daily averages for deposits/ advances/investments and all others are based on monthly averages as
reported to the RBI.

(2)  Cost of funds is interest expense divided by total monthly average assets.

(3) Spread is net interest income divided by monthly average assets.

(4)  Net interest margin is the difference of interest earned and interest expended divided by the total average interest-earning assets,
where advances, investment and money at call and short notice are based on daily averages and others are based on monthly
averages.

(5) Return on average equity is the ratio of the net profit after tax to the quarterly average tangible net worth (capital plus reserves
excluding revaluation reserves, DTA and other deduction).

(6)  Return on average assets is the ratio of the net profit after tax to the monthly average assets.

(7) Net NPAs reflect the Bank’s gross NPAs less provisions for NPAs.

(8) Net NPAs ratio is the ratio of net NPAs divided by net advances.

(9)  Credit to deposit ratio is calculated as a ratio of total gross advances to total deposits.

(10) Cost to income ratio is calculated as a ratio of operating expenses divided by total operating income (total of net interest income
and non-interest income).

(11) Interest coverage ratio is calculated as net profit and depreciation on the Bank’s property, divided by interest expended.

(12) PCR (including technical write-off) comprises provisions plus technical write off as percentage to Gross NPA plus technical
write off-

(13) Ratio of domestic current account deposits and savings account deposits to domestic deposits (including inter-bank deposits).

(14) Slippages are fresh accretion to NPAs during a period. Slippage Ratio is fresh NPAs divided by Standard Advances at the

beginning of the period.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF OUR BANK

SUMMARY PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE NINE MONTH PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER

31,2024 AND DECEMBER 31, 2023

(% in million)
Particulars | December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
INCOME
Interest Earned 204,974.23 174,208.47
Other Income 39,639.68 31,788.88
TOTAL 244,613.91 205,997.35
EXPENDITURE
Interest Expended 127,301.66 103,545.14
Operating Expenses 56,611.32 54,425.58
Provisions and Contingencies (Net) 37,864.52 29,551.37
TOTAL 221,777.5 187,522.09
PROFIT /LOSS (-)
Net Profit / Loss (-) for the year 22,836.40 18,475.24
Profit /Loss (-) brought forward (144,692.91) (164,486.98)
Less: Set off against Share Premium
TOTAL (121,856.51) (146,011.74)
Basic and Diluted Earnings per share (%) | 1.21 0.98
SUMMARY BALANCE SHEET FOR FISCAL 2024, 2023 AND 2022
(% in million)
Particulars | March 31,2024 | March 31,2023 | March 31,2022
Capital and Liabilities
Capital 189,024.12 189,024.12 189,024.12
Reserves and Surplus 90,398.88 63,605.33 40,979.85
Minority Interest 0 0 0
Deposits 2,859,053.78 2,608,832.90 2,621,589.25
Borrowings 303,871.66 208,037.72 30,706.37
Other Liabilities and Provisions 77,987.74 67,8397.78 111,472.10
Total 3,520,336.18 3,137,339.85 2,993,771.69
Assets
Cash and Balances with Reserve Bank of India 169,045.63 171,480.94 167,059.94
Balances with Banks and Money at call and Short Notice 16,498.56 34,587.27 200,671.99
Investments 996,320.82 941,704.10 981,793.13
Advances 2,133,188.09 1,780,525.74 1,442,435.24
Fixed Assets 37,397.55 37,099.77 33,648.97
Other Assets 167,885.53 171,942.03 168,162.42
Total 3,520,336.18 3,137,339.85 2,993,771.69

SUMMARY PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR FISCAL 20204, 2023 AND 2022

(% in million)
Particulars | March 31,2024 | March 31,2023 | March 31, 2022

INCOME

Interest Earned 240,497.34 194,003.26 167,298.66
Other Income 56,562.62 41,087.48 49,030.20
TOTAL 297,059.96 235,090.74 216,328.86
EXPENDITURE

Interest Expended 142,203.20 111,454.44 104,187.28
Operating Expenses 87,219.07 64,214.63 54,512.44
Provisions and Contingencies (Net) 41,081.44 38,433.80 40,533.71
TOTAL 270,503.71 214,102.87 199,233.43
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PROFIT / LOSS (-)

Net Profit / Loss (-) for the year 26,556.24 20,987.86 17,095.47
Profit /Loss (-) brought forward (164,486.98) (179,992.87) (188,138.62)
Less: Set off against Share Premium

TOTAL (137,930.73) (159,005.01) (171,043.19)
APPROPRIATIONS

Transfer to Statutory Reserve 6,639.06 5,246.96 4,932.05
Transfer to Revenue and Other Reserves 0.00 0.00 0.00
Transfer to Capital Reserve 123.11 235.00 1,117.62
Transfer to Investment Fluctuation Reserve 0.00 0.00 2,900.00
Proposed Dividend (including Dividend Tax) 0.00 0.00 0.00
Balance carried over to Balance Sheet (144692.91) (164,486.98) (179,992.87)
TOTAL (137930.73) (159,005.01) (171,043.19)
Basic & Diluted Earnings per share (%) | 1.40 | 1.15 | 0.92

CASH FLOW STATEMENT OF THE BANK FOR THE FISCAL 2024, 2023 AND 2022
(R in million)
Particulars March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

Net Cash from Operating Activities (11,654.21) (155,952.75) 55,658.68
Net Cash used in Investing Activities (3,592.90) (5,594.84) (479.74)
Net Cash from Financing Activities (5,276.91) (116.11) 4,789.61
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year 206,068.21 367,731.92 307,763.37
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (20,524.03) (161,663.71) 59,968.55
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the Year 185,544.18 206,068.21 367,731.92
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RISK FACTORS

This Issue and an investment in the Equity Shares involve a certain degree of risk. You should carefully consider
all the risks and uncertainties described below as well as other information contained in this Placement Document
before making an investment in the Equity Shares. If any particular risk or some combination of the risks described
below actually occurs, our business, results of operation, financial condition and cash flows could be adversely
affected, the trading price of the Equity Shares could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment.
Unless specified in the risk factors below, we are not in a position to quantify the financial implications of any of
the risks mentioned below. We have described the risks and uncertainties that we currently believe to be material,
but the risks set out in this Placement Document may not be exhaustive or complete, and additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known to us, or which we currently deem to be immaterial, may arise or become
material in the future. This section should be read together with “Industry Overview”, “Our Business”,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Legal
Proceedings” beginning on pages 156, 176, 80 and 27 1, respectively, as well as the financial statements, including
the notes thereto, and other financial information included in “Financial Statements” beginning on page 281.

Some of the information in the following section, especially information with respect to our plans and strategies,
contain certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read the chapter
“Forward-Looking Statements” beginning on page 19.

Our fiscal year ends on March 31 of each year, and references to a particular fiscal are to the twelve months
ended March 31 of that year. Unless otherwise stated, or the context otherwise requires, the financial information
used in this section is derived from our Unaudited Financial Results and the Audited Financial Statements
included in this Placement Document in “Financial Statements’ beginning on page 281.The degree to which the
financial information prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP will provide meaningful information is entirely
dependent on the reader's level of familiarity with Indian GAAP. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Indian
accounting practices on the financial disclosures presented in this Placement Document should accordingly be
limited.

Unless otherwise indicated, industry and market data used in this section has been derived from industry
publications and other publicly available information, and includes extracts from publicly available documents
from various sources, including officially prepared materials from the Government of India (the “Gol”) and its
various ministries, the Reserve Bank of India and Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation, and has
not been prepared or independently verified by our Bank, the Lead Managers or any of their affiliates or advisers.

Unless otherwise stated, references to “the Bank” or “our Bank”, are to Indian Overseas Bank on a standalone
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basis and references to “we”, “us”, “our”, are to our Bank on a consolidated basis.
RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS

1.  Material weakness or failures of our internal control system may cause significant operational errors and
could prevent timely and accurate reporting of our Bank’s financial results, which may in turn materially
and adversely affect our profitability and reputation.

Our Bank’s internal controls over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements in a timely
manner due to inherent limitations, including human error, circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud.
We are susceptible to, and have experienced in the past, fraud or misconduct by employees or outsiders,
involving inter alia unauthorized transactions by employees. Our Bank has implemented measures designed
to address those internal control deficiencies and expects to continue implementing measures designed to
improve our internal control over financial reporting. While our Bank believes that these measures have been
effective in correcting these internal control deficiencies in the past, we cannot be certain that, at some point
in the future, material weaknesses will not be identified or our Bank’s internal controls will not fail to detect
a matter they are designed to prevent, and failure to remedy such material weaknesses could result in a
material misstatement in its financial statements and have a material, adverse effect on our Bank’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal measures commensurate with our

size and the complexity of our operations. Our internal or concurrent audit functions are equipped to
make an independent and objective evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls on
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an ongoing basis to ensure that business units adhere to our policies, compliance requirements and
internal circular guidelines.

We have, in the past, detected fraud involving certain accounts through connivance between borrowers and
our employees, which led to losses, downgrade of credit ratings and reputational harm. In nine months period
ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023 and in Fiscals 2024, 2023 and 2022, there were 1,878,
6,473, 8,049, 1,017 and 312 fraud cases reported by the Bank to RBI, respectively. Set forth below are the
number of frauds identified in the corresponding years, and their pecuniary implication:

Nine month Nine month
Particulars period ended | period ended | o 5054 Fiscal 2023 | Fiscal 2022
December December
31,2024 31,2023
Number of frauds detected 1,878 6,473 8,049 1,017 312
Aggregate pecuniary 219.65 160.15 150.93 13,321.44 14,623.30
implication (Z in million)

While we periodically test and update, as necessary, our internal control systems, we are exposed to
operational risks arising from the potential inadequacy or failure of internal processes or systems, and
our actions may not be sufficient to guarantee effective internal controls in all circumstances. Given our
high volume of transactions, it is possible that errors may repeat or compound before they are
discovered and rectified. Our management information systems and internal control procedures that are
designed to monitor our operations and overall compliance may not identify every instance of non-
compliance or every suspicious transaction. If internal control weaknesses are identified, our actions
may not be sufficient to fully correct such internal control weaknesses.

We face operational risks in our business and there may be losses due to deal errors, deficiencies in the
credit sanction process, settlement problems, errors in computation of net asset value, pricing errors,
inaccurate financial reporting, inaccurate information, fraud, cyber security breaches and failure of
systems and infrastructure.

Employee or executive misconduct could also involve the improper use or disclosure of confidential
information, which could result in regulatory sanctions and reputational or financial harm, including
harm to our brand. There is no guarantee that our existing fraud monitoring systems or improvements
will be able to monitor or detect all the frauds that may occur in the future. In addition, we carry out
certain processes manually, and even though there are proper checks and controls, this may still increase
the risk of human error, tampering or manipulation, which may result in losses that may be difficult to
detect. As a result, we may suffer material monetary losses.

If we are not able to control or reduce the level of non-performing assets in our portfolio or any increase
in our NPA portfolio, RBI mandated provisioning requirements could adversely affect our business,
financial conditions and results of operations.

Our NPAs are dependent on several factors, including macroeconomic conditions, increased competition,
adverse effect on the business and results of operations of our borrowers, a rise in unemployment, any
inflationary, disinflationary and/or deflationary pressure, liquidity crisis, , any inflationary, disinflationary
and/or deflationary pressure, liquidity crisis, a sharp and sustained rise in interest rate, slow industrial and
business growth, high levels of debt involved in financing of projects, and significant borrowings by
companies in India at relatively high interest rates, and any such significant increase in NPAs may have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Any of these factors could further
increase our Bank’s NPA levels and have a material, adverse effect on the quality of our Bank’s loan portfolio
and have a material, adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Set forth below are our gross and net NPAs as of the corresponding dates:

(R in million, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars As of December 31, As of March 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Gross NPAs 60,705.12 84,408.28 67,944.26 140,715.47 152,986.24
Provision on non performing 48,765.41 68,480.02 53,282.95 105,189.95 111,493.50
advances
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Particulars As of December 31, As of March 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022

Net NPAs 9,759.11 13,025.78 12,168.56 32,660.08 38,246.24
Gross advances 2,376,319.89 | 2,161,633.20 | 2,190,184.95 1,890,085.13 1,558,007.09
Gross advances  minus 2,325,252.01 2,089,935.48 2,134,094.10 1,781,714.44 1,442.953.11
provisions on non
performing advances
Gross NPAs as a percentage 2.55 3.90 3.10 7.44 9.82
of gross advances (%)
Gross  advances  minus 2.10 3.28 2.50 5.90 7.73
provision on non performing
advances as a percentage of
provision on non performing
advances (%)
Provision Coverage Ratio 80.33 81.13 78.42 74,75 72.88

Historically, we have experienced significant exposure to sectors such as agriculture, retail, MSME,
corporate, amongst others, and may continue to do so. Any financial difficulties experienced by any of these
sectors of the Indian economy or by our customers, could significantly increase our NPA levels. For further
information on our exposure to these sectors, see “Selected Statistical Information” beginning on page 107.

Additionally, if the systems and process established by our Bank to identify NPAs fail or are unable to
identify the NPAs correctly and in a timely manner, our financial position could be adversely affected. We
have, in the past, experienced certain deficiencies in our NPA identification and monitoring systems and
processes, and there can be no assurance that our systems and processes will always function appropriately
or correctly in order to identify NPAs in a timely manner or at all, or that similar deficiencies will not arise
in the future.

If the level of our Bank’s NPAs increases further, the overall quality of its loan portfolio deteriorates or it
experiences further ageing of the assets after being classified as non-performing, an increase in provisions
could be required. There can be no assurance that the percentage of NPAs that our Bank will be able to
recover will be similar to our Bank’s past experience of recoveries of NPAs. As a result, our Bank’s
provisioning costs could increase, our Bank’s Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin could be
negatively affected due to non-accrual of income on non-performing loans, our Bank’s credit ratings and
liquidity may be adversely affected, our Bank may become subject to enhanced regulatory oversight and
scrutiny, and our Bank’s reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Provisions for NPAs are created by a charge to our profit and loss account and are currently subject to
minimum provisioning requirements, linked to ageing of NPAs. In addition to the relevant regulatory
minimum provisioning, we also consider our internal estimate for loan losses and risks inherent in the credit
portfolio when deciding on the appropriate level of provisions. The determination of a suitable level of loan
losses and provisions involves a degree of subjectivity and requires that we make estimates of current credit
risks and future trends, all of which may be subject to material changes. Any incorrect estimation of risk
may result in our provisions not being adequate to cover any further increase in the amount of NPAs or any
further deterioration in our NPA portfolio. We cannot assure you that the NPAs reported by our Bank in the
future will be as assessed by any regulatory authority, and that our Bank will not be subject to increased
provisioning requirements. Any future increases in provisions mandated by the RBI or other regulatory
changes or increase in provisioning requirements as a result of divergences identified by the RBI, could
therefore lead to an adverse impact on our business, future financial performance and the trading price of the
Equity Shares. For further information, see “Key Regulations and Policies” beginning on page 206.

Our Bank’s business is vulnerable to interest rate risk, and volatility in interest rates could have an
adverse effect on our interest earned and, in turn, our results of operations and cash flows.

Our Bank’s results of operations are substantially dependent on the amount of our interest earned. The table

below sets forth the details of our Bank’s interest earned and as a percentage of total income, for the periods
provided:
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Nine month period ended Fiscal ended March 31,
December 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Particula | Amou o Amou s
s nt R oI nt R %! Am0}1 % of Am0}1 % of Am031 % of
5 total . total | nt R in nt R in nt R in
in . in . ore total e total e total
o incom e incom | million | . million | . million | .
millio millio income income income
i) e 2) e ) ) )
Interest 204,97 83.79 | 174,20 84.57 | 240,49 80.96 | 194,00 82.52 | 167,29 77.34
earned 4.23 8.47 7.34 3.26 8.66
Other 39,639 16.21 | 31,788 1543 | 56,562. 19.04 | 41,087. 17.48 | 49,030. 22.66
income .68 .89 62 48 19
Total 244,61 | 100.00 | 205,99 | 100.00 | 297,05 | 100.00 | 235,09 | 100.00 | 216,32 | 100.00
income 3.91 7.36 9.96 0.74 8.85

Interest rates are highly sensitive and volatility in interest rates could be a result of many factors, including
the RBI’s monetary policy, deregulation of the financial services sector in India, domestic and international
economic and political conditions, inflation and economic and fiscal policies in India and other factors.

In a rising interest rate environment, if the yield on our interest-earning assets does not increase
simultaneously with or to the same extent as our cost of funds and conversely, in a declining interest rate
environment, if our cost of funds does not decline simultaneously or to the same extent as the yield on our
interest earned would be adversely impacted. While any reduction in the interest rates we pay on our deposits
and borrowings may be passed on to customers for our loans, we are unable to pass on any increase in interest
rates at which we lend to our customers who have existing loans on fixed interest rates. Any inability of our
Bank to retain customers as a result of rising interest rates may adversely impact our Bank’s earnings in
future periods. Similarly, in the event of falling interest rates, our Bank may face more challenges in retaining
its customers if it is unable to offer competitive rates as compared with other banks in the market.
Competitive pressure may also require us to reduce the interest rates at which we lend to our customers
without a proportionate reduction in interest rates at which we raise funds. Our customers may also prepay
their loans to take advantage of a declining interest rate environment. An increase in the interest rates charged
by us on our advances could result in our borrowers, particularly those with variable interest rate loans,
prepaying their loans if they are able to switch to more competitively priced loans offered by other banks.
Moreover, any systemic decline in low-cost funding available to banks in the form of current and savings
account deposits would adversely impact our Bank’s interest earned.

We are exposed to various categories of borrowers, depositors and industry sectors, and a default by any
large borrower, premature withdrawal of deposits or a deterioration in the performance of any of these
industry sectors in which we have significant exposure would adversely affect our results of operations,
the quality of our portfolio and financial condition.

We conduct business with certain borrowers who have highly leveraged balance sheets and any default by
any of these borrowers would have a significant impact on our profitability. As of December 31, 2024, the
aggregate exposure of the Bank’s ten largest group borrowers (fund-based) amounted to X 130,564.41 million
representing 48.77% of the Bank’s total capital, which comprises ¥ 267,715.40 million Tier I and ¥ 41,702.00
million Tier II capital. The Bank’s exposure to the single largest group borrower (fund-based) on such date
was % 20,780.00 million representing 7.76% of the Bank’s capital. The Bank’s exposure (fund based) to its
ten largest individual borrowers as of December 31, 2024 was X 317,403.20 million.

If any of our key borrowers default or become non-performing, our exposure to credit risk would increase,
and our net profits would decline and, due to the scale of the exposures, our ability to meet capital
requirements could be risked. We cannot assure you that these borrowers will continue to honour their
commitments and that there will be no defaults in future and further, that there will not be any delay in
payments of interest and/or principal from these borrowers. In addition, the RBI guidelines, and our focus
on controlling and reducing concentration risk, may restrict our ability to grow our business with some
customers, thereby impacting our earnings.

Further, set forth below are details of deposits from the Bank's top 10 depositors as of the corresponding
dates:

42



Nine month period ended Fiscal ended March 31,
December 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Par;nscula 1?::1(0; % of A:tn((;u % of | Amou % of Amou % of Amou % of
. total . total | nt R in total nt (X in total nt R in total
in . in . e o TH q T q
p—— deposi i deposi | million | deposit | million | deposit | million | deposi
millio millio
ts ts ) S ) S ) ts
n) n)
Top 10 | 100,58 3.39 | 92,000 3.40 | 85,530. 3.07 | 95,600. 3.76 | 85,030. 3.31
depositors 0.00 .00 00 00 00

However, we cannot assure you that there will not be any untimely withdrawal or non-renewal of deposits
from these depositors. In the event of such withdrawal or non-renewal, our business, results of operations
and financial conditions may be adversely affected.

In addition, we offer loans to a wide range of industries and businesses. Set below are our Bank’s top five
industries to which advances were provided for periods mentioned:

Nine month period ended Fiscal ended March 31,
December 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Industry Amou Amou
particula nt @ % of nt @ % of Amou % of Amou % of Amou % of
s in total in total | nt R in total nt R in total nt R in total
P deposi e deposi | million | deposit | million | deposit | million | deposit
millio millio
ts ts ) S ) S ) S

n) n)
Infrastruct | 219,93 29.87 | 153,19 28.69 | 146,42 27.79 | 146,15 35.33 | 83,740. 32.42
ure 5.79 3.84 7.42 4.9 46
Basic 74,289 10.09 | 47,116 8.82 | 43,772. 8.31 | 67,979. 16.43 | 34,980. 13.54
Metal and .06 32 03 65 38
Metal
Products
All 37,595 5.11 | 19,367 3.63 | 20,947. 398 | 16,676. 4.03 | 11,900. 4.61
Engineeri .06 .29 01 87 29
ng
Mining 32,029 4.35 5,628. 1.07 | 6,002.6 1.14 | 9,315.8 2.25 | 8,490.7 3.29
and .36 47 5 8
Quarrying
Chemicals | 30,850 4.19 | 27,876 5.22 | 28,757. 5.46 | 27,087. 6.55 | 10,924. 423
and .70 .67 65 71 49
Chemical
Products
(Dyes,
Paints,
among
others)

Any financial difficulties experienced by our customers or by particular sectors of the Indian economy to
which we have historically had and continue to have significant exposure, due to factors outside our control
could significantly increase our NPA levels and adversely affect our business, future financial performance
and the price of the Equity Shares.

The level of restructured loans in our portfolio may increase and the failure of our restructured loans to
perform as expected could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our assets include restructured/ rescheduled loans. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and as of March 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022 and, our Bank’s gross restructured standard assets amounted to X 43,066.21 million, X
55,366.40 million, X 53,230.00 million, ¥ 69,484.60 million and ¥ 95,219.18 million and as a proportion of
net advances were 1.85%, 2.65%, 2.49%, 3.90% and 6.60%, respectively. The provision on these accounts
amounted to T 4,869.19 million, X 3,816.41 million, X 4,641.26 million, X 6,237.14 million and X 9,682.25
million, respectively, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and as of March 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. Set
below are details of restructured/ rescheduled assets in relation to the periods indicated:
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Nine month period ended .
Particulars Decemll))er 31, Lol e Gl s el
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Restructured/ rescheduled 43,066.21 55,366.40 53,230.00 69,484.60 95,219.18
assets (< in million)
Net Advances (R in 2,325,068.34 2,089,023.95 2,133,188.09 1,780,525.73 1,442,435.24
million)
% of net advances 1.85 2.65 2.49 3.90 6.60
Provision for Restructured 3,816.41 4,869.19 4,641.26 6,237.14 9,682.25
accounts (< in million)
Provisions and 31,128.37 25,835.72 41,081.44 38,433.80 40,533.71
Contingencies (Net) (T in
million)
% of total Provisions and 12.26 18.84 11.30 16.23 23.89
contingencies

The loan portfolio of our international branches also includes foreign currency loans to Indian companies
for their Indian operations as well as for their international operations, including cross-border acquisitions.
We restructure assets based on a borrower’s potential to restore its financial health; however, there can be
no assurance that borrowers will be able to meet their obligations under restructured advances as per
regulatory requirements and certain assets classified as restructured, may be classified as delinquent. Any
resulting increase in delinquency levels may adversely impact our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

A combination of changes in regulations regarding restructured loans, provisioning, and any substantial
increase in the level of restructured assets and the failure of these structured loans to perform as expected
could adversely affect our business, future financial performance and the trading price of the Equity Shares.

We are subject to the directed lending requirements of the Reserve Bank of India, and any shortfall in
meeting these requirements may be required to be invested in Government schemes that yield low returns,
thereby impacting our profitability. We may also experience a higher level of non-performing assets in
our directed lending portfolio, which could adversely impact the quality of our loan portfolio and our
business.

Under the directed lending norms of the RBI, the RBI requires that every bank extend at least 40.00% of its
adjusted net bank credit or the credit equivalent amount of off-balance sheet exposure, whichever is higher,
to “priority sectors” such as agriculture, MSMEs, export credit, education, social infrastructure, renewable
energy and as determined by the RBI. Of this, banks have targets or sub-targets for lending to key segments
or sectors, such as agriculture, micro-enterprises and advances to weaker sections. Our Bank’s priority sector
loan portfolio contains significant advances to the MSME and agriculture sector. Set forth below are certain
details regarding our priority sector credit, loans to micro-enterprises and loans to the agriculture sector:

Nine month period ended December

Particulars 31, Fiscal ended March 31,

2024 2023 2024 2023 2022

Priority
sector
credit (% in
million)

1,009,771.69 920,311.74 864,069.28 918,808.53 827,531.26

Adjusted 1,838,734.30 1,395,228.90 1,743,608.10
Net Bank
Credit (< in

million)

1,177,928.60 1,353,299.61

Priority 54.92 65.96 49.56 78.00 61.15

Sector
Credit as %
of net bank
credit

Loans to
micro-
enterprises
® in
million)

234,884.13 241,708.53 247,725.56 236,508.11 185,559.63
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Loans to 12.77 17.32 14.21 20.08 13.71
micro

enterprises
as % of
adjusted net
bank credit

Loans to 691,386.83 503,263.85 556,359.01 439,881.56 385,770.43
the
agriculture
sector (< in
million)

Loans to 37.60 36.07 3191 36.67 28.51
the

agriculture
as % of
adjusted net
bank credit

Any revision in the definition or classification of segments eligible for priority sector lending could impact
our ability to meet priority sector lending requirements. Further, in the event we are required to increase our
exposure to the agricultural sector pursuant to Gol mandated directed lending, it may adversely affect our
future financial performance.

As a result of priority sector lending requirements, we may experience a higher level of non-performing
assets in our directed lending portfolio, particularly due to loans to the agricultural sector and small
enterprises, where we are less able to control the portfolio quality and where economic difficulties are likely
to affect our borrowers more severely. Set forth below are certain details regarding the Bank’s priority sector
NPAs and MSME industry NPAs as of the corresponding dates:

Nine month period ended q
Particulars Decemll))er 31, e
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Priority sector gross NPAs 2.92 4.84 5.12 7.01 7.36
to total priority sector
advances (%)
Total  Priority  Sector 29,526.92 44,509.78 44,254.70 64,423.93 60,869.75
Gross NPA (2 in million)
Total  Priority  Sector 1,009,771.70 920,311.74 864,069.28 918,808.53 827,531.26
Advances (2 in million)
MSME gross NPAs to 4.07 5.64 5.36 9.16 11.56
total outstanding MSME
advances (%)
Agriculture gross NPAs to 2.65 4.34 3.77 6.76 7.88
total agricultural advances
(%)

Any future changes by the Reserve Bank of India to the directed lending norms may result in our continued
inability to meet the priority sector lending requirements as well as require us to increase our lending to
relatively riskier segments and may result in an increase in non-performing loans. Any shortfall in meeting
the priority sector lending requirements may be required to be invested at any time, at the RBI’s request, in
an account with the NABARD under the Rural Infrastructure Development Fund Scheme, or with other
financial institutions specified by the RBI, which generate lower levels of interest compared to advances
made to the priority sector.

If borrowers who have availed secured loans default, there may be delays and difficulties in enforcing the
sale of collateral and we may be unable to recover the expected value of the collateral, which could have
an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

As of December 31, 2024, % 1,802,109.42 million of our Bank’s advances were secured by tangible assets,
which collectively represented 77.50% of our Bank’s total net advances. However, we may be unable to

realise the full value of the collateral, if at all, owing to factors such as,

1) delays in bankruptcy and foreclosure proceedings, including due to the introduction of any laws,
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rules or regulations that provide for moratoriums or exemptions on the sale of collateral in
response to any adverse economic financial conditions;

(ii) deficiencies in the perfection of collateral (including due to the inability to obtain approvals that
may be required from third parties);

(iii) fraud by borrowers;

(iv) decreases in the value of the collateral,

) errors in assessing the value of the collateral;
(vi) an illiquid market for the sale of the collateral;

(vii) current legislative provisioning coverage or changes thereto;

(viii)  future judicial pronouncements;

(ix) volatility in commodity prices;
x) stock market volatility;
(xi) changes in economic policies of the Government of India;

(xii) borrowers and guarantors not being traceable; and
(xiii)  the Bank’s records of borrowers’ and guarantors’ addresses being ambiguous or outdated.

In India, foreclosure on collateral may be subject to delays and administrative requirements that may result
in, or be accompanied by, a decrease in the value of the collateral. In addition, pursuant to the RBI’s
prudential guidelines on restructuring of advances by banks, we may not be allowed to initiate recovery
proceedings against a corporate borrower, if 60.00% of the creditors by number and at least 75.00% of the
creditors by value decide to restructure their advances. In such a situation, we are restricted to a restructuring
process only as approved by the majority lenders. If we own 20.00% or less of the debt of a borrower, we
could be forced to agree to an extended restructuring of debt which may not be in our interests. In addition,
for collateral we hold in jurisdictions outside India, the applicable laws in such jurisdictions may impact our
ability to foreclose on collateral and realise its value. If we are unable to realise the full value of collateral,
or otherwise fail to recover the full amount owed to us, there could be a material, adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our business and financial performance are dependent on maintaining and building a successful branch
network. An inability to maintain, increase our coverage and any inability to use these branches
productively, may have an adverse impact on our growth and profitability.

We operate an extensive and varied branch network across India and other locations outside of India. As of
December 31, 2024, our Bank’s distribution network in India included 3,322 branches across 28 States and
eight Union Territories across India. Further, as of December 31, 2024, our Bank’s distribution network also
consists branches outside India. Our business and financial performance are dependent on maintaining our
extensive network of branches, see “— Majority of our offices, branches and ATMs are located on premises
taken by us on lease or on leave and license basis. If we are unable to renew existing leases or relocate
our operations on commercially reasonable terms, there may be an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and operations” on page 60.

As a consequence of our large and diverse branch network, we may be subject to additional risks inherent
with an extensive network, including but not limited to higher technology costs, upgrading, expanding and
securing our technology platform in such branches, operational risks including integration of internal
controls and procedures, compliance with KYC, AML and other regulatory norms, ensuring customer
satisfaction, recruiting, training and retaining skilled personnel, failure to manage third-party service
providers in relation to any outsourced services and difficulties in the integration of new branches with our
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10.

existing branch network. Any of these reasons may result in our failure to manage a large branch presence,
which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our branch expansion plans may have an adverse effect on the capital outlay which in turn may adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. There will also be increased expenditure as
a result of our strategy to expand into new geographies, including those planned for our branch network
expansion, and newer businesses, such as retail assets and, where our brand is not well known in the market.

Further, our newly opened branches may not be profitable immediately upon their opening or may take time
to break-even. In the event of a delay in achieving break even by the newly opened branches within a
reasonable period as envisaged by us, our profitability may be affected.

Our primary source of funding is in the form of deposits. If we are unable to secure funding on acceptable
terms and at competitive rates when needed, there could be a material, adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our funding requirements are met primarily through short-term and medium-term customer deposits. In the
past, a substantial portion of our customer term deposits has been rolled over upon maturity and has been a
stable source of funding. However, if a substantial number of our depositors do not roll over term deposits
upon maturity, our liquidity position will be adversely affected. Although retail deposits constitute a
significant part of our deposit base, we also accept high value deposits depending on funding requirements.
Set forth below are details regarding our top 20 depositors as of the periods as mentioned:

Nine month period ended Fiscal ended March 31,
December 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
P ari':“la ‘:':‘(“?“ % of ‘:‘t“(‘;“ %of | Amou | %of | Amou | %of | Amou | % of
in total in total | nt R in total nt R in total nt R in total
p—— deposi o deposi | million | deposit | million | deposit | million | deposi
millio millio
ts ts ) S ) S ) ts
n) n)
Top 20 | 145,36 490 | 128,24 4.74 | 125,81 4.51 | 13532 532 | 126,36 4.92
depositors 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

We cannot guarantee that there will not be any premature withdrawal or non-renewal of deposits from these
or other depositors. If depositors do not renew their deposits or if our Bank is unable to raise new deposits,
our Bank may face a liquidity problem and may be required to pay higher rates of interest to attract deposits,
which could adversely affect our results of operations. Additionally, there has been a general trend wherein
people are investing in markets as compared to bank deposits due to better returns. We may also be required
to seek funding from more expensive sources to finance our operations. Failure to obtain these sources of
funding or replace them with other deposits or borrowings at competitive rates may materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We face asset liability mismatches, which could adversely affect our liquidity and, consequently, our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We face liquidity risks due to mismatches in the maturity of our assets and liabilities. Liquidity risk is the
risk that our Bank either does not have available sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they
fall due or can secure them only at excessive cost. This risk is inherent in any retail and commercial banking
business and can be heightened by a number of enterprise-specific factors, including overreliance on a
particular source of funding, changes in credit ratings or market-wide phenomena such as market dislocation.
While our Bank implements liquidity management processes to seek to mitigate and control this risk,
unforeseen systemic market factors make it difficult to completely eliminate it.

We may rely on funding options with a short-term maturity period for extending long-term loans, which may
lead to an asset liability mismatch for certain periods. Mismatches between our assets and liabilities are
compounded in case of pre-payments of the advances we grant to our customers. Further, asset liability
mismatches create liquidity surplus or liquidity crunch situations and depending upon the interest rate
movement, such situations may adversely affect our interest earned. If we are unable to obtain additional
borrowings or renew our existing credit facilities for matching tenures of our loan portfolio in a timely and
cost-effective manner, if at all, this may lead to mismatches between our assets and liabilities, which could
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12.

adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates which could adversely affect our business,
future financial performance and trading price of the Equity Shares.

We are exposed to exchange rate risk in our foreign exchange transactions and related derivative transactions,
as a financial intermediary as well as foreign currency borrowings. We hedge our own risk to undertake
various foreign exchange transactions and for proprietary trading which are exposed to various kinds of risks,
such as, amongst others, credit risk, market risk and exchange rate risk. We have adopted a market risk
management policy and investment policy to mitigate risks arising out of customer transactions and
proprietary trading through various risk limits such as counterparty bank exposure limits, country wise
exposure limits, customer limits, overnight limits, intraday limits, stop loss limits, aggregate gap limits and
value-at-risk limits.

As of December 31, 2024, our Bank’s credit exposure on account of outstanding gross forward exchange
contracts amounted to ¥ 1,350,206.48 million. Set forth below are details regarding our foreign currency
borrowings as of the periods as mentioned:

e Ig‘;g:i%g‘g‘; EICH Fiscal ended March 31,
b
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Particula | Amou Amou A A A
rs nt@ | %of | nt@ | %of | t':;’;; %of |- t‘;‘;;; %of | - t‘(“;i‘:l % of
in liabilit in liabilit oy liabiliti e liabiliti o liabilit
oy . s . million million million .
millio ies millio ies es es ies
) o) ) ) )
Foreign 86,801 0.22 9,230. 0.03 | 34,093. 0.10 | 298.75 0.00 0.00 0.00
currency 35 70 75
borrowing
S

Adverse movements in foreign exchange rates may also impact our borrowers negatively, which may in turn
impact the quality of our exposure to these borrowers. Volatility in foreign exchange rates may be further
accentuated due to other global and domestic macroeconomic developments and as a result, may materially
and adversely affect our business, future financial performance and the trading price of the Equity Shares.

Some of our customers have incurred mark-to-market or crystallized losses on their foreign exchange
contracts. The failure of our borrowers to manage their exposures to foreign exchange, derivative risk,
adverse movements and volatility in foreign exchange rates may adversely affect our borrowers, the quality
of our exposure to our borrowers and our business volumes and profitability. Defaults by our customers on
their derivative contracts and their subsequent classification as NPAs may have an adverse impact on our
profitability, business and the price of the Equity Shares.

We are required to maintain minimum cash reserve ratio (“CRR”) and statutory liquidity ratio (“SLR”)
in accordance with RBI guidelines, and any increase in these requirements could adversely affect our
business.

Under RBI regulations, we are subject to a CRR requirement. The CRR is a bank’s balance held in an
interest-free current account with the RBI calculated as a specified percentage of its net demand and time
liabilities, excluding interbank deposits. The CRR currently applicable to banks in India is 4%, and our
Bank’s CRR was 4.25% as of December 31, 2024.

In addition, under the Banking Regulation Act, all banks operating in India are required to maintain an SLR.
The SLR is a specified percentage of a bank’s net demand and time liabilities required to be maintained by
way of liquid assets such as cash, gold or approved unencumbered securities. Approved securities consist of
unencumbered Government securities and other securities as may be approved from time to time by the RBI
and, which earn lower levels of interest as compared to advances to customers or investments made in other
securities.

Our Bank’s SLR was 23.25% as of December 31, 2024 as against the regulatory requirement of 18.00%.
Further, the RBI may increase the CRR and SLR requirements as a monetary policy measure. Any substantial
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increases in the CRR from the current levels could affect our ability to deploy our funds or make investments,
which could in turn have a negative impact on our results of operations. If we are unable to meet the statutory
reserve requirements of the RBI, the RBI may impose penal interest or prohibit us from receiving any further
fresh deposits, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our investment portfolio comprises largely of government securities that may limit our ability to deploy
funds in higher yield investments.

Our investment portfolio consists primarily of government securities, which are generally considered low-
risk, stable investments but offer lower yields compared to other asset classes. This concentration in
government securities may limit our ability to deploy funds in higher-yielding investments that could
potentially enhance our returns. As a result, our ability to maximize income from investments may be
restricted, especially in a low-interest-rate environment. Furthermore, the relatively low returns from
government securities may not be sufficient to meet our financial targets or cover operational costs during
periods of economic downturns or market volatility. This could impact our overall profitability and hinder
our capacity to grow or diversify our investment portfolio in line with market opportunities. Additionally,
any changes in the value of government securities, such as fluctuations in interest rates or shifts in the
creditworthiness of the issuing government, could further affect the returns on our portfolio and, in turn,
impact our financial condition.

Under RBI regulations, the Bank’s liabilities are subject to the SLR requirement that a minimum specified
percentage, currently 18%, of a bank’s net demand and time liabilities (“NDTL”), be invested in Government
securities and other approved securities. This is due to safeguard against liquidity risks, as we are more
structurally exposed to interest rate risk than banks in many other countries. As of December 31, 2024,
government securities amounted to X 1,046,628.83 million and represented 95.02% of our Bank’s domestic
investment portfolio, and comprised 34.25% of the Bank’s demand and term liabilities.

We earn interest on such government securities at rates which are less favourable than those which we
typically receive in respect of our retail and corporate loan portfolio and this adversely impacts our net
interest income and net interest margin. In addition, the market and accounting value of such securities could
be adversely affected by overall rising interest rates. In the event of increasing interest rates, we would face
a choice of either liquidating our investments in our trading book and realizing a loss or holding our securities
and recording them as an accounting loss upon marking to market the value of the securities. The outcome
of either option could adversely affect our results of operations. To reduce the risk of interest rate
fluctuations, the Bank has classified a large majority of its Government securities as “held to maturity”.
However, the concentration of securities in such classification can limit gains in our treasury operations. The
RBI has issued the Master Direction on Classification, Valuation and Operation of Investment Portfolio of
Commercial Banks (Directions), 2023 on September 12, 2023. These directions were applicable from April
01, 2024.

The banking industry in India is subject to extensive regulations and significant changes in the banking
regulations may adversely affect our business and our future financial performance.

Banks in India are subject to detailed regulations and supervision by the RBI. The RBI sets guidelines on
matters related to our business including cash reserve ratios, statutory liquidity ratios, capital adequacy ratio,
priority sector lending, recognition and provisioning for NPAs, export credit, market risk and branch
licensing. As we operate under licences or registrations obtained from appropriate regulators, such as RBI,
SEBI, IRDAI, we are subject to actions that may be taken by such regulators in the event of any
noncompliance with any applicable policies, guidelines, circular, notifications and regulations issued by the
relevant regulators. Our business could be directly affected by any changes in policies for banks in respect
of directed lending, reserve requirements and other areas. In addition, banks are generally subject to changes
in Indian laws, regulations, Government policies and accounting principles. In addition, we may be subject
to other changes in laws and regulations, such as those affecting the extent to which we can engage in specific
businesses, those that reduce our profits through a limit on fees or interest rates that we may charge our
customers or those affecting foreign investment in the banking industry — as well as to changes in other
governmental policies and enforcement decisions, income tax laws, foreign investment laws and accounting
principles.

For instance, the RBI recently came out with draft guidelines on the financing of ‘Projects under
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Implementation’. The existing prescribed provisions for standard project assets is 0.40% which the RBI has
proposed to substantially increase to 5%. However, RBI has proposed making of such provisions over a
three-year period time (the provisioning of 5% for standard assets during construction phase shall be
achieved in a phased manner). The Capital Adequacy Ratio of our Bank was 16.97% as of December 31,
2024, above the regulatory requirement.

The RBI published a notification RBI/2023-24/85 DOR.STR.REC.57/21.06.001/2023-24 dated November
16, 2023, increasing the risk weights in respect of consumer credit exposure of commercial banks
(outstanding as well as new), including personal loans, but excluding housing loans, education loans, vehicle
loans and loans secured by gold and gold jewellery, by 25% to 125% and risk weight on credit card
receivables of scheduled commercial banks (“SCBs”) by 25% to 150%.

Further, exposures of SCBs to NBFCs, excluding core investment companies, are risk weighted as per the
ratings assigned by accredited external credit assessment institutions (“ECAI”). The RBI published a
notification RBI/2024-25/120 DOR.STR.REC.61/21.06.001/2024-25 dated February 25, 2025, has
increased the risk weights on such exposures of SCBs by 25% (over and above the risk weight associated
with the given external rating) in all cases where the extant risk weight as per external rating of NBFCs is
below 100%. For this purpose, loans to HFCs, and loans to NBFCs which are eligible for classification as
priority sector in terms of the extant instructions shall be excluded.

For AAA-rated loans to NBFCs, the risk weight has been increased to 45% from the existing 20% (25%
increase). Conversely, AA-rated loans have seen a 15% increase, and A-rated loans a 25% increase. This
inverted structure presents a challenge, as it disproportionately affects the risk weights for superior-quality
loans (AAA) compared to lower-rated loans (AA and A).

Further, the decision to impose higher risk weights on bank loans to NBFCs, will also include government-
backed NBFCs, including AAA-rated NBFCs like IRFC, IREDA, PFC, REC, etc. These NBFCs play a vital
role in the country’s economic development, particularly in sustained infrastructure growth, and the
guidelines will impact the extension of credit to such critical NBFCs.

We are subject to cash reserve and the statutory liquidity ratios requirements, capital adequacy ratio
requirements, priority sector lending requirements, among others, and failure to comply with these
requirements may expose us to penalties and regulatory action.

In addition, we are present through our Joint Venture and Associate in diverse segments of the Indian
financial sector, including asset and funds management, treasury operations, credit cards, payment services
and life insurance.

The Banking Regulation Act, 1949 empowers the Reserve Bank of India to inspect and supervise commercial
banks. These powers are exercised through on-site inspection and off site surveillance. In the past, the RBI
has made certain observations during such inspection concerning our business and operations. In the event
that we are unable to meet or adhere to the guidance or requirements of the RBI, the RBI may impose strict
enforcement and monitoring measures on us, which may have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

The regulatory and policy environment in which we operate is evolving and subject to change. There can be
no assurance that the Government of India may not implement new regulations and policies which will
require us to obtain approvals and licences from the Government of India and other regulatory bodies. Any
such changes and the related uncertainties with respect to the implementation of the new regulations may
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we may
have to incur expenditure to comply with the requirements of any new regulations, which may also affect
our results of operations.

A substantial portion of our income is derived from non-banking activities and fee-based services. Our
financial performance may be materially and adversely affected by an inability to generate and sustain
such income.

We have, over the years, expanded our operations from undertaking banking activities to providing certain

non-banking and fee and commission-based services. For further details, see “Select Statistical Information
— Fee based income” on page 139. Our non-banking activities through our Joint Venture and Associates
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mainly include housing finance, life insurance/ bancassurance, corporate advisory and trusteeship services,
primary dealership including equity trading and asset reconstruction.

We earn fee-based income from corporate agency services, which include marketing and distribution of
insurance products. Fee-based income is also earned as part of our foreign exchange business. From time to
time we hold assets on our balance sheet which may be subject to market risk and credit risk. There can be
no assurance that we will be able to sustain current levels of income from, or effectively manage the risks
associated with, these businesses in the future.

New initiatives, products and services that we may introduce, will entail a number of risks and challenges,
including risks relating to execution, the failure to identify new segments, the inability to attract customers
and the inability to make competitive offerings. If we are unable to successfully diversify our products and
services while managing the related risks and challenges, returns on such products and services may be less
than anticipated, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We distribute third-party products, such as mutual funds, brokerage and insurance products. Our inability
to effectively manage any of these businesses may adversely affect our business, results of operation and
financial condition.

In order to grow our non-interest income, we sale and distribute third-party products, such as, amongst others,
mutual funds and insurance products. We have engaged with various third-party product companies to sale
and distribute such products. However, we have no control over the actions of such third-party product
companies and their products. Any failure on the part of such third-party product companies, including any
failure to comply with applicable regulatory norms, any regulatory action taken against such parties or any
adverse publicity relating to such party could, in turn, result in negative publicity about us and adversely
impact our brand and reputation. Further, in case customers to whom such products are sold, experience
deficiency of service or are otherwise aggrieved, we may be subject to litigation or claims for damages by
such aggrieved customers, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and our business, financial
position and results of operations.

The effects of the adoption of Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) are uncertain and any failure to
successfully adopt Ind AS could adversely affect our business, financial conditions and results of
operations.

The Bank currently prepares its annual and interim financial statements in accordance with Indian GAAP.
The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”), in its press release dated January 18, 2016, issued a roadmap
for implementation of Ind AS converged with IFRS for scheduled commercial banks. However, the RBI, in
its circular dated March 22, 2019, deferred the implementation of Ind AS by scheduled commercial banks
until further notice.

The adoption of Ind AS would change, among other things, our methodology for estimating allowances for
expected loan losses and for classifying and valuing our investment portfolio and our revenue recognition
policy.

For estimation of expected loan losses, the new accounting standards may require us to calculate the present
value of the expected future cash flows realizable from our advances, including the possible liquidation of
collateral (discounted at the loan's effective interest rate). This may result in us recognizing allowances for
expected loan losses in the future that may be higher than under the current Indian GAAP.

The mark-to-market requirements required under Ind AS may also impact our revenues and profitability. We
have made no attempt to quantify the impact of the differences between Indian GAAP and Ind AS. However,
it is possible that our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or changes in shareholders' equity
may appear materially different under Ind AS than under Indian GAAP.

If we are required to report in Ind AS, we may encounter difficulties in the ongoing process of implementing
and enhancing our management information systems. Moreover, we will have to modify our internal control
framework and adopt new internal controls to report under Ind AS. These new internal controls will require,
amongst others, a transition to more model-based evaluation of certain items, as well as staff who are
adequately knowledgeable with Ind AS. If we are required to report in Ind AS, we may encounter difficulties
in implementation of effective internal controls in a timely manner.
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The Indian banking industry is very competitive and our growth strategy depends on our ability to compete
effectively.

We operate in a competitive industry. Private sector banks, other public sector banks and foreign banks are
our main competitors, followed closely by NBFCs, small finance banks, payment banks, insurance
companies, asset management companies, development financial institutions, mutual funds and investment
banks. Amalgamated public sector banks have increased their financial strength, management capabilities,
resources, operational experience, customer base and distribution channels and, as such, their ability to
compete with the Bank.

The Bank also faces competition from private sector banks in India, some of which have larger customer
bases and greater financial resources. In addition, new entrants into the financial services industry, including
companies in the financial technology sector, may further intensify competition in the business environments
in which the Bank operates, especially in the digital business environment. As a result, the Bank may be
forced to adapt its business to compete more effectively. For example, non-bank financial companies,
particularly international technology companies, including large e-commerce players, have recently been
increasing their presence in the financial sector in India and offering payment platforms and select services
to customers, which increase competitive pressures on the Bank.

Further, technology innovations in mobility and digitisation of financial services require banks to
continuously develop new and simplified models for offering banking products and services. Innovations in
the payments system and increasing use of mobile banking are leading to the emergence of new platforms for
cashless payments. This can also lead to new types of banks expanding their presence in other financial
products, such as insurance and mutual funds. These trends in technology could increase competitive
pressures on banks, including us, to adapt to new operating models and upgrade back-end infrastructure on
an ongoing basis. Due to these and other competitive pressures, we may be unable to successfully execute
our growth strategy, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to capital adequacy norms and are required to maintain a capital-to-risk asset ratio
(“CRAR”) at the minimum level required by RBI for domestic banks. Any inability to maintain adequate
capital due to change in regulations or lack of access to capital or otherwise could materially and
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to regulations relating to the capital adequacy of banks, which determines the CRAR, or the
minimum amount of capital we must hold as a percentage of the risk-weighted assets on our portfolio. The
RBI requires banks in India to maintain a minimum CRAR of 11.50% (including capital conservation
buffer). In addition, in accordance with the RBI Basel III Capital Regulations, the Bank is required to
maintain a minimum common equity Tier I (“CET-I”) capital ratio of 8.00% (including a capital
conservation buffer of 2.50%), and a minimum Tier I CRAR of 9.50% (including a capital conservation
buffer of 2.50%) of its risk weighted assets. Any incremental capital requirement may adversely impact our
ability to grow our business and may even require us to withdraw from, or curtail, some of our current
business operations

In accordance with the Basel III norms, as of December 31, 2024, the Bank’s Tier I and total capital adequacy
ratios were 14.33% and 2.64%s, respectively. We are exposed to the risk of the RBI increasing the applicable
risk weight for different asset classes from time to time. Although we have implemented and followed a
policy of maintaining a minimum capital adequacy ratio as stipulated in the RBI Basel I1I Capital Regulations
issued by the RBI, there can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain this ratio in the future.
Implementation of Basel III or other such capital adequacy requirements imposed by RBI may result in the
incurrence of substantial compliance and monitoring costs, and any breach of applicable laws and regulations
will adversely affect our reputation, business operations and financial conditions. In addition, if additional
or more stringent guidance on capital adequacy norms are imposed, we may be required to raise or maintain
additional capital in a manner which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our inability to maintain or grow our CASA ratio may result in higher cost of deposits and impact our
financial condition.
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We have traditionally maintained high CASA deposits due to our large retail customer base spread across
India. Set below are certain details in relation to domestic CASA deposits for the periods mentioned:

Nine month period ended Fiscal ended March 31,
December 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
. % of % of % of % of % of
Parilscula 1:]:1(0; total 1?11:1(0; total Amou total Amou total Amou total
in domes in domes | nt (Rin | domest | nt (X in | domest | nt Rin | domes
o tic P tic million ic million ic million tic
millio . | millio . q q g
deposi deposi ) deposit ) deposit ) deposi
n) n)
ts ts S S ts
Domestic 1,147, 40.00 | 1,111, 42.00 | 1,122,1 42.00 | 1,079,7 43.00 | 1,015,2 42.00
CASA 907.23 618.28 35.99 05.64 70.65
deposits

Any decline in CASA share on total deposit could adversely impact the profitability of our Bank. Our liquidity
position will also be adversely affected if a significant portion of our depositors do not roll over deposited
funds upon maturity or do so for a shorter maturity than that of our assets. Our ability to raise fresh deposits
and grow our deposit base depends in part on our ability to expand our network of branches. Further, though
retail deposits constitute a huge portion of our deposit base, we also accept high value deposits depending on
the funding requirements. Accordingly, we may be required to seek more expensive sources of funding to
finance our operations, which would result in a decline in our profits and have a material adverse effect on
our business, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.

We intend to grow our CASA ratio, in order to reduce cost of funds and improve our core deposits. Our
strategy is to improve our CASA ratio and growing CASA book through deeper engagement with existing
relationships. In order to attract retail customers and increase our CASA deposits, we intend to introduce new
products and promote our products through marketing campaigns. The interest rates that we must pay to
attract customer deposits are determined by numerous factors such as the prevailing interest rate structure,
competitive landscape, Indian monetary policy and inflation. However, there is no assurance that we will be
successful in growing our CASA base.

We may not be able to maintain our CASA deposits and ratio owing to the increased competition from other
banks and lending institutions. If we fail to maintain or grow our CASA ratio, our financial condition and
cash flows may be materially and adversely affected.

Non-compliance with RBI inspection/ observations may have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operation. Our overseas branches are also subject to inspections from regulators
in such jurisdictions. Any adverse observations from such regulators could an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operation.

We are subject to periodic inspections by RBI under the Banking Regulation Act, during the course of which,
the RBI advises on issues related to various risk and regulatory non-compliances.

During such inspections in the past, the RBI has made certain observations regarding our business and
operations and incorporates such findings in its final inspection report and requires that we take certain
actions to its satisfaction. The RBI has, among other things, identified that (a) our Bank did not have non-
executive chairman till February 2024, (b) Nomination and Remuneration Committee did not meet
periodically, (c) e-treasury was not maintained properly, (d) our Bank did not have mechanism to check
whether investments were declared fraud or non-performing assets before undertaking assessment, () our
Bank had no internal control system for timely and accurate recognition of non-performing assets (f) our
Bank misreported or ignored various components of the banks’ balance sheet position such as overnight
borrowings, refinance, balances with other banks, bill receivables and investments in the Statutory Liquidity
Statement and Stock ratio analysis, (g) deficiencies were observed in credit rating, (h) witnessed 270 non-
superannuation exits of which 40 were terminated due to non-ethical behaviour, (i) delay in fraud reporting
and examination, for instance, in eight cases, there was a delay of more than six months in completing fraud
examination process and (j) critical business functions were delegated to departments responsible for
handling support functions, thereby resulting in lack of desired output.

While we have undertaken steps to comply with these observations and have informed the RBI regarding
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the status of our compliance, there can be no assurance that the RBI will consider such steps to be adequate
and treat the observations as being duly complied with. In the event we are not able to comply with the
observations made by the RBI, we could be subject to supervisory actions which may have a material adverse
effect on our reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, our overseas branches are also subject to inspections/ observations from regulators in such
jurisdictions and any adverse observation may have an adverse effect on our business and financial
conditions.

Any regulatory or administrative investigations, fines, sanctions, relating to our operations could
negatively affect our business and financial results, or cause serious reputational harm to our businesses.
Further, the securities of our Bank are listed on Stock Exchanges in India, our Bank is subject to certain
obligations and reporting requirements under SEBI Listing Regulations. Any non-compliances/delay in
complying with such obligations and reporting requirements may render us liable to prosecution and/or
Ppenalties.

We manage regulatory compliance by monitoring and evaluating our internal controls and strive to ensure
that we are in compliance with all relevant statutory and regulatory reporting requirements including SEBI
Listing Regulations. There can be no assurance that deficiencies in our filings will not arise in future, or that
we will be able to implement, or continue to maintain, adequate measures to rectify or mitigate any
deficiencies in our internal control.

In the past, our Bank had received a notice from various authorities such as RBI, SEBI, BSE and NSE
regarding non-compliance of various laws and regulations. The following table sets forth list of penalties
imposed on our Bank during periods as indicated below:

Penalty amount (X in

Fiscal i Reasons
million)
For the nine-month NIL | NIL
period ended December
31,2024
2023-24 32 | e Contravention of Banking Regulation Act, 1949 and
directions issued by RBI.

e Non-compliance of Regulation 60(2) of SEBI (Listing

Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), 2015
2022-23 7.48 | e Non-compliance with certain directions issued by RBI
under ‘Reserved Bank of India (Frauds classification and
reporting by commercial Banks and scheduled
commercial banks) directions, 2016

e Non-compliance of guidelines with respect to currency
chest and ATMs

e Non-compliance of Regulation 60(2) of SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), 2015

e Non-compliance of Regulation 57(4) of SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), 2015

2021-22 NIL | NIL

Further, SEBI issued an administrative warning dated February 18, 2025, observing that our Bank has not
conducted any Nomination and Remuneration Committee meeting during the Fiscal year 2023-24.

While our Bank has paid the penalties imposed in the past and has rectified the regulatory requirements for
the non-compliances mentioned and there has been no material financial impact in relation to the same, we
cannot assure you that we will not be subject to any legal proceedings or regulatory actions, including
monetary penalties by statutory authorities such as RBI, SEBI, NSE and BSE on account of any inadvertent
discrepancies or secretarial filings and/or corporate records or non-compliance with listing regulations in the
future, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and reputation.

Our treasury income, debt investment portfolio and derivatives portfolio are exposed to risks relating to
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mark-to-market valuation, illiquidity, and credit risk and income volatility.

Our income from treasury operations is subject to volatility due to, among other things, changes in interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates as well as other market fluctuations. For example, Our Bank had
a domestic debt investment portfolio (consisting of government securities, treasury bills and other debt
securities) in available for sale and held for trading of ¥ 127,660.82 million as of December 31, 2024. In the
event of a rise in interest rates, our portfolio will be exposed to the adverse impact of the mark-to-market
valuation of such investments and may, under certain circumstances, require us to mark down the value of
these investments on our balance sheet and recognize a loss on our income statement. Any rise in interest
rates leading to a fall in the market value of such debentures or bonds may materially and adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations. We may also face income volatility due to the
illiquid nature of market for the disposal of some of our debt investment portfolio.

While our gross non-performing investments are monitored and recovery efforts are carried out, any increase
in the amount of non-performing investments due to adverse developments in the domestic or international
markets, may adversely affect our financial condition.

Similarly, our derivative portfolio is subject to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates, and
any movement in those rates may require us to mark down the value of our derivatives portfolio. While we
invest in corporate debt instruments as part of our normal business, we are exposed to the risk of an issuer
defaulting on its obligations. Changes in corporate bond spreads also affect valuations and expose us to risk
of valuation losses. Although we have risk and operational controls and procedures in place for our treasury
operations, such as sensitivity limits, value at risk (“VaR”) limits, position limits, stop loss limits and
exposure limits that are designed to mitigate the extent of such losses, there can be no assurance that we will
not lose our investments in the course of trading on our fixed income book in held for trading and available-
for-sale portfolio. Any such losses could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

Our risk management policies and procedures may not adequately address unidentified or unanticipated
risks.

Our risk management functions are divided on the basis of principal risks defined under applicable Basel 111
guidelines, i.e., credit risk, market risk, operational risk and liquidity risk. While we have a well-defined risk
management governance framework that comprises of a risk management committee and sub committees
for management of credit, market, liquidity and operational risk, to the extent any of the instruments and
strategies we use to hedge or otherwise manage our exposure to market or credit risk are not effective, we
may not be able to mitigate effectively our risk exposures, in particular to market environments or against
particular types of risk.

We have devoted significant resources to develop our risk management policies and procedures and aim to
continue to do so in the future.

Despite this, our policies and procedures to identify, monitor and manage risks may not be fully effective.
Some of our methods of managing risks are based upon the use of observed historical market behaviour.
Further, while we have not encountered such instance in the nine month period ended December 31, 2024
and the past three Fiscals, we cannot assure that we will not be subject to such instances in the future. As a
result, these methods may not accurately predict future risk exposures which could be significantly greater
than those indicated by the historical measures. Management of operations, legal and regulatory risks
requires, among other things, policies and procedures to properly record and verify a large number of
transactions and events, and these policies and procedures may not be fully effective.

As we seek to expand the scope of our operations, we also face the risk that we may not be able to develop
risk management policies and procedures that are properly designed for new business areas or to manage the
risks associated with the growth of our existing businesses effectively. Implementation and monitoring may
prove particularly challenging with respect to businesses that we plan on developing. An inability to develop
and implement effective risk management policies may materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We are involved in certain legal and other proceedings which, if determined against us, could have a
material adverse impact on our financial condition.
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As on the date of this Placement Document, there are certain outstanding legal proceedings involving our
Bank and our Directors. These proceedings are pending at different levels of adjudication before various
courts and regulatory authorities. Such proceedings could divert management time and attention and
consume financial resources in their defence. Furthermore, an adverse judgment in some of these
proceedings could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
future cash flows.

A summary of outstanding litigation proceedings involving our Bank and our Directors is provided below:

Type of proceeding | Number of cases | Amount* (X in million)
Legal proceedings involving our Bank

Material civil litigation 2 6,170.93
Tax matters (direct and indirect tax matters) 118 114,340.00
Actions and proceedings initiated by statutory and 1 10.00
regulatory authorities("

Criminal matters 290 204.99
Insolvency matters 177 385,460.80
DRT matters 5,133 351,049.00
Fraud matters 485 101,137.00
Banking Ombudsman complaints 59 -
Legal proceedings involving our Directors

Actions and proceedings initiated by statutory and N.A. N.A.
regulatory authorities

Criminal matters N.A. N.A.
Material civil litigation N.A. N.A.
Tax matters N.A. N.A.

*Amount to the extent quantifiable.
(1) Notice issued by RBI
(2) Includes cases filed under Negotiable Instruments Act, 1881

We cannot provide any assurance that these legal proceedings will be decided in our favour. Decisions in
such proceedings adverse to our interests may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Our business operations are heavily reliant on our information technology systems. Any failure of or
disruptions in our systems could have an adverse impact on our operations and financial condition.

Our business is largely dependent on our information technology systems. We service our customers,
undertake our risk management functions, provide deposit services, loan origination functions, as well as
increase our portfolio of products and services, through our information technology systems. We also rely
on our technology platform to undertake financial control and for transaction processing.

In addition, our systems connect our ATMs, branches and other delivery channels. Our hardware and
software systems are also subject to damage or incapacitation by human error, natural disasters, power loss,
sabotage, computer viruses and similar events or the loss of support services from third parties such as
internet backbone providers. Our information technology systems may be subject to interruptions and
temporary disruptions and may not meet our requirements or be suitable for use at all times. Further, while
we have not encountered such instance in the nine month period ended December 31, 2024 and the past three
Fiscals, we cannot assure you that we will not encounter service disruptions in the future due to substantially
increased numbers of customers and transactions, or for other reasons. Further, any continued disruption in
our information technology systems may also result in certain measures being imposed by the RBI, including
limiting certain business activities.

Any inability to maintain the reliability and efficiency of our systems could adversely affect our reputation,
and our ability to attract and retain customers. In the event we experience system interruptions, errors or
downtime (which could result from a variety of causes, including changes in customer use patterns,
technological failure, changes to systems, linkages with third-party systems and power failures) or any other
failures, or if we are unable to develop necessary technology, our business, financial condition and results of
operations may be adversely affected.

27. Our international operations are subject to legal and regulatory risks. If we do not effectively manage our
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foreign operations or any further international expansion, our operations may incur losses or otherwise
adversely affect our business and results of operations.

As on the date of this Placement Document, our Bank has operations in four countries, being, Singapore,
Hongkong, Thailand and Sri Lanka. In addition, we have one Joint Venture in Malaysia. As a result, we are
subject to additional risks related to complying with wide variety of international banking and financial
services laws and regulations and regulatory and enforcement authorities in the jurisdictions in which we
operate. In addition, we also face risks related to economic and political environment challenges, restrictions
on the import and export of certain intermediates, banking regulations, technologies and multiple and
possibly overlapping tax structures.

The laws and regulations governing the banking and financial services industry in the jurisdictions we
operate, have become increasingly complex, governing a wide variety of issues, including interest rates,
liquidity, capital adequacy, securitization, investments, ethical issues, money laundering, privacy, record
keeping, outsourcing and marketing and selling practices, with sometimes overlapping jurisdictional or
enforcement authorities. Further, while we have not encountered such instance in the nine month period
ended December 31, 2024 and the past three Fiscals, we cannot assure that we will not be subject to such
instances in the future.

Any failure to comply with applicable regulations in various jurisdictions, including unauthorized actions by
employees, representatives, agents and third parties, suspected or perceived failures and media reports, and
future inquiries or investigations by regulatory and enforcement authorities, may result in regulatory action
including financial penalties and restrictions on or suspension of the related business operations. We may
also face difficulties integrating new facilities in different countries into our existing operations, as well as
integrating employees that we hire in different countries into our existing corporate culture or comply with
unfamiliar laws and regulations. In addition, we face competition from banks in other countries that may
have more experience and resources in those countries or in international operations generally. We remain a
small-size operator in foreign markets where we are currently present and many of our competitors have
much greater resources. If we do not effectively manage our foreign operations, our results of operations
may be adversely affected.

Any downgrade in the Bank's credit ratings could affect our ability to access cost effective funding,
thereby adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The pricing on our issuances of debt will be negatively impacted by any downgrade or potential downgrade
in our credit ratings, which could increase our financing costs, and adversely affect our future issuances of
debt and our ability to raise new capital on a competitive basis. There is no downgrade of Bank’s/ Bank’s
Instrument in the nine month period ended December 31, 2024 and in the past three Fiscals. Set forth below
are details of our credit ratings as of the corresponding periods:

Rating Instrument/ Nine month period ended Fiscal ended March 31,
agency purpose/ issue Decamher iz
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
CRISIL Tier 11 Bonds CRISIL CRISIL AA- | CRISIL AA- | CARE CRISIL A1+
AA/Stable | /Positive /Positive AA-; Stable | Positive
Fixed Deposit - | CARE AA/ - | CRISIL FAA
Programme Positive AA; Stable | Positive
Certificate of Deposit - | CRISIL A1+ - | CRISIL CRISIL A1+
Al+
India Basel III Tier 1I - | IND AA- | IND AA- | IND AA- | IND AA-
Ratings Bonds /Stable /Positive /Stable /Stable
CARE Tier 1T Bonds (Basel | CARE CARE AA- | CARE AA- | CARE AA- | CARE AA-
11I) AA/Stable | /Positive /Positive /Stable /Stable
Certificate of | CAREAIl+ | CARE Al+ - - -
Deposits
ICRA Basel III Tier II | ICRA ICRA AA- | ICRA AA- | ICRA ICRA
Bonds AA/Stable | /Positive /Stable A+/Positive | A+/Positive

Our credit ratings may increase interest rates for refinancing our outstanding debt, which would increase our
financing costs, and adversely affect our future issuances of debt and our ability to raise new capital on a
competitive basis, which may adversely affect our profitability and future growth.
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Any downgrade in our credit ratings may increase interest rates for refinancing our outstanding debts in
domestic and international markets, which would increase our financing costs and adversely affect both our
future debt issuances and our ability to raise new capital on a competitive basis, which may, in turn, adversely
affect our profitability and future growth. In addition, any downgrade of our credit ratings could result in
additional terms and conditions being included in any financing or refinancing arrangements in the future.

Further, we cannot guarantee that our ratings will not change, or that any other rating agency will not
downgrade India’s credit rating. Also see, “— Any adverse change in India’s sovereign credit rating by
international rating agencies could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows” on page 69.

We may not be able to detect money-laundering and other illegal or improper activities in a comprehensive
manner or on a timely basis, which could expose us to additional liability and harm our business or
reputation.

Although the Bank complies with the guidelines related to Anti-Money Laundering issued by Reserve Bank
of India and Financial Intelligence Unit-India and all necessary reporting is also being done but Banking
Channels have an inherent risk of misuse by money launderers, terrorists and cyber criminals. Since July
2019, regulatory reports are being submitted as per guidelines and no penalty has been imposed till date
regarding regulatory reporting.

While we continue to strengthen our AML and KYC procedures, to the extent we fail to fully comply with
applicable laws and regulations, the relevant governmental and regulatory agencies may impose fines and
other penalties and, in certain circumstances, ask us to cease operations. In addition, any adverse action taken
by such agencies could adversely affect our reputation, thereby affecting our business and future financial
performance.

Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend upon applicable RBI regulations, our earnings,
financial condition and capital requirements. Any inability to declare dividend may adversely affect the
trading price of our Equity Shares.

While we have a formal board approved dividend policy to govern our dividend pay-out, our future ability
to pay dividends and the amount of any such dividends, if declared, will depend upon a number of factors,
including our future earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, our compliance with regulatory
requirements, meeting the RBI mandated CRAR and net NPA parameters and our operating performance.
Dividends distributed by us may attract dividend distribution tax at rates applicable from time to time. We
cannot assure you that we will generate sufficient income to cover our operating expenses and shall be able
to pay dividends. Our present and future dividend policy is based on the terms of the extant Gol/ RBI
guidelines and directives, and is dependent on our revenues, profits, cash flow, financial condition, capital
requirements and other factors. For further information, see “Dividend Policy” beginning on page 79.

The RBI has prescribed limits on the dividend pay-out ratio of banks in India linked to certain parameters
such as the risk-based capital ratio and net non-performing assets ratio. Under the RBI’s Basel I1I guidelines,
banks are subject to higher minimum capital requirements and must maintain a capital conservation buffer
above the minimum requirements to avoid restrictions on capital distributions and discretionary bonus
payments. Any change in restrictions on payment of dividend or capital requirements may limit our ability
to pay dividends to Shareholders. The declaration and payment of dividends are subject to the provisions of
the Banking Regulation Act and regulations made thereunder, the RBI Act and regulations and guidelines
made thereunder including RBI Circular (RBI/2004-05/451DBOD.NO.BP.BC.88/21.02.067/2004-05) dated
May 4, 2005 (“RBI Dividend Circular”). The Bank follows the Banking Regulation Act, the RBI Dividend
Circular and Regulation 43A of the SEBI Listing Regulations in this regard. Dividends that our Bank has
paid in the past may not be reflective of the dividends that our Bank may pay in a future period.

Our business and financial condition may be adversely affected if we are unable to develop new products
and services.

The role of technology in driving differentiation and business growth is crucial in the highly competitive

banking sector. Our Bank is committed to leveraging technological advancements to continually innovate
and enhance customer experiences across all digital platforms. Our strategic focus includes the development
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of user-friendly digital banking services such as mobile banking, internet banking, UPI, and streamlined
digital processes. Partnerships with third parties underscore our proactive approach in meeting the evolving
needs of our diverse customer base.

While we have been diversifying and expanding our products and services to deliver innovative, customer-
centric solutions and forging strategic partnerships, we cannot assure you that we will be able to continue
delivering value and maintain our competitive edge in the banking sector. The successful diversification of
our product and service offerings, while managing associated risks and challenges, is essential. Potential
outcomes, such as returns on new products falling short of expectations, could materially impact our
liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, and overall operational results. Furthermore, heightened
competition that better anticipates customer needs within our target markets could potentially diminish our
market share and adversely affect our business operations.

Our failure to adapt to technological advancements that can potentially disrupt the banking industry could
affect the performance and features of our products and services and reduce our attractiveness to
customers.

Failing to adapt to technological advancements that have the potential to disrupt the banking industry could
significantly impact the performance and features of our products and services, potentially diminishing our
attractiveness to customers. In today’s rapidly evolving digital landscape, staying ahead of technological
changes is imperative for the Bank. Embracing innovation allows us to enhance customer experience,
streamline operations, and maintain competitiveness in the market. By proactively integrating cutting-edge
technologies into our offerings, we ensure that we not only meet but exceed customer expectations, thereby
safeguarding our position as a leader in the banking sector. Our failure to adapt to such technological
advancements quickly and effectively could affect the performance and features of our products and services
and could reduce our attractiveness to existing and potential customers.

As on the date of this Placement Document, the composition of our Board and the composition of certain
committees does not have the full strength as prescribed in the Banking Companies Act, SEBI Listing
Regulations and Master RBI (Fit and Proper Criteria for Elected Directors on the Boards of PSBs)
Directions, 2019 dated August 2, 2019.

As on the date of this Placement Document, our Board does not have the prescribed strength as the following
positions are vacant:

1. Workmen director under Sec 9 (3) (e) of Banking Companies Act;
2. Employee director under Sec 9 (3) (f) of Banking Companies Act;

3. Director who has been a chartered accountant for not less than 15 years under Sec 9 (3) (f) of Banking
Companies Act; and

4.  Woman independent director as is a mandatory requirement under SEBI Listing Regulations.

Given that our Bank is a public sector undertaking, matters pertaining to, among others, appointment of our
Directors are determined by the Government of India, Ministry of Finance or RBI except appointment of
Shareholders’ Directors under section 9(3)(i) of the Banking Companies Act.

In particular, the RBI has issued a circular dated April 26, 2021 which prescribes certain basic requirements
with regard to the chairman and meetings of boards of directors, composition of certain committees of boards
of directors, age, tenure and remuneration of directors, and appointment of the whole-time directors. Due to
the current vacancies, the composition criteria as prescribed under the applicable laws, cannot be complied
with for the audit committee, nomination and remuneration committee and the risk management committee
and hence as on date of this Placement Document our Bank has not constituted these committees.

We cannot provide any assurance that the composition of our Board and the committees thereof will be in
terms of the applicable regulations in a timely manner or at all. Such delay or failure could result in statutory
/ regulatory authority(ies) taking action against us including imposing penalty on our Bank, any of which
could adversely affect the Bank’s business, reputation and results of operations.
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A portion of our Bank’s loans have a tenor exceeding one year or are unsecured, exposing the Bank to
risks associated with economic cycles. In the event of non-payment by a borrowers of these loans, we may
be unable to collect the unpaid balance.

We offer unsecured personal loans to the retail customer segment, including salaried individuals and self-
employed professionals. In addition, we offer unsecured loans to corporates, small businesses and individual
businessmen. As of December 31, 2024, our unsecured loans amounted to ¥ 300,619.97 million in retail,
agriculture, MSME and corporate categories, which contributed 4.57% of our Bank’s net advances of
6,567,809.26 million cumulatively in retail, agriculture, MSME and corporate categories. Unsecured loans
are at higher credit risk for us than our secured loan portfolio as they may not be supported by realizable
collateral that could help ensure an adequate source of repayment for the loan. Although we may obtain
direct debit instructions or post-dated checks from our customers for our unsecured loan products, we may
be unable to collect in part or at all in the event of non-payment by a borrower. Further, any increase in
delinquency in our unsecured loan portfolio could require us to increase our provision for credit losses, which
would decrease our earnings

We have existing indebtedness, and may incur additional indebtedness, which could adversely affect our
financial condition, and/or our ability to obtain financing in the future, react to changes in our business
and/or satisfy our obligations.

As of December 31, 2024, our Bank had % 21,650.00 million of outstanding debt liabilities, inter alia, in the
form of debt securities such as unsecured redeemable bonds and subordinate debts for Tier II capital. Our
existing indebtedness could impose restrictions on our business operations which may be in the nature of
following:

e it may be challenging for us to obtain additional financing, should such a need arise, which may limit
our ability to satisfy obligations with respect to our debt;

e  aportion of our financial resources must be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our
debt, thereby reducing the funds available to use for other purposes;

e it may be difficult for us to satisfy our obligations to our creditors, resulting in possible defaults on,
and acceleration of, such debt;

e  we may be more vulnerable to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
e  our ability to refinance debt may be limited or the associated costs may increase; and

e  our flexibility to adjust to changing market conditions could be limited, or we may be prevented from
carrying out capital spending that is necessary or important to our growth strategy and efforts to
improve operating margins of our businesses.

In addition, failure to comply with the terms of these financing agreements may lead to action against us,
and may require us to accelerate payment of our loans. Default in our repayment obligations may also affect
our ability to raise financing in future

Any deficiencies, inaccuracies or mis-specification in the models and data we rely on for our risk analysis
could impact our decision-making and operations.

As part of ordinary decision-making process, our Bank relies on various models for data analysis and risk
assessment. These models are based on historical data supplemented with managerial inputs and comments.
These models analyse data which may not always be accurate or adequate to guide for strategic and
operational decisions and protect from risks. Any misspecification, deficiencies or inaccuracies in the data
used for model development might have a material adverse impact on our Bank’s business, operations and
financial conditions. Further, while we have not encountered such instance in the nine month period ended
December 31, 2024 and the past three Fiscals, we cannot assure that we will not be subject to such instances
in the future.

As our Bank endeavours to broaden its operations in newer geographies and new product areas, there is a
risk that we may struggle to create tailored risk management policies/ procedures/ models suitable for these

60



37.

38.

39.

40.

new areas and products, or effectively handle the risks linked to the expansion of our current businesses.
Further, implementation and monitoring may prove to be challenging with respect to our expansion and
development.

Majority of our offices, branches and ATMs are located on premises taken by us on lease or on leave and
license basis. If we are unable to renew existing leases or relocate our operations on commercially
reasonable terms, there may be an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operations.

Majority of our offices, branches and ATMs are located on premises taken by us on lease or leave and license
basis from third parties. The table below sets forth the total amount of rent paid for all the licensed properties
as a percentage of the total revenue from operations for the periods stated:

Nine month period ended December 31, Fiscal ended March 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Particulars [ Amount % of Amount % of Amount % of Amount % of Amount % of
R®in total R®in total ®in total R®in total ®in total
million) | income | million) | income | million) | income | million) | income | million) | income
Rent paid 3,146.75 1.45 | 2,877.35 1.22 | 4,119.36 1.38 3,952.79 1.91 3,531.39 1.44

While we have, in the past, renewed our lease arrangements from time to time, if we are unable to renew
certain or all of these leases on commercially reasonable terms, we may suffer a disruption in our operations
or be unable to continue to operate from those locations in the future and may need to incur significant costs
to relocate.

In the event that any lease agreement is not renewed, we will be required to expend time and financial
resources to locate suitable land or premises to set up new offices, branches and ATMs, which may adversely
affect our financial condition. Further, if the vacated property or premises is leased or sold to a competitor,
we may also face increased competition in that geographic area which could adversely affect our market share
and revenues.

We have in the past entered into related party transactions and may continue to do so in the future, which
may potentially involve conflicts of interest with the equity shareholders.

We have in the course of our business entered into, and will continue to enter into, several transactions with
our related parties. For details of the related party transactions, see “Financial Statements” beginning on
page 281.

We cannot assure you that we will receive similar terms in our related party transactions in the future and
that we could not have achieved more favourable terms had such transactions been entered into with
unrelated parties. The transactions we have entered into and any further transactions that we may have with
our related parties have involved or could potentially involve conflicts of interest which may be detrimental
to our Bank. We cannot assure you that such transactions, individually or in the aggregate, will not have an
adverse effect on our business and financial results, including because of potential conflicts of interest or
otherwise.

A reduction in long-term interest rates may increase our pension liabilities which may adversely affect
our future financial performance and results of operations.

We operate a defined benefit pension fund scheme. A discount rate is used to calculate the present value of
our future liabilities in relation to the scheme and is linked to the long-term yield on Gol securities. A
reduction in the long-term interest rate would increase the present value of our pension obligations. As a
result, we may be required to make further cash contributions to the scheme in order to cover the deficit
which may in turn lead to an increase in its pension expenses. In a falling interest rate scenario, the held-to-
maturity value of already invested securities is likely to go up, thereby offsetting the increase in present value
of pension obligation to an extent.

Our inability to renew or maintain our statutory and regulatory permits and approvals required to operate
our business may adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operation.

We are required to obtain various statutory and regulatory licences, permits and approvals to operate our
business which require us to comply with certain terms and conditions in the ordinary course of our business.
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Inability to obtain these licences/ permits/ approvals or non-compliance of the terms and conditions
mentioned therein may attract penalties and strictures from the regulatory authorities if the irregularities
pointed out by the inspecting officials of the concerned authorities are not rectified within the time allowed
by them and in extreme cases, it may result in the interruption of all or some of our operations and may have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results and cash flow and could also adversely
affect our financial performance and reputation.

Inability to obtain these licences/ permits/ approvals or non-compliance of the terms and conditions
mentioned therein may attract penalties and strictures from the authorities if the irregularities pointed out by
the inspecting officials of the concerned authority is not rectified within the time allowed by them and in
extreme cases, it may result in the interruption of all or some of our operations and may have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results and cash flow and could also adversely affect our
financial performance and reputation.

Our inability to attract and retain talented professionals may negatively affect our results of operation
and financial position.

Attracting and retaining talented professionals is a key element to our growth strategy. Our remuneration
schemes are guided by industry level negotiations between bank management represented by the Indian
Banks’ Association (“IBA”), and officers/ workmen represented by their respective unions. In addition to
such remuneration, we also offer our employees certain incentive such as bonus payments, as may be
approved by our Board. Our remuneration scheme is in accordance with industry level settlement formulated
by the IBA following negotiation with various unions or associations. The remuneration prevalent in the
public sector banks are similar except for perks which is determined by individual banks.

If the banking industry increasingly moves toward incentive-based pay schemes, attrition rates could increase
and we could be forced to alter our remuneration scheme. The resultant pressures may result in diminished
profitability, especially if rates of return do not experience a commensurate rise. An inability to attract and
retain such talented professionals or the resignation or loss of such professionals may have an adverse impact
on our business, future financial performance and trading price of the Equity Shares. In addition, we may
experience difficulties in managing our expanding workforce.

India’s existing credit information infrastructure may cause increased risks of loan defaults. We depend
on the accuracy and completeness of information furnished by the customers and counterparties and any
misrepresentation, errors or incompleteness of such information could cause our business to suffer.

Our principal business is providing financing to borrowers, including individuals, SMEs and MSMEs. The
credit risk of our borrowers may be higher than in other economies due to the higher uncertainty in our
regulatory, political and economic environment and the inability of our borrowers to adapt to global
technological advancements. Although India has credit information companies, adequate information
regarding loan servicing histories, particularly in respect of individuals and small businesses, is limited. In
the event that the reports of such credit information companies are not up-to-date, we may not be able to
accurately assess the creditworthiness of our borrower which may increase our risk of exposure to default
by borrower. Inadequate loan servicing histories for borrowers increase the risk of exposure and may lead to
an increase in our NPAs which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

We rely on information furnished by customers and counterparties while determining whether to extend
credit or to enter into other transactions with such customers and counterparties. Our financial condition and
results of operations could be negatively affected by relying on financial statements that do not comply with
generally accepted accounting principles or with other information that is materially misleading. We also
rely on credit ratings and bureau scores assigned to our customers. Our financial condition and results of
operations could be negatively impacted by such reliance on information that is inaccurate or materially
misleading.

Currently, India has four Credit Information Companies (“CICs”): (i) Credit Information Bureau (India)
Limited (“CIBIL”); (ii)) CRIF Highmark; (iii) Experian India; and (iv) Equifax India which provide Credit
Information Reports. Our Bank is member of all the four CICs. However, these CICs provide the reports on
borrower’s repayment history only. The difficulties associated with the inability to accurately assess the
value of collateral and to enforce rights in respect of collateral, along with the absence of such accurate
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statistical, corporate and financial information, may decrease the accuracy of our assessments of credit risk,
thereby increasing the likelihood of borrower default on our loan and decreasing the likelihood that we would
be able to enforce any security in respect of such a loan or that the relevant collateral will have a value
commensurate to such a loan. The absence of reliable information, including audited financial statements,
recognised debt rating reports and credit histories relating to our present and prospective corporate borrowers
or other customers makes the assessment of credit risk, including the valuation of collateral, more difficult,
especially for individuals and small businesses. The availability of accurate and comprehensive credit
information on retail customers and small businesses in India is more limited than for larger corporate
customers, which reduces our ability to accurately assess the credit risk associated with such lending. As a
result, higher credit risk may expose us to greater potential losses, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our insurance coverage may be inadequate to cover claims. If we incur substantial uninsured loss or loss
that exceeds our insurance coverage, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows,
results of operations and financial condition.

While we are covered by a range of insurance that we believe is consistent with industry practice in India to
cover risks associated with our business, we cannot assure you that the existing coverage will ensure our
Bank completely against all risks and losses that may arise in the future. We may not have insurance to cover
all of the risks associated with our business, as insurance coverage is either unavailable for certain risks or
is prohibitively expensive.

We cannot assure you that any claim under the insurance policies maintained by us will be honoured fully,
in part, on time, or at all. To the extent that we suffer any loss or damage that is not covered by insurance or
exceeds our insurance coverage, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could
be adversely affected. Any damage suffered by us in excess of such limited coverage amounts, or in respect
of uninsured events, not covered by such insurance policies will have to be borne by us. While there has
been no instance in the nine month period ended December 31, 2024 and the past three Fiscals where any
event occurred where we experienced losses exceeding our insurance coverage, we cannot assure you that
such instance will not arise in the future. Further, any damage or loss to our uninsured assets due to
unforeseen events such as natural disasters, accidents, thefts, or other incidents may impact our results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows and result in significant monetary losses

Our contingent liabilities could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations.

As of December 31, 2024, our Bank had contingent liabilities amounting to % 1,630,635.34 million. The
table below sets forth the details of contingent liabilities:

(Z in million)
Nine-month period ended Fiscal ended March 31,
Contingent Liabilities December 31,
g 2024 [ 2023 2024 | 2023 | 2022
(X in million)

Claims against our Bank not 75.34 25.41 48.79 4791 41.59
acknowledged as debts

Liability for partly paid investments 1.16 1.16 1.16 1.16 1.16

Liability on account on outstanding| 1,350,206.48| 1,709,683.99| 1,659,989.18 | 1,656,349.51| 687,717.48
forward exchange contracts

Guarantees given on behalf of| 150,451.29| 126,178.85 132,956.53 121,181.64| 131,193.82
constituents:

(a)  InlIndia 148,919.82| 124,528.52| 131,378.67| 117,464.03| 127,048.54

(b)  Outside India 1,531.47 1,650.33 1,577.86 3,717.61 4,145.28
Acceptances, endorsements and other 55,733.23 48,612.59 45,572.79 55,302.86 58,186.64
obligations

Other items for which the Bank is 74,167.85| 109,961.59 118,853.12| 128,431.41| 102,848.32
contingently liable

TOTAL 1,630,635.34 | 1,994,463.57 | 1,957,421.57 | 1,961,314.49| 979,989.01

Most of the liabilities have been incurred in the normal course of business. If these contingent liabilities were
to fully materialize or materialize at a level higher than we expect, it may materially and adversely impact
our business, financial conditions, result of operations and prospects. If we are unable to recover payment
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from our customers in respect of the commitments that we are called upon to fulfill, our business, financial
condition, cash flows, results of operations and prospects may be adversely impacted.

Any non-compliance with law or unsatisfactory service by the third-party service providers engaged by us
for certain services could have an adverse impact on our business and results of operations.

We enter into outsourcing arrangements with third party vendors, separate employees and independent
contractors, in compliance with the RBI guidelines on outsourcing. These vendors, employees and
contractors provide various services including, among others, ATM/ card related services, business
correspondents, facility management services related to information technology, software services and call
centre services. While we have not encountered any failures by third parties in performing their contractual
obligations of these services in the nine month period ended December 31, 2024 and the past three Fiscals,
we cannot assure that we will not be subject to such instances in the future.

We are also dependent on various vendors for certain non-core elements of our operations including
implementing IT infrastructure and hardware, branch roll-outs, networking, managing our data centre, and
back-up support for disaster recovery.

As a result of outsourcing such services, we are exposed to various risks including strategic, compliance,
operational, legal and contractual risks. Any failure by a service provider to provide a specified service or a
breach in security/ confidentiality or non-compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, may result in
financial loss or loss of reputation. We cannot assure you that there will be no disruptions in the provision
of such services or that these third parties will adhere to their contractual obligations. If there is a disruption
in the third-party services, or if the third-party service providers discontinue their service agreement with us,
our business, financial condition and results of operations will be adversely affected. In case of any dispute,
we cannot assure you that the terms of such agreements will not be breached, which may result in litigation
costs. Such additional cost, in addition to the cost of entering into agreements with third parties in the same
industry, may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The “Guidelines on Managing Risks and Code of Conduct in Outsourcing of Financial Services by Bank”
issued by the RBI places obligations on banks, its directors and senior management for ultimate
responsibility for the outsourced activity. Banks are required to provide prior approval for use of
subcontractors by outsourced vendor and to review the subcontracting arrangements and ensure that such
arrangements are compliant with aforementioned RBI guidelines. Legal risks, including actions being
undertaken by the RBI, if our third-party service providers act unethically or unlawfully, could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure or disruption of our IT systems may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

We have implemented various IT systems which covers key areas of our operations. Our ability to keep our
business operating depends on the proper and efficient operation and functioning and upgradation of various
IT systems, which are susceptible to malfunctions, disruptions and interruptions (including those due to
equipment damage, power outages, computer viruses and a range of other hardware, software and network
upgrade problems). Such malfunction or disruptions could cause economic losses for which we could be
held liable. While we have not faced any significant malfunction or disruptions or cyber frauds in the nine
month period ended December 31, 2024 and in the past three Fiscals, there can be no assurance that we
would not face such an instance in the future.

A failure of our information technology systems could also cause damage our reputation which could harm
our business. Any of these developments, alone or in combination, could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, a large-scale IT malfunction could lead to
disclosure of, and unauthorised access to, our sensitive information.

Further, unavailability of, or failure to retain, well trained employees capable of constantly servicing our IT
systems may lead to inefficiency or disruption of IT systems thereby adversely affecting our ability to operate
efficiently. Any failure or disruption in the operation of these systems or the loss of data due to such failure
or disruption (including due to human error or sabotage) may affect our business operations, which may
increase our costs and otherwise materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.
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RBI notified the Cyber Security Framework vide circular no. DBS. CO/CSITE/BC.11/33.01.001/2015-16
dated June 2, 2016. Failed security measures or failure to adhere with the cyber security policy under the
Cyber Security Framework issued by the RBI or inadequate focus in addressing major issues such as those
relating to implementation of risk management system, increase in reported frauds, absence of straight
through processing in critical systems and their integration with CBS, inadequate collateral management and
delayed compliance in implementing the observations of the risk assessment reports, could have a material
adverse effect on our business and operations, our future financial performance and the trading price of the
Equity Shares. Our Bank has ensured to put in place all the necessary control measures as required by the
RBI. Our audit department conducts annual audit of the same by external auditors to adhere with the Cyber
Security Framework issued by the RBI.

If we are covered by RBI guidelines relating to prompt corrective action then our business, future
financial performance and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

On November 2, 2021, the RBI revised the Prompt Corrective Action (“PCA”) framework for banks. When
the PCA framework is triggered, RBI has a range of discretionary actions it can take in addition to the
corrective actions mentioned in the PCA. These discretionary actions include conducting supervisory
meetings, conducting reviews, advising banks’ boards for altering business strategy, review of capital
planning, restricting staff expansion, removing of managerial persons and superseding the Board, as per the
classification of different risk threshold. If we trigger any risk threshold under the PCA framework, it could
materially and adversely affect our business, future financial performance and results of operations.

As the Gol controls a majority of our issued share capital, its public policy decisions may impact our
strategy and operations.

The Gol controls a majority of our Bank’s issued share capital. As of December 31, 2024, the President of
India, acting through the Ministry of Finance, Government of India, owned 96.38% of our Bank’s issued and
paid up share capital. As our Bank’s controlling shareholder, the Gol is able to exercise effective control
over our Bank. Although historically we have enjoyed certain autonomy from the Government of India in
the management of our affairs and strategic direction, as its controlling Shareholder, the Government of India
is able to exercise effective control over the Bank. Furthermore, the Chairman, Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer, the Executive Directors and certain other Directors are appointed by the Government of
India. Although our management runs the day-to-day operations, the Government of India may determine
material policies and implement such policies or schemes, as a majority and controlling Shareholder, without
the consent of the other Shareholders, as well as determine the outcome of any transaction or other matter
submitted to Shareholders for approval, except for those matters requiring a special resolution of the
Shareholders.

The Banking Companies Act mandates that the Gol’s shareholding in our Bank cannot fall below 51.00%.
This requirement could result in restrictions in our equity capital raising efforts as the Gol may not be able
to fund any further investments that would allow it simultaneously to maintain its stake at a minimum of
51.00% and seek funding from the capital markets. As the Indian economy grows, more businesses and
individuals will require capital financing. In order to meet and sustain increasing levels of growth in capital
demand, we will need to accrete our capital base, whether through organic growth or capital market financing
schemes. If we are unable to grow our capital base in step with demand, our business, financial prospects
and profitability may be materially and adversely affected. Further, the approval issued by the Department
of Financial Services, Ministry of Finance, Government of India to our Bank dated September 17, 2024 in
relation to the Issue.

We may fail to protect our intellectual property and are susceptible to litigation for infringement of
intellectual property rights in relation to such designs. This could materially and adversely affect our
reputation, results of operations and financial condition.

As on December 31, 2024, our Bank has 10 registered trademarks in India. The use of our registered
trademarks by third parties could adversely affect our reputation, which could in turn adversely affect our
business and results of operations. We may not be able to prevent infringement of our registered trademarks
and a passing off action may not provide sufficient protection until such time that this registration is granted.
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If our trademarks or other intellectual property are improperly used, the value and reputation of our brand and
sub-brands could be harmed. The measures we take to protect our intellectual property may not be adequate
to prevent unauthorized use of our intellectual property by third parties. Notwithstanding the precautions we
take to protect our intellectual property rights, it is possible that third parties may copy or otherwise infringe
upon our rights, which may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition. While we have not faced any instance in the nine month period ended December 31, 2024 and the
past three Fiscals, where we have failed to protect our intellectual property, however we cannot assure that
such failure may take place in the future. Any such failure could materially and adversely affect our reputation,
results of operations and financial condition.

Our Bank may not be successful in implementing its growth strategies or penetrating new markets.

Our Bank’s strategies may ultimately fail to contribute to our Bank’s growth or profitability and may
ultimately be unsuccessful. Even if such strategies are partially successful, our Bank cannot assure you that
it will be able to manage its growth effectively or fully deliver on its growth objectives. For further
information, see “QOur Business — Our Growth Strategies” on page 181.

Challenges that may result from our Bank’s growth strategies include our ability to, among other things:
e  manage efficiently the operations and employees of its expanding businesses;
e  maintain or grow its existing customer base;

e  develop the technology and infrastructure necessary for the digital platforms and offerings necessary
to compete effectively;

. assess the value, strengths and weaknesses of future investments;

e finance strategic investments;

e  align the current information technology systems adequately with those of a larger group;
e  apply risk management policy effectively to a larger group;

e  hire and train additional skilled personnel; and

e  manage a growing number of branch offices without over-committing management or losing key
personnel,

e cach of which would have a potential adverse effect on our Bank’s business and results of operations.

Our Bank may not be able to effectively manage this growth or achieve the desired profitability in the
expected time frame, if at all, or the expected improvement in indicators of financial performance from the
expansion. In addition, we also may fail to develop or retain the technical expertise required to operate and
develop these new digital solutions. To the extent that our Bank fails to meet required targets, develop and
launch new products or services successfully, it may lose any or all of the investments that it has made in
promoting them, and our Bank’s reputation with its customers could be harmed. Moreover, if our Bank’s
competitors are better able to anticipate the needs of individuals in its target market, our Bank could lose
market share and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Statistical and industry data in this Placement Document may be incomplete or unreliable.

Statistical and industry data used throughout this Placement Document has been obtained from various
government and industry publications. While we believe that the information contained has been obtained
from sources that are reliable, but neither we nor the Lead Managers have independently verified it and the
accuracy and completeness of this information is not guaranteed and its reliability cannot be assured. The
market and industry data used from these sources may have been reclassified by us for purposes of
presentation. In addition, market and industry data relating to India, its economy or its industries may be
produced on different bases from those used in other countries. As a result, data from other market sources
may not be comparable. The extent to which the market and industry data presented in this Placement
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Document is meaningful will depend upon the reader’s familiarity with and understanding of the
methodologies used in compiling such data. Statements from third parties that involve estimates are subject
to change, and actual amounts may differ materially from those included in this Placement Document. Such
data involves risks, uncertainties and numerous assumptions and is subject to change based on various
factors. Accordingly, investment decisions should not be based on such information.

52. Owur funding requirements and proposed deployment of the Net Proceeds are based on management
estimates and may be subject to change based on various factors, some of which are beyond our control.

We intend to use the Net Proceeds for the purposes described in “Use of Proceeds” on page 77 of this
Placement Document towards to utilize the Net Proceeds towards augmentation of Bank’s Tier-I capital base
to meet Bank’s future capital requirements and to support growth plans and to enhance the business of the
Bank.

As on the date of this Placement Document, our funding requirements are based on management estimates
in view of past expenditures and have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution. They are based
on current conditions and are subject to change in light of changes in external circumstances, costs, business
initiatives, other financial conditions or business strategies. While we will use the Net Proceeds towards
augmenting the Bank’s Tier I Capital to meet the Bank’s future capital requirements and to support growth
plans and to enhance the business of the Bank or any other purposes in the manner specified in “Use of
Proceeds” on page 77, the amount of Net Proceeds to be actually used will be based on our management’s
discretion. However, the deployment of the Net Proceeds will not be monitored by any monitoring agency.

Our internal management estimates may exceed fair market value or the value that would have been
determined by third-party appraisals, which may require us to reschedule or reallocate our capital
expenditure and may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows. We may have to reconsider our estimates or business plans due to changes in underlying factors,
some of which are beyond our control, such as interest rate fluctuations, changes in input cost, and other
financial and operational factors. Accordingly, prospective investors in the Issue will need to rely upon our
management’s judgment with respect to the use of Net Proceeds. If we are unable to deploy the Net Proceeds
in a timely or an efficient manner, it may affect our business and the results of operations.

RISKS IN RELATION TO DOING BUSINESS IN INDIA

53. A slowdown or downturn in economic growth in India could cause our business to suffer which may
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our performance and the growth of our business are necessarily dependent on the health of the overall Indian
economy. Any slowdown or perceived slowdown in the Indian economy or future volatility in global
commodity prices could adversely affect our business. Additionally, an increase in trade deficit, a
downgrading in India’s sovereign debt rating or a decline in India’s foreign exchange reserves could
negatively affect interest rates and liquidity, which could adversely affect the Indian economy and our
business. In particular, the COVID-19 pandemic caused an economic downturn in India and globally. Any
downturn in the macroeconomic environment in India could also adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

India’s economy could be adversely affected by a general rise in interest rates or inflation, adverse weather
conditions affecting agriculture, commodity and energy prices as well as various other factors. A slowdown
in the Indian economy could adversely affect the policy of the Gol towards our industry, which may in turn
adversely affect our financial performance and our ability to implement our business strategy.

The Indian economy is also influenced by economic and market conditions in other countries, particularly
emerging market conditions in Asia. A decline in India’s foreign exchange reserves and exchange rate
fluctuations may also affect liquidity and interest rates in the Indian economy, which could adversely impact
our financial condition. A loss of investor confidence in other emerging market economies or any worldwide
financial instability may adversely affect the Indian economy, which could materially and adversely affect
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Further, other factors which may adversely affect the Indian economy are scarcity of credit or other financing
in India, resulting in an adverse impact on economic conditions in India and scarcity of financing of our
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expansions; volatility in, and actual or perceived trends in trading activity on, India’s principal stock
exchanges; changes in India’s tax, trade, fiscal or monetary policies, like application of GST; political
instability, terrorism or military conflict in India or in countries in the region or globally, including in India’s
various neighbouring countries; occurrence of natural or man-made disasters; infectious disease outbreaks
or other serious public health concerns; prevailing regional or global economic conditions, including in
India’s principal export markets; and other significant regulatory or economic developments in or affecting
India or its financial services sectors.

Our business is affected by global economic conditions which may adversely affect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Indian market and the Indian economy are influenced by economic and market conditions in other
countries, particularly emerging market countries in Asia. Financial turmoil in Asia, U.S. and elsewhere in
the world in recent years has affected the Indian economy. Although economic conditions are different in
each country, investors’ reactions to developments in one country can have adverse effects on the securities
of companies in other countries, including India. A loss of investor confidence in the financial systems of
other emerging markets may cause increased volatility in Indian financial markets and, indirectly, in the
Indian economy in general. Any worldwide financial instability could also have a negative impact on the
Indian economy. Financial disruptions may occur again and could harm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The global credit and equity markets have experienced substantial dislocations, liquidity disruptions and
market corrections in recent years. Financial markets and the supply of credit could continue to be negatively
impacted by ongoing concerns surrounding the sovereign debts and/or fiscal deficits of several countries in
Europe, the possibility of further downgrades of, or defaults on, sovereign debt, concerns about a slowdown
in growth in certain economies and uncertainties regarding the stability and overall standing of the European
Monetary Union.

A loss of investor confidence in the financial systems of other emerging markets may cause increased
volatility in the Indian financial markets and indirectly in the Indian economy in general. Any worldwide
financial instability could influence the Indian economy. In response to such developments, legislators and
financial regulators in the United States, Europe and other jurisdictions, including India, have implemented
several policy measures designed to add stability to the financial markets. In addition, any increase in interest
rates by the United States Federal Reserve will lead to an increase in the borrowing costs in the United States
which may in turn impact global borrowing as well. Furthermore, in several parts of the world, there are
signs of increasing retreat from globalization of goods, services and people, as pressure for the introduction
of a protectionist regime is building and such developments could adversely affect Indian exports. However,
the overall impact of these and other legislative and regulatory efforts on the global financial markets is
uncertain, and they may not have the intended stabilizing effects. In the event that the current adverse
conditions in the global credit markets continue or if there is any significant financial disruption, this could
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In February 2022, hostilities between Russia and the Ukraine commenced, which has led stock, commodities
and foreign exchange markets worldwide to fluctuate. In addition, the market price of oil has risen sharply
since the commencement of hostilities in the Ukraine, which may have an inflationary effect in India and
other countries. A prolonged war or a protracted period of hostilities in the Ukraine may lead to global
economic disturbances.

If we are unable to successfully anticipate and respond to changing economic and market conditions, our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected.

Changing regulations in India could lead to new compliance requirements that are uncertain.

The regulatory and policy environment in which we operate is evolving and is subject to change. The Gol
may implement new laws or other regulations and policies that could affect our business in general, which
could lead to new compliance requirements, including requiring us to obtain approvals and licenses from the
Government and other regulatory bodies, or impose onerous requirements. Any change in the policies by the
government may impact our business growth due to a potential change in terms of such contracts which may
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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For instance, the Gol has recently introduced (a) the Code on Wages, 2019; (b) the Code on Social Security,
2020; (c) the Occupational Safety, Health and Working Conditions Code, 2020; and (d) the Industrial
Relations Code, 2020 which consolidate, subsume and replace numerous existing central labour legislations.
While the rules for implementation under these codes have not been notified, we are yet to determine the
impact of all or some such laws on our business and operations which may restrict our ability to grow our
business in the future and increase our expenses. In the absence of any precedents on the subject, the
application of these provisions is uncertain and may or may not have an adverse tax impact on us.

Uncertainty in the applicability, interpretation or implementation of any amendment to, or change in,
governing law, regulation or policy in the jurisdictions in which we operate, including by reason of an
absence, or a limited body, of administrative or judicial precedent may be time consuming as well as costly
for us to resolve and may impact the viability of our current business or restrict our ability to grow our
business in the future. We may incur increased costs and other burdens relating to compliance with such new
requirements, which may also require significant management time and other resources, and any failure to
comply may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Natural calamities, climate change and health epidemics and pandemics such as COVID-19 could
adversely affect the Indian economy and our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In
addition, hostilities, terrorist attacks, civil unrest and other acts of violence could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

India has experienced natural calamities, such as earthquakes and floods in recent years. Natural calamities
could have an adverse impact on the Indian economy which, in turn, could adversely affect our business, and
may damage or destroy our manufacturing facilities or other assets which are concentrated in one location.
Any of these natural calamities could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

A number of countries in Asia, including India, as well as countries in other parts of the world, are susceptible
to contagious diseases and, for example, have had confirmed cases of the highly pathogenic H7N9, HSN1
and HINI strains of influenza in birds and swine. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic, has caused a
worldwide health crisis and economic downturn. Any future outbreak of health epidemics may restrict the
level of business activity in affected areas, which may, in turn, adversely affect our business.

Our operations may be damaged or disrupted as a result of natural calamities. Such events may lead to the
disruption of information systems and telecommunication services for sustained periods. They also may
make it difficult or impossible for employees to reach our business locations. Damage or destruction that
interrupts our provision of services could adversely affect our reputation, our relationships with our
customers, our senior management team’s ability to administer and supervise our business or it may cause
us to incur substantial additional expenditure to repair or replace damaged equipment or rebuild parts of our
facilities. Any of the above factors may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

India has from time-to-time experienced instances of social, religious and civil unrest and hostilities between
neighbouring countries. In case there are mass protests leading to civil unrest, such incidents could impact
both our operations and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Present
relations between India and Pakistan continue to be fragile on the issues of terrorism, armaments and
Kashmir. In April 2019, skirmishes along India’s border with Pakistan and the downing of an Indian military
jet fighter plane significantly escalated tensions between the two countries. India has also experienced
terrorist attacks in some parts of the country. Military activity or terrorist attacks in the future could influence
the Indian economy by disrupting communications and making travel more difficult and such political
tensions could create a greater perception that investments in Indian companies involve higher degrees of
risk. Events of this nature in the future, as well as social and civil unrest within other countries in Asia, could
influence the Indian economy and could have a material adverse effect on the market for securities of Indian
companies.

Inflation in India could have an adverse effect on our profitability and if significant, on our financial
condition.

In recent months, consumer and wholesale prices in India have exhibited increased inflationary trends, as
the result of an increase in crude oil prices, higher international commodity prices, and higher domestic
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consumer and supplier prices. Continued high rates of inflation may increase our expenses related to salaries
or wages payable to our employees, raw materials and other expenses. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to pass on any additional expenses to our customers or that our revenue will increase
proportionately corresponding to such inflation. Accordingly, high rates of inflation in India could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Certain non-GAAP measures and certain other statistical information relating to our operations and
financial performance have been included in this Placement Document. These non-GAAP measures are
not measures of operating performance or liquidity defined by Indian GAAP and may not be comparable.

Certain non-GAAP financial measures and certain other statistical information relating to our operations and
financial performance have been included in this Placement Document. We compute and disclose such non-
GAAP financial measures and such other statistical information relating to our operations and financial
performance as we consider such information to be useful measures of our business and financial
performance and because such measures are frequently used by security analysts, investors and others to
evaluate the operational performance of companies in our industry, many of which provide such non-GAAP.

These non-GAAP measures are not a measurement of our financial performance or liquidity under Indian
GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or construed as an alternative to cash flows, profit/ (loss)
for the years or any other measure of financial performance or as an indicator of our operating performance,
liquidity, profitability or cash flows generated by operating, investing or financing activities derived in
accordance with Indian GAAP. In addition, these are not standardised terms, hence a direct comparison of
these non-GAAP measures between companies may not be possible. Other companies may calculate these
non-GAAP measures differently from us, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure. These non-GAAP
financial measures and other statistical and other information relating to our operations and financial
performance may not be computed on the basis of any standard methodology that is applicable across the
industry and therefore may not be comparable to financial measures and statistical information of similar
nomenclature that may be computed and presented by other companies and are not measures of operating
performance or liquidity defined by Indian GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
presented by other bank.

Significant differences exist between Indian GAAP, Ind AS and other accounting principles, such as U.S.
GAAP and IFRS, which may be material to the financial statements prepared and presented in accordance
with Ind AS contained in this Placement Document.

Our Unaudited Consolidated Financial Results as of, and for the nine months period ended December 31,
2024 and for the Fiscal ended and our Audited Consolidated Financial Statements as of, and for March 31,
2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 incorporated in this Placement Document have been prepared
and presented in accordance with Indian GAAP. Indian GAAP differs from Ind AS and accounting principles
with which prospective investors may be familiar in other countries, such as U.S. GAAP and IFRS.
Significant differences exist between Indian GAAP, Ind AS, U.S. GAAP and IFRS, which may be material
to the financial statements prepared and presented in accordance with Ind AS contained in this Placement
Document. Accordingly, the degree to which the financial information included in this Placement Document
will provide meaningful information is dependent on the prospective investor’s familiarity with Indian
GAAP. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Indian GAAP on the financial disclosures presented in this
Placement Document should accordingly be limited.

Any adverse change in India’s sovereign credit rating by international rating agencies could adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In November 2016, Standard & Poor’s, an international rating agency, reiterated its negative outlook on
India’s credit rating. It identified India’s high fiscal deficit and heavy debt burden as the most significant
constraints on its rating and recommended the implementation of reforms and containment of deficits.
Standard & Poor’s affirmed its outlook on India’s sovereign debt rating to “stable”, while reaffirming its
“BBB-" rating. In May 2017, Fitch, another international rating agency, affirmed India’s sovereign outlook
to “stable” and affirmed its rating as “BBB-". In November 2017, Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s’’)
upgraded the Sovereign Credit Rating of India to Baa2 from Baa3 and changed the outlook on the rating to
stable from positive. On June 1, 2020, Moody’s downgraded India’s sovereign rating to the lowest investment
grade and maintained the outlook from stable to negative. In October 2021, Moody’s affirmed India’s
sovereign rating to Baa3 with a stable outlook and it continues to be the same. Prior to the onset of the
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pandemic, India’s GDP growth slowed on account of existing vulnerabilities such as a weak financial sector
and subdued private investment. Going forward, the sovereign ratings outlook will remain dependent on
whether the government is able to transition the economy into a high-growth environment, as well as exercise
adequate fiscal restraint. Any adverse change in India’s credit ratings by international rating agencies may
adversely impact the Indian economy and consequently our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

The extent and reliability of Indian infrastructure, to the extent insufficient, could adversely impact our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

India’s physical infrastructure is less developed than that of many developed nations. Any congestion or
disruption with its port, rail and road networks, electricity grid, communication systems or any other public
facility could disrupt our normal business activity. Any deterioration of India’s physical infrastructure would
harm the national economy, disrupt the transportation of goods and supplies including our chemical products,
and add costs to doing business in India. These problems could interrupt our business operations, which
could have adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Foreign investors are subject to foreign investment restrictions under Indian laws which limit our ability
to attract foreign investors, which may adversely impact the market price of our Equity Shares.

Under the foreign exchange regulations currently in force in India, transfers of shares between non-residents
and residents are freely permitted (subject to certain restrictions) if they comply with the pricing guidelines
and reporting requirements specified by the RBI. If the transfer of shares, which are sought to be transferred,
is not in compliance with such pricing guidelines or reporting requirements or falls under any of the
exceptions referred to above, then the prior approval of the RBI will be required. Such regulatory restrictions
limit our financing sources and could constrain our ability to obtain financings on competitive terms and
refinance existing indebtedness. Additionally, shareholders who seek to convert the Indian Rupees proceeds
from a sale of shares in India into foreign currency and repatriate that foreign currency from India will require
a no objection/ tax clearance certificate from the income tax authority. We cannot assure investors that any
required approval from the RBI or any other Indian government agency can be obtained on any particular
terms, or at all. For further details, please see on “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions”
beginning on pages 239 and 246.

In terms of the Consolidated FDI Policy, issued by the Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal
Trade (“DPIIT”), the foreign direct investment policy has been recently amended to state that all investments
under the foreign direct investment route by entities of a country which shares land border with India or
where the beneficial owner of an investment into India is situated in or is a citizen of any such country will
require prior approval of the Gol. Further, in the event of a transfer of ownership of any existing or future
foreign direct investment in an entity in India, directly or indirectly, resulting in the beneficial ownership
falling within the aforesaid restriction/ purview, such subsequent change in the beneficial ownership will
also require approval of the Gol. Furthermore, on April 22, 2020, the Ministry of Finance, Gol has also made
a similar amendment to the FEMA Rules. While the term “beneficial owner” is defined under the Prevention
of Money-Laundering (Maintenance of Records) Rules, 2005, as amended and the General Financial Rules,
2017, as amended, neither the foreign direct investment policy nor the FEMA Rules provide a definition of
the term “beneficial owner”. The interpretation of “beneficial owner” and enforcement of this regulatory
change involves certain uncertainties, which may have an adverse effect on our ability to raise foreign capital.
Further, there is uncertainty regarding the timeline within which the said approval from the Gol may be
obtained, if at all.

It may not be possible for investors to enforce any judgment obtained outside India against us, the Lead
Manager or any of their directors and executive officers in India respectively, except by way of a lawsuit
in India.

Our Bank is incorporated and operates under the laws of India. Our Board of Directors comprises members
majority of whom are Indian citizens. All our Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management Personnel
are residents of India and majority of the assets of our Bank and such persons are located in India. As a
result, it may not be possible for investors outside India to effect service of process upon our Bank or such
persons in India, or to enforce against them judgments obtained in courts outside India.
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India has reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters with only a
limited number of jurisdictions, which includes, among others, the United Kingdom, Singapore, United Arab
Emirates and Hong Kong. In order to be enforceable, a judgment from a jurisdiction with reciprocity must
meet certain requirements of the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908, as amended. Judgments or decrees from
jurisdictions, which do not have reciprocal recognition with India, cannot be executed in India. Therefore, a
final judgment for the payment of money rendered by any court in a non-reciprocating territory for civil
liability, whether or not predicated solely upon the general laws of the non-reciprocating territory, would not
be enforceable in India. Even if an investor obtained a judgment in such a jurisdiction against us or our
officers or directors, it may be required to institute a new proceeding in India and obtain a decree from an
Indian court. However, the party in whose favour such final judgment is rendered may bring a new suit in a
competent court in India based on a final judgment that has been obtained in a non-reciprocating territory
within three years of obtaining such final judgment in the same manner as any other suit filed to enforce a
civil liability in India. If, and to the extent that, an Indian court were of the opinion that fairness and good
faith so required, it would, under current practice, give binding effect to the final judgment that had been
rendered in the non-reciprocating territory, unless such a judgment contravenes principles of public policy
in India. It is unlikely that an Indian court would award damages on the same basis or to the same extent as
was awarded in a final judgment rendered by a court in another jurisdiction if the Indian court believed that
the amount of damages awarded was excessive or inconsistent with Indian practice. In addition, any person
seeking to enforce a foreign judgment in India is required to obtain prior approval of the RBI to repatriate
any amount recovered pursuant to the execution of such a judgment.

64. Our business and activities may be regulated by the Competition Act and proceedings may be enforced
against us.

The Competition Act, 2002, of India, as amended (“Competition Act”), regulates practices having an
appreciable adverse effect on competition in the relevant market in India (“AAEC”). Under the Competition
Act, any formal or informal arrangement, understanding or action in concert, which causes or is likely to
cause an AAEC is considered void and may result in the imposition of substantial penalties. Further, any
agreement among competitors which directly or indirectly involves the determination of purchase or sale
prices, limits or controls production, supply, markets, technical development, investment or the provision of
services or shares the market or source of production or provision of services in any manner, including by
way of allocation of geographical area or number of consumers in the relevant market or directly or indirectly
results in bid-rigging or collusive bidding is presumed to have an AAEC and is considered void. The
Competition Act also prohibits abuse of a dominant position by any enterprise. If it is proved that the
contravention committed by an entity took place with the consent or connivance or is attributable to any
neglect on the part of, any director, manager, secretary or other officer of such entity, that person shall be
also guilty of the contravention and may be punished.

Further, the Competitive Commission of India (“CCI”) has extra-territorial powers and can investigate any
agreements, abusive conduct or combination occurring outside India if such agreement, conduct or
combination has an AAEC in India. However, the impact of the provisions of the Competition Act on the
agreements entered into by us cannot be predicted with certainty at this stage. In the event we pursue an
acquisition in the future, we may be affected, directly or indirectly, by the application or interpretation of
any provision of the Competition Act, or any enforcement proceedings initiated by the CCI, or any adverse
publicity that may be generated due to scrutiny or prosecution by the CCI or if any prohibition or substantial
penalties are levied under the Competition Act, it would adversely affect our business, results of operations,
cash flows and prospects. The manner in which the Competition Act and the CCI affect the business
environment in India may also adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and
cash flows.

The Competition (Amendment) Act, 2023 (“Competition Amendment Act”) was recently notified. The
Competition Amendment Act amends the Competition Act and gives the CCI additional powers to prevent
practices that harm competition and the interests of consumers. The Competition Amendment Act, inter alia,
modifies the scope of certain factors used to determine AAEC, reduces the overall time limit for the
assessment of combinations by the CCI from 210 days to 150 days and empowers the CCI to impose penalties
based on the global turnover of entities, for anti-competitive agreements and abuse of dominant position.

RISKS IN RELATION TO OUR EQUITY SHARES AND THE ISSUE
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An investor will not be able to sell any of the Equity Shares other than on a recognized Indian stock
exchange for a period of 12 months from the date of this Issue.

The Equity Shares are subject to restrictions on transfers. Pursuant to the SEBI ICDR Regulations, for a
period of 12 months from the date of the Issue of the Equity Shares, Eligible QIBs subscribing to the Equity
Shares may only sell their Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges and may not enter into any off-market
trading in respect of these Equity Shares. We cannot be certain that these restrictions will not have an impact
on the price and liquidity of the Equity Shares.

The price of the Equity Shares may be volatile.

The trading price of our Equity Shares may fluctuate after this Issue due to a variety of factors, including our
results of operations and the performance of our business, competitive conditions, general economic,
political and social factors, the performance of the Indian and global economy and significant developments
in India’s fiscal regime, volatility in the Indian and global securities market, performance of our competitors,
changes in the estimates of our performance or recommendations by financial analysts and announcements
by us or others regarding contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital
commitments. In addition, if the stock markets in general experience a loss of investor confidence, the trading
price of our Equity Shares could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, results of operations and
financial condition. The trading price of our Equity Shares might also decline in reaction to events that affect
other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us. Each of these factors, among
others, could adversely affect the price of our Equity Shares.

Investors will be subject to market risks until the Equity Shares credited to the investor’s demat account
are listed and permitted to trade.

Investors can start trading the Equity Shares allotted to them only after they have been credited to an
investor’s demat account, are listed and permitted to trade. Since the Equity Shares are currently traded on
BSE and NSE, investors will be subject to market risk from the date they pay for the Equity Shares to the
date when trading approval is granted for the same. Further, there can be no assurance that the Equity Shares
allocated to an investor will be credited to the investor’s demat account in a timely manner or that trading in
the Equity Shares will commence in a timely manner.

Applicants to this Issue are not allowed to withdraw or revise downwards their Bids after the Bid/ Issue
Closing Date.

In terms of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, applicants in this Issue are not allowed to withdraw their Bids after
the Bid/Issue Closing Date. The Allotment of Equity Shares in this Issue and the credit of such Equity Shares
to the applicant’s demat account with depository participant could take approximately seven days and up to
10 days from the Bid/Issue Closing Date. However, there is no assurance that material adverse changes in
the international or national monetary, financial, political or economic conditions or other events in the nature
of force majeure, material adverse changes in our business, results of operations and financial condition, or
other events affecting the applicant’s decision to invest in the Equity Shares, would not arise between the
Bid/ Issue Closing Date and the date of Allotment of Equity Shares in this Issue. Occurrence of any such
events after the Bid/Issue Closing Date could also impact the market price of the Equity Shares. The
applicants shall not have the right to withdraw their Bids in the event of any such occurrence. Our Bank may
complete the Allotment of the Equity Shares even if such events may limit the applicants’ ability to sell the
Equity Shares after the Issue or cause the trading price of the Equity Shares to decline.

Investors may be subject to Indian taxes arising out of capital gains on the sale of our Equity Shares.

Under current Indian tax laws, unless specifically exempted, capital gains arising from the sale of equity
shares in an Indian company are generally taxable in India. A securities transaction tax (“STT”) is levied on
and collected by an Indian stock exchange on which equity shares are sold. Any capital gains exceeding
125,000, realized on the sale of listed equity shares held for more than 12 months may be subject to long
term capital gains tax in India at the rate of 12.5% (plus applicable surcharge and health and education cess).
This beneficial provision is, inter alia, subject to payment of STT. The exemption of *125,000 will not apply
if the listed equity shares are sold using any platform other than a recognized stock exchange and on which
no STT has been paid. Further, any gain realized on the sale of listed equity shares held for a period of 12
months or less immediately preceding the date of transfer will be subject to short-term capital gains tax in
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India at the rate of 20% (plus applicable surcharge and health and education cess), subject to STT being paid
at the time of sale of such shares. Otherwise, such gains will be taxed at the applicable rates. Non-resident
investors may claim relief under the beneficial provisions, if any, of the treaty between India and the country
of which such investor is resident, read with the Multilateral Instrument, if and to the extent applicable.
However, generally, Indian tax treaties do not limit India’s right to impose a tax on capital gains arising from
the sale of shares of an Indian company. As a result, non-resident investors may be liable for tax in India as
well as in their own jurisdiction on a gain realized upon the sale of equity shares. They may, however, be
eligible for tax credit in their home country as per the law prevailing in the home country. Investors should
consult their own tax advisors about the consequences of investing or trading in the Equity Shares..

Our Equity Shares are quoted in Indian Rupees in India and investors may be subject to potential losses
arising out of exchange rate risk on the Indian Rupees and risks associated with the conversion of Indian
rupee proceeds into foreign currency.

Investors are subject to currency fluctuation risk and convertibility risk since our Equity Shares are quoted
in Indian Rupees on the Indian stock exchanges on which they are listed. Dividends on the Equity Shares
will also be paid in Indian Rupees. In addition, foreign investors that seek to sell Equity Shares will have to
obtain approval from the RBI, unless the sale is made on a stock exchange or in connection with an offer
made under regulations regarding takeovers. The volatility of the Indian Rupees against the US dollar and
other currencies may subject investors who convert funds into Indian Rupees to purchase our Equity Shares
to currency fluctuation risks.

Foreign investors are subject to foreign investment restrictions under Indian law that limit our ability to
attract foreign investors, which may adversely affect the trading price of our Equity Shares.

Under the foreign exchange regulations currently in force in India, transfers of shares between non-residents
and residents are freely permitted (subject to certain exceptions) if they comply with the requirements
specified by the RBI. If the transfer of shares is not in compliance with such requirements or falls under any
of the specified exceptions, then prior approval of the RBI will be required. In addition, shareholders who
seek to convert the Indian Rupees proceeds from a sale of shares in India into foreign currency and repatriate
that foreign currency from India will require a no-objection or tax clearance certificate from the income tax
authority. Additionally, the Indian government may impose foreign exchange restrictions in certain
emergency situations, including situations where there are sudden fluctuations in interest rates or exchange
rates, where the Indian government experiences extreme difficulty in stabilizing the balance of payments or
where there are substantial disturbances in the financial and capital markets in India. These restrictions may
require foreign investors to obtain the Indian government’s approval before acquiring Indian securities or
repatriating the interest or dividends from those securities or the proceeds from the sale of those securities.
There can be no assurance that any approval required from the RBI or any other government agency can be
obtained on any particular terms or at all.
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MARKET PRICE INFORMATION

As of the date of this Placement Document, 18,902,412,256 Equity Shares of our Bank are issued, subscribed and
fully paid up.

On March 21, 2025, the closing price of Equity Shares on BSE and NSE was % 43.53 and X 43.56 per Equity
Share, respectively. Since the Equity Shares are available for trading on BSE and NSE, the market price and other
information for BSE and NSE has been given separately.

(1) The following tables set forth the reported high, low and average market prices and the trading volumes of
the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges on the dates on which such high and low prices were recorded for
Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022:

BSE
Total Total
Number of| turnover Number of| turnover
Equity | of Equity Equity | of Equity | Average
. . Date of Shares Shares Date of Shares Shares rice for
LG High ®) high traded on | traded on Low ) low traded on | traded on ltJhe year
the date of | date of the date of |date of low (€3]
high high R low R
millions) millions)
2024 79.73107/02/2024|30,416,989| 2,272.15 22.64|10/04/2023| 1,587,273 36.15 38.79
2023 34.75]15/12/2022| 19,552,790 679.71 15.35{20/06/2022 383,736 5.99 21.18
2022 28.05/30/06/2021| 10,018,442 277.59 15.55[03/05/2021 578,842 8.95 20.36
(Source: www.bseindia.com)
Notes:

1. High, low and average prices are based on the daily closing prices.
2. In the case of a year, average represents the average of the closing prices of all trading days of each year presented.
3. In case of two days with the same high or low price, the date with the higher volume has been chosen.

NSE
Total Total
Number of| turnover Number of| turnover
Equity | of Equity Equity | of Equity | Average
. . Date of Shares Shares Date of Shares Shares | price for
Fiscal High ) high traded on | traded on Low ®) low traded on | traded on | the year
the date of | date of the date of |date of low (€3]
high high R low R
millions) millions)
2024 79.65|07/02/2024|379,528,75| 28,439.14 22.65(10/04/2023| 5,319,021 121.16 38.78
4
2023 34.75|15/12/2022|284,921,01| 9,918.49 15.35/20/06/2022| 1,523,828 23.81 21.18
5
2022 28.05|30/06/2021 | 89,616,855| 2,491.81 15.55/03/05/2021| 5,303,824 82.01 20.36
(Source: www.nseindia.com)
Notes:

1. High, low and average prices are based on the daily closing prices.
2. In the case of a year, average represents the average of the closing prices of all trading days of each year presented.
3. In case of two days with the same high or low price, the date with the higher volume has been chosen.
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The following table sets forth the details of the number of Equity Shares traded on the Stock Exchanges and the turnover during Fiscals 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Fiscal Number of Equity Shares Traded Turnover (< in million)

BSE NSE BSE NSE
2024 988,774,118 9,102,687,348 42,816.60 414,256.87
2023 625,175,389 5,458,253,922 17,453.75 156,985.35
2022 439,152,729 3,026,986,005 9,437.44 64,530.70

(Source: www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com)

(i) The following tables set forth the reported high, low and average market prices and the trading volumes of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges on the dates on which
such high and low prices were recorded during each of the last six months:

BSE
Total Equity Shares traded in the
Total
Number of | turnover of month
5 A Number of | turnover of .
Equity Equity Equit Equi Average price
Month High %) Date of high |Shares traded|Shares traded| Low (%) Date of low quity quity for the month .
Shares traded |Shares traded Turnover (X in
on date of on date of ® Volume e
. . on date of low|on date of low millions)
high high (X millions)
(R in millions)

February, 51.47| 05/02/2025 505,138 25.93 43.54| 28/02/2025 626,091 27.47 47.75 8,552,717 407.16
2025

January, 2025 54.11] 14/01/2025 1,400,837 72.35 45.38| 13/01/2025 409,507 19.06 50.55 14,098,330 714.04
December, 58.98| 04/12/2024 2,395,621 138.23 50.56| 30/12/2024 252,476 12.85 54.61 14,763,724 824.09
2024

November, 55.13] 06/11/2024 573,699 31.38 49.27| 13/11/2024 383,813 19.20 52.40 10,029,393 527.36
2024

October, 2024 57.62| 01/10/2024 181,856 10.50 50.14| 25/10/2024 638,207 32.10 53.86 10,922,326 585.88
September, 61.04| 23/09/2024 2,285,042 137.86 57.29| 09/09/2024 1,147,728 65.54 58.82 14,247,590 840.54
2024

(Source: www.bseindia.com)

Notes:

1. High, low and average prices are based on the daily closing prices.
2. In the case of a year, average represents the average of the closing prices of all trading days of each year presented.
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3. In case of two days with the same high or low price, the date with the higher volume has been chosen.

NSE
Total Equity Shares traded in the
Total
Number of | turnover of month
. q Number of | turnover of .
Equity Equity Equit Equit Average price
Month High (%) Date of high |Shares traded|Shares traded Low ) Date of low quity quity for the month .
Shares traded |Shares traded Turnover R in
on date of on date of ® Volume oy
. . on date of low|on date of low millions)
high high (X millions)
(X in millions)

February, 51.43] 05/02/2025 9,836,644 505.41 43.53| 28/02/2025 3,898,293 171.25 47.74 80,184,663 3,859.85
2025

January, 2025 53.77| 14/01/2025 25,580,989 1,322.95 45.45] 13/01/2025 7,160,861 332.52 50.53 194,322,222 9,877.94

December, 58.97| 04/12/2024 47,725,663 2,762.44 50.58| 30/12/2024 4,383,524 223.31 54.62 201,639,448 11,380.16
2024

November, 55.11] 06/11/2024 5,204,537 284.84 49.32| 13/11/2024 5,350,849 267.68 52.41 113,595,887 5,975.12
2024

October, 2024 57.53] 01/10/2024 4,093,769 236.19 50.22| 25/10/2024 7,301,659 366.40 53.87 148,969,118 7,999.15

September, 61.05| 23/09/2024 20,391,748 1,230.59 57.26| 09/09/2024 6,623,395 378.23 58.82 145,507,930 8,590.15
2024

Notes:

1. High, low and average prices are based on the daily closing prices.
2. In the case of a year, average represents the average of the closing prices of all trading days of each year presented.
3. In case of two days with the same high or low price, the date with the higher turnover has been chosen.

(iii))  The following table sets forth the market price on the Stock Exchanges on April 23, 2024 being the first working day following the approval of our Board for the
Issue:
BSE
Open High Low Close Number of Equity Shares traded Volume (X millions)
64.26 64.56 63.20 63.40 802,206 51.18
(Source: www.bseindia.com)
NSE
Open High Low Close Number of Equity Shares traded Volume (X millions)
64.50 63.15 63.35 11,000,303 701.76 64.50

(Source: www.nseindia.com)
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USE OF PROCEEDS
The gross proceeds from the Issue are X 14,368.98 million. Subject to compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, the net proceeds from the Issue, after deducting fees, commissions and expenses of the Issue from the
aggregate proceeds of the Issue, are expected to be approximately X 14,294.30 million (“Net Proceeds”).
Purpose of Funds and Utilization of Net Proceeds
Subject to compliance with applicable laws, our Bank intends to utilize the Net Proceeds towards augmentation
of Bank’s Tier-I capital base to meet Bank’s future capital requirements and to support growth plans and to
enhance the business of the Bank.
Schedule of deployment of funds
Our Bank currently proposes to deploy the Net Proceeds in the aforesaid object in Fiscal 2026.

Monitoring of utilization of funds

In terms of the proviso to Regulation 173A(1) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, our Bank is not required to appoint
a monitoring agency for this Issue.

Other Confirmations

The Net Proceeds are proposed to be deployed towards the purpose set out above and are not proposed to be
utilized towards any specific project. Accordingly, the requirement to disclose (i) the break-up of cost of the
project (ii) means of financing such project, and (iii) proposed deployment status of the proceeds at each stage of

the project, is not applicable.

None of our Directors are making any contribution either as part of the Issue or separately in furtherance of the
objects of the Issue.
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CAPITALISATION STATEMENT

The following table sets forth our Bank’s capitalization (on a consolidated basis) on an actual basis as at December
31, 2024 which has been extracted from our Unaudited Consolidated Financial Results, and as adjusted to give
effect to the receipt of the gross proceeds of the Issue. This table should be read in conjunction with the sections
titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
“Financial Statements” beginning on pages 80 and 281, respectively.

(% in million)
Particulars Pre-Issue (as at December Post-Issue as adjusted
31,2024
Current borrowing:
Secured 109,995.02 109,995.02
Unsecured 161,305.75 161,305.75
Non-current  borrowing  (including  current
maturities of long-term debt):
Secured 120,890.84 120,890.84
Unsecured 38,775.08 38,775.08
Total borrowing (a) 430,996.69 430,996.69
Shareholders’ funds:
Share capital 189,024.12 192,565.90
Securities premium 85,579.01 96,406.22
Reserves and surplus (excluding securities premium) 103,583.50 103,582.50
Non- controlling Interest 0 0
Shareholders’ funds (excluding borrowings) (b) 378,186.63 392,554.62
Total capitalization (a + b) 809,183.32 823,551.31
Current Borrowing / Shareholders Funds 0.72 0.69
Total Borrowing / Shareholders Funds 1.14 1.09

Note:
(1)  As adjusted to reflect the number of Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Issue and proceeds from the Issue. Adjustments do not include
Issue related expenses.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration and payment of dividends will be recommended by our Board and approved by our Shareholders,
at their discretion, subject to the provisions of the Banking Regulation Act and regulations made thereunder, the
RBI has laid down certain guidelines on the declaration of dividends by banks pursuant to RBI Circular
(RBI/2004-05/451DBOD.NO.BP.BC.88/21.02.067/2004-05) dated May 4, 2005 on declaration of dividends by
banks (“RBI Dividend Circular”). Our Bank follows the Banking Regulation Act, the RBI Dividend Circular
and Regulation 43A of the SEBI Listing Regulations in this regard.

For eligibility criteria for declaration of dividend in terms of the RBI Dividend Circular, see “Key Regulations
and Policies” beginning on page 206 and “Description of the Equity Shares — Declaration of Dividend” on page
254. For a summary of certain Indian tax consequences of dividend distributions to sharcholders, see “Taxation”
beginning on page 256.

Further, the payment of dividends by banks is subject to restrictions under the Banking Regulation Act. Section
15(1) of the Banking Regulation Act states that no banking company shall pay any dividend on its shares until all
its capitalized expenses (including preliminary expenses, organisation expenses, share-selling commission,
brokerage, amounts of losses incurred and any other item of expenditure not represented by tangible assets) have
been completely written off. In addition, Section 17(1) of the Banking Regulation Act requires every banking
company to create a reserve fund and, transfer out of the balance of profit of each year as disclosed in the profit
and loss account, a sum equivalent to not less than 20% of such profit to the reserve fund before declaring any
dividend.

In addition, vide RBI Master Direction on Financial Statements — Presentation and Disclosures dated August 30,
2021, Commercial Banks (excluding LABs and RRBs) are required to transfer not less than 25 per cent of ‘net
profit’ before appropriations to the Statutory Reserve.

Our Bank has not paid any dividend in the nine month period ended December 31, 2024 and for the Fiscals 2024,
2023 and 2022.

Investors are cautioned not to rely on past dividends as an indication of the future performance of our Bank or for
an investment in the Equity Shares offered in the Issue. The amounts paid as dividends in the past are not
necessarily indicative of the dividend amounts, if any, in the future. There is no guarantee that any dividends will
be declared or paid in the future or that the amount thereof will not be decreased.

The Equity Shares to be issued in connection with this Issue shall qualify for dividend including interim dividend,
if any, that is declared and record date thereof occurs after the Allotment. See “Description of the Equity Shares”
beginning on page 253. For a summary of some of the restrictions that may inhibit our ability to declare or pay
dividends, see “Risk Factor — Risks relating to our business — Our ability to pay dividends in the future will
depend upon applicable RBI regulations, our earnings, financial condition and capital requirements. Any
inability to declare dividend may adversely affect the trading price of our Equity Shares.” on page 57.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion is intended to convey our management'’s perspective on our financial condition and
operating performance for the nine month period ended December 31, 2024 and as at and for the Fiscals 2024,
2023 and 2022, including the notes thereto and reports thereon, each included in this document, and our
assessment of the factors that may affect our prospects and performance in future periods. Our fiscal year ends
on March 31 of each year, and references to a particular fiscal are to the twelve months ended March 31 of that
year. Unless otherwise stated, or the context otherwise requires, the financial information used in this section is
derived from our Unaudited Standalone Financial Results and the Audited Standalone Financial Statements
included in this Placement Document in “Financial Statements” beginning on page 281. The degree to which
the financial information prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP will provide meaningful information is
entirely dependent on the reader's level of familiarity with Indian GAAP. Any reliance by persons not familiar
with Indian accounting practices on the financial disclosures presented in this Placement Document should
accordingly be limited.

Some of the information in the following section, especially information with respect to our plans and strategies,
contain certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read the chapter
“Forward-Looking Statements” beginning on page 19. Our actual results may differ materially from those
expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements. For a discussion of the risks and uncertainties
related to those statements and the section “Risk Factors” beginning on page 38.

We have included certain non-GAAP financial measures and other performance indicators relating to our
financial performance and business in this Placement Document, each of which is a supplemental measure of our
performance and liquidity and not required by, or presented in accordance with Indian GAAP. Furthermore, such
measures and indicators are not defined under Indian GAAP, and therefore should not be viewed as substitutes
for performance, liquidity or profitability measures under such accounting standards. In addition, such measures
and indicators, are not standardised terms, hence a direct comparison of these measures and indicators between
banks may not be possible. Other banks may calculate these measures and indicators differently from us, limiting
their usefulness as a comparative measure. Although such measures and indicators are not a measure of
performance calculated in accordance with applicable accounting standards, our management believes that they
are useful to an investor in evaluating our operating performance.

Unless otherwise indicated, industry and market data used in this section has been derived from industry
publications and other publicly available information, and includes extracts from publicly available documents
from various sources, including officially prepared materials from the Government of India (the “Gol”) and its
various ministries, the Reserve Bank of India and Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation, and has
not been prepared or independently verified by our Bank, the Lead Managers or any of their affiliates or advisers.

Unless otherwise stated, references to “the Bank” or “our Bank”, are to Indian Overseas Bank on a standalone

LIS FET]

basis and references to “we”, “us”, “our”, are to our Bank on a consolidated basis.
OVERVIEW

For details in relation to our business overview, strengths, strategies and business operations, please see “QOur
Business” beginning on page 176.

SIGNIFICANT FACTORS AFFECTING OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

We believe that the following factors have significantly affected our results of operations and financial condition
during the periods under review, and may continue to affect our results of operations and financial condition in
the future:

Macroeconomic environment
As a bank with significant operations in India, the Bank’s financial position and results of operations have been
and will continue to be significantly affected by overall economic growth patterns in India. The Indian economy

is exhibiting steady growth, underpinned by solid macroeconomic fundamentals and strong domestic growth
drivers. The domestic financial system is demonstrating resilience, supported by healthy balance sheets of banks
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and non-banks, and fortified by strong capital buffers, robust earnings and improving asset quality. (Source: RBI
— Financial Stability Report December 2024). Strong economic growth tends to positively impact our Bank’s
results of operations, since it can cause businesses to plan and invest more confidently, in turn driving stronger
demand for bank credit as well as other banking products and services that our Bank offers. The fiscal policy
adopted also contributes to our Bank’s results of operations. Stronger economic growth also generally increases
the interest income that our Bank is able to generate from the loans it offers and tends to improve the overall
creditworthiness of our Bank’s customers.

Economic growth in India is also influenced by inflation. The level of inflation may limit monetary easing or
cause monetary tightening by the RBI. In periods of high rates of inflation, the Bank’s costs, such as operating
expenses, may increase, which could have an adverse effect on the Bank's results of operations. Inflation may also
have a bearing on the overall interest rates which may adversely affect our net interest income. For further
information, see “Risk Factors — Risks in relation to doing business in India — A slowdown or downturn in
economic growth in India could cause our business to suffer which may adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.” on page 66.

NPA levels and provisioning

The quality of our Bank’s portfolio of loan assets, in other words, the likelihood that its loans will be repaid in
full and on time, is a fundamental driver of its financial performance. Our Bank uses a range of tools to monitor
and account for the effect of loans that may not be repaid. In accordance with RBI guidelines, loans are classified
as either performing or non-performing.

A non-performing asset is a loan or an advance where: (i) interest and/or instalment of principal remains overdue
for a period of more than 90 days in respect of a term loan; (ii) the account remains “out of order” in respect of an
overdraft or cash credit; (iii) the bill remains overdue for a period of more than 90 days in the case of bills
purchased and discounted; (iv) the instalment of principal or interest thereon remains overdue for two crop seasons
for short duration crops; (v) the instalment of principal or interest thereon remains overdue for one crop season
for long duration crops; (vi) the amount of liquidity facility remains outstanding for more than 90 days, in respect
of a securitization transaction undertaken in terms of Reserve Bank of India (Securitisation of Standard Assets)
Directions, 2021; or (vii) in respect of derivative transactions, the overdue receivables representing positive mark-
to-market value of a derivative contract, if these remain unpaid for a period of 90 days from the specified due date
for payment. According to guidelines specified by RBI in April 2023, an account should be classified as an NPA
on the basis of the record of recovery and not merely on deficiencies which are temporary in nature, such as
nonrenewal of limits on the due date or non-submission of stock statements. Under the RBI guidelines, NPAs are
further classified into “Sub-Standard”, “Doubtful” and “Loss” assets based on the age of arrears and whether
actual loss has been identified.

The RBI has increasingly imposed greater focus and stricter standards on identifying and disclosing NPAs. Our
Bank’s NPA levels directly affect profitability, primarily through the provisions that it is required to recognize to
account for the estimated losses it expects to incur on those loan assets. These provisions are recorded on the
Bank's profit and loss account for the period in which they are incurred, reducing profit. The RBI requires banks
to apply minimum provisioning requirements across their portfolio of NPAs, which consider the classification of
the NPA and whether it is secured. Our Bank complies with these guidelines, as well as any stricter requirements
in the foreign jurisdictions in which it operates. In addition, they may make additional specific provisions where
it believes they are required to reflect anticipated losses.

For further details on our Bank’s management of NPAs, NPA portfolio and provisions for NPAs, see “Select
Statistical Information — Non Performing Assets” on page 141.

Capital adequacy, liquidity requirements and reserve ratios

The Basel III framework on ‘Liquidity Standards’ includes ‘Liquidity Coverage Ratio’, ‘Net Stable Funding
Ratio’ (“NSFR”) and liquidity risk monitoring tools. In June, 2014, the RBI issued guidelines in relation to
liquidity coverage ratio (“LCR”), liquidity risk monitoring tools and LCR disclosure standards pursuant to the
publication of the ‘Basel III: The Liquidity Coverage Ratio and liquidity risk monitoring tools’ in January, 2013
and the ‘Liquidity Coverage Ratio Disclosure Standards’ in January, 2014 by the Basel Committee which provided
enhanced guidance on liquidity, risk governance, measurement, monitoring and reporting to the RBI on liquidity
positions. The guidelines stipulate that banks were to ensure an LCR of 60% for 2015 with effect from January 1,
2015, minimum 90% with effect from January 1, 2018 and were expected to make a transition to an LCR of 100%
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on January 1, 2019. In order to accommodate the burden on banks’ cash flows on account of the COVID-19
pandemic, RBI issued a notification dated April 17, 2020, permitting banks to maintain LCR as set forth below:

From date of circular to September 30, 2020 80%
October 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021 90%
April 1, 2021 onwards 100%

The LCR measures a bank’s ability to manage and survive for 30 days under a significant stress scenario that
combines idiosyncratic as well as market-wide shock situations that would result in accelerated withdrawal of
deposits from retail as well as wholesale depositors, partial loss of secured funding, increase in collateral
requirements and unscheduled drawdowns of unused credit lines. At least 60% of the net cash outflows in the next
30 days, computed with these assumptions of a stressed scenario, are required to be supported by High Quality
Liquid Assets (“HQLA”). Further, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision issued the final rules on ‘Net
Stable Funding Ratio’ on October 31, 2014 and RBI issued the guidelines on NSFR on May 17, 2018 with the
objective to ensure that banks maintain a stable funding profile in relation to the composition of their assets and
off- balance sheet activities. RBI had published a circular dated November 29, 2018, notifying that the NSFR
guidelines shall come into effect from April 1, 2020. RBI had published a circular dated March 27, 2020, which
deferred to the implementation.

As of December 31, 2024, the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio was 16.97% as per Basel 111 comprising Tier I capital
of % 226,013.40 million and Tier II capital of ¥ 41,702.00 million. Although it currently exceeds the applicable
capital adequacy requirements, adverse developments could affect our Bank’s ability to satisfy these requirements
in the future, including deterioration in asset quality, decline in the value of investments and inability to meet any
regulatory requirements or changes. The regulatory minimum CET1, including capital conservation buffer, is 8%
with effect from March 31, 2020.

Our Bank’s profit may be affected by the amount of its provisions against loans. Banks are required to disclose
the provisioning coverage ratio in the notes to accounts to their balance sheet. For further information, see “Risk
Factors — Risk relating to our business — We are subject to capital adequacy norms and are required to maintain
a capital-to-risk asset ratio (“CRAR”) at the minimum level required by RBI for domestic banks. Any inability
to maintain adequate capital due to change in regulations or lack of access to capital or otherwise could
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.” on page 51.

Regulatory measures and reforms

The banking industry in India is subject to extensive regulations issued by Governmental organizations and
regulatory bodies including the RBI, SEBI and the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority, and self-
regulatory organisations. These regulations cover various aspects such as loans and advances, investments,
deposits, risk management, foreign investment, corporate governance and market conduct, customer protection,
foreign exchange management, capital adequacy, margin requirements, know-your customer and anti-money
laundering, and provisioning for NPAs. The RBI also prescribes required levels of lending to “priority sectors”
such as agriculture, which may expose us to higher levels of risk than we may otherwise face.

Since 2013, the Gol has introduced various economic reforms intended to provide increased control and
transparency in the banking and financial services industry. In order to strengthen banks’ ability to effectively
resolve stressed assets and enhance transparency, the RBI has issued guidelines on the sale of stressed assets by
banks and introduced measures to deal with stressed assets. These guidelines require banks to identify the specific
financial assets identified for sale to other institutions, including securitisation companies/ reconstruction
companies.

Basel I1I reforms are the response of Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (“BCBS”) to improve the banking
sector’s ability to absorb shocks arising from financial and economic stress, whatever the source, thus reducing
the risk of spill over from the financial sector to the real economy. Basel I1I reforms strengthen the bank-level i.e.
micro prudential regulation, with the intention to raise the resilience of individual banking institutions in periods
of stress. Besides, the reforms have a macro prudential focus also, addressing system wide risks, which can build
up across the banking sector, as well as the pro cyclical amplification of these risks over time.

Monetary policy is heavily influenced by the condition of the Indian economy, and changes in the monetary policy

affect the interest rates of advances and deposits. The RBI responds to fluctuating levels of economic growth,
liquidity concerns and inflationary pressures in the economy by adjusting its monetary policy. A monetary policy
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designed to combat inflation typically results in an increase in RBI lending rates. Further, in addition to having
gradually established more stringent capital adequacy requirements, the RBI has also instituted several prudential
measures including an increase in risk weights for capital adequacy computation and general provisioning for
certain types of asset classes.

For further information, see “Key Regulations and Policies in India” beginning on page 206. Other similar
measures and regulatory developments relating to the Indian banking and financial services industry may have a
significant impact on our operations and financial performance.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Below are the significant accounting policies for Fiscal 2024 used for the preparation of the latest Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements:

1. Basis of Preparation

1.1.  The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention on the accrual
basis of accounting and ongoing concern basis, unless otherwise stated. They conform to Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in India, which comprises applicable statutory provisions,
regulatory / Reserve Bank of India (RBI) guidelines, Accounting Standards / Guidance Notes issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) and practices prevalent in the Banking industry in India.
In respect of foreign offices, statutory provisions and practices prevailing in respective foreign countries
are complied with.

1.2.  The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its Joint Ventures
and Associates as at and for the year ended 31 March, 2024. The Consolidated Financial Statements have
been prepared on the basis of:

a. Audited financial statements of Indian Overseas Bank (Parent).

b. Consolidation of Joint Ventures — ‘Proportionate Consolidation’ as per AS 27 “Financial Reporting
of Interests in Joint Ventures” issued by the ICAI.

c. Accounting for investment in ‘Associates’ under the ‘Equity Method’ as per AS 23 “Accounting for
Investments in Associates in Consolidated Financial Statements” issued by the ICAL

Use of Estimates

1.3.  The preparation of financial statements requires the Management to make estimates and assumptions which
are considered in the reported amounts of assets and liabilities (including Contingent Liabilities) as of the
date of the financial statements and the reported income and expense for the reporting period. Management
believes that the estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements are prudent and reasonable.
Future results could differ from these estimates.

2. Revenue Recognition and Expense Accounting

2.1. Income is recognized on accrual basis on performing assets and on realization basis in respect of
nonperforming assets as per the prudential norms prescribed by Reserve Bank of India. Recovery in Non-
Performing Assets is first appropriated towards interest and the balance, if any, towards principal, except
in the case of Suit Filed Accounts and accounts under One Time Settlement, where it would be appropriated
towards principal. In case of assets sold to Asset Reconstruction Companies (ARCs), the income is
recognized to the extent of cash component of the Sale Consideration received, where the sale
consideration is over and above Net Book Value (i.e. Book outstanding less Provisioning). NCLT admitted
accounts shall be treated as suit filed accounts and the appropriation of recovery in these NCLT accounts
whether it is from the process initiated against the corporate debtor or guarantors shall be done as in suit
filed accounts. Recovery is in the form of debentures/equity/other debt or equity or quasi equity instruments
etc. in the NCLT approved resolution plan amount as cash recovery and to appropriate the same as is done
in suit filed accounts i.e. towards principal and thereafter towards interest.
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2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

2.5.

2.6.

2.7.

3.1.

3.2

3.3.

Interest on bills purchased/ Mortgage Backed Securities, Commission (except on Letter of Credit/Letter of
Guarantee/Government Business/Insurance), Exchange, Locker Rent and Dividend are accounted for on
realization basis.

Income from consignment sale of precious metals is accounted for as Other Income after the sale is
complete.

Expenditure is accounted for on accrual basis, unless otherwise stated.

In respect of Inop